

LSHTM Research Online

Rono, HK; (2020) Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need. PhD (research paper style) thesis, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04657717

Downloaded from: https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/id/eprint/4657717/

DOI: https://doi.org/10.17037/PUBS.04657717

Usage Guidelines:

Please refer to usage guidelines at https://researchonline.lshtm.ac.uk/policies.html or alternatively contact researchonline@lshtm.ac.uk.

Available under license. To note, 3rd party material is not necessarily covered under this license: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/



Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions.

The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need

Hillary Kipkemboi Rono

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of London

October 2019

International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, Faculty of Infectious Diseases London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Funded by The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust

Funding

Funded by The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust through the Commonwealth Eye Heath Consortium (CEHC).

Supervisors

Dr. Andrew Bastawrous [primary supervisor]

Prof. Matthew Burton [associate supervisor]

Advisory Panel

- Dr. David Macleod
- Dr. Stephen Gichuhi

Collaborating Institutions

Kitale County and Referral Hospital

The Peek Vision Foundation

Declaration

I, Dr. Hillary Kipkemboi Rono, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Signature:



Date: 7th October 2019

Abstract

Background

A combination of limited access to eye services and low numbers of eye care providers in low and middle income (LMIC) populations results in high prevalence of avoidable visual impairment.

Aim

To develop and evaluate a demonstration model of community volunteers and teachers using a novel mobile phone-based technology (Peek) in communities and schools, respectively, to identify and refer those with referable eye conditions and increase adherence to services so as to reduce avoidable visual impairment.

Methods

This thesis comprises: (1) a three-year retrospective review of utilisation of hospital eye care services; (2) a cluster randomized trial (C-RCT) to determine the effectiveness of using of the mobile phone based, Peek School Eye Health System (Peek SEH) to increase identification and referral adherence to hospital of school pupils with visual impairment; (3) the development and validation of a smartphone based community screening decision-support algorithm (Peek Community Screening App) that enables Community Volunteers (CVs) to make referral decisions about patients with eye problems in the community; and (4) a second single masked C-RCT where the Peek Community Screening App was integrated into an mHealth system, Peek Community Eye Health system (Peek CEH) for integrating eye health screening in communities with primary and secondary health care facilities in Kenya to increase access and to optimise health system utilisation.

Results

For the **first** study, the retrospective analysis of records showed an average annual attendance rate increase from 60.9 to 79.2 per 10,000 population, incidence rate ratio (IRR)

1.30 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.26–1.35) between 2013 and 2015. Also 61.0% of consultations in the three-year period were for primary eye conditions (allergic or other conjunctivitis or normal eyes) which could potentially be managed by primary eye care (PEC) and only 8.3% were for the three leading causes of vision loss in this population (cataract, glaucoma and refractive errors).

In the **second** study, Peek SEH was validated by comparing the results of Peek Acuity test and the Snellen Tumbling-E card when performed by teachers against a reference standard backlit EDTRS LogMAR visual acuity test chart, when performed by trained ophthalmic workers. Sensitivities were similar (77% [95% CI 64·8–86·5] vs 75% [63·1–85·2]). In the C-RCT, the Peek SEH intervention, comprising of Peek Acuity test, sight simulation referral cards, and short message service [SMS] reminders, was compared to standard Tumbling E card vision test and paper referral letters. The proportion of pupils identified as having visual impairment who attended their hospital referral was higher in the intervention group (285 [54%] of 531) than in the standard group (82 [22%] of 366; odds ratio 7·35 [95% CI $3\cdot49-15\cdot47$]; p<0·0001). This result informed the design of a school project that subsequently screened a further 168,820 children, identified 6,696 (4.0%) with VI and achieved 93% treatment coverage.

In the **third** study, the sensitivity of community volunteer referral decisions using the "Peek Community Screening App" as compared to decisions made by the reference Ophthalmic Clinical Officer was 91.0%, (95% CI 87.7% - 93.7%) and Specificity was 78.1%, (95% CI 71.6% - 83.6%).

The **fourth** study, compared the Peek CEH (comprising Peek Community Screening app, short message service [SMS] reminders and door to door screening), delivered by CVs against current care (periodic health centre-based outreach clinics with onward referral). The intervention was associated with increased utilization to PEC services at four weeks from sensitization. The mean attendance was 14.3% vs. 5.2%, risk difference 9.1% (95%CI:

6.9-11.3%); p<0.00001. Overall, 76% of participants were treated at PEC level. About 11% of hospital consultations were for primary eye conditions and 56% for cataract, glaucoma and refractive errors (compared to 63% and 8% respectively in the hospital utilisation study, in the first study).

Conclusion

This study provides strong evidence that integration of Peek interventions in to the health system can increase access to eye care, whilst making more appropriate use of limited eye care resources.

Table of contents

DECLARATION	3
ABSTRACT	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	7
LIST OF FIGURES	9
LIST OF TABLES	10
LIST OF APPENDICES	11
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	13
1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND LITERATURE	19
GLOBAL BLINDNESS & VISUAL IMPAIRMENT.	20
REASONS FOR HIGH BURDEN OF VISUAL IMPAIRMENT	25
ACCESS TO EYE CARE AND FACTORS AFFECTING UTILIZATION OF EYE CARE SERVICES	27
STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE ACCESS TO EYE CARE SERVICES	30
MHEALTH	34
MHEALTH INTERVENTIONS AND VARIOUS HEALTH CONDITIONS	37
PHD CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	44
RATIONALE	45
HYPOTHESIS AND RESEARCH AIMS	49
STUDY SETTING	50
THESIS STRUCTURE	58
ETHICS	62
REFERENCES	63
2 UTILIZATION OF SECONDARY EYE CARE SERVICES IN WESTERN KENYA	79
3 SMARTPHONE-BASED SCREENING FOR VISUAL IMPAIRMENT IN KENYAN	
SCHOOL CHILDREN: A CLUSTER RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIAL	95

4	FROM RESEARCH TO SCALING-UP PROGRAMS: CASE STUDY OF PEEK
	SCHOOL EYE HEALTH PROGRAM IN TRANS-NZOIA COUNTY, KENYA107
5	THE DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF SMARTPHONE GUIDED ALGORITHMS
	FOR USE BY COMMUNITY VOLUNTEERS TO SCREEN AND REFER
	PEOPLE WITH EYE PROBLEMS IN TRANS NZOIA COUNTY, KENYA
6	PEEK COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH – MHEALTH SYSTEM TO INCREASE ACCESS
	AND EFFICIENCY OF EYE HEALTH SERVICES IN TRANS NZOIA COUNTY, KENYA:
	STUDY PROTOCOL FOR A CLUSTER RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIAL
7	INCREASING ACCESS TO EYE HEALTH SERVICES IN KENYA USING AN
	MHEALTH SYSTEM: A CLUSTER RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIAL
8	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
API	PENDICES

List of Figures

FIGURE 0.1: THE STUDY TEAM	13
FIGURE 0.2: A COMMUNITY VOLUNTEER PREPARING TO MEASURE VISUAL ACUITY	16
FIGURE 1.1: EFFECTS OF VISUAL IMPAIRMENT	19
FIGURE 1.2: PREVALENCE OF VISUAL IMPAIRMENT IN NAKURU, KENYA	22
FIGURE 1.3: THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK USED FOR MOBILE ELECTRONIC INTERVENTION	
CLASSIFICATION	44
FIGURE 1.4: ROLE OF THE INTERVENTIONS IN THE REDUCTION OF THE PREVALENCE OF	
VISUAL IMPAIRMENT	48
FIGURE 1.5: KENYA AND TRANS NZOIA COUNTY	51
FIGURE 1.6: LOCATION OF TRANS NZOIA COUNTY IN KENYA AND THE SUB COUNTIES IN RELATION	
AND KITALE COUNTY & REFERRAL HOSPITAL	51
FIGURE 1.7: THE POPULATION STRUCTURE OF TRANS NZOIA COUNTY	52
FIGURE 1.8: ORGANIZATION OF COUNTY HEALTH SYSTEM AND REFERRAL PATHWAY	54
FIGURE 1.9: KITALE EYE UNIT, KENYA	55
FIGURE 1.10: LEVEL OF HEALTH CARE & CURRENT FUNCTIONS, HEALTH WORKERS AND	
PEEK INTERVENTIONS	57
FIGURE 1.11: STUDY DESIGNS FOR SOME RESEARCH PAPERS IN THE PHD THESIS	58
FIGURE 2.1: OPHTHALMOLOGISTS EXAMINING A PATIENT ON SLIP LAMP	79
FIGURE 3.1: A TEACHER SCREENER EXPLAINING SCREENING PROCESS TO A PUPIL IN A SCHOOL	95
FIGURE 4.1: CHILDREN PREPARING FOR VISUAL EYE SCREENING	107
FIGURE 5.1: TRANSLATING DECISION MATRIX IN TO A DIGITAL GUIDED FORM OPERATED ON ANDROI	d136.
FIGURE 6.1: A COMMUNITY VOLUNTEER ASSESSING VISUAL ACUITY DURING HOUSEHOLD	
SCREENING USING PEEK COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH SYSTEM	168
FIGURE 7.1: PATIENTS ATTENDING OUTREACH FOR EYE CARE SERVICES	183
FIGURE 8.1: OPHTHALMIC WORKERS EXAMINING A PATIENT	224

List of Tables

TABLE 1. PREVALENCE OF BLINDNESS AND VISUAL IMPAIRMENT IN KENYA	.22
TABLE 2. CAUSES OF BLINDNESS (VISUAL ACUITY <3/60) IN SELECTED REGIONS OF THE WORLD	.23
TABLE 3: INCIDENCE OF BLINDNESS, VISUAL IMPAIRMENT, DIABETES AND DIABETIC RETINOPATHY	.25
TABLE 4: PROPORTION ACCESSING EYE CARE SERVICES AND BARRIERS TO UTILIZATIONS IN AFRICA	.28
TABLE 5. AVAILABLE EYE ALGORITHMS, PURPOSE AND THE TARGET GROUPS	.34
TABLE 6: THE STRUCTURE OF THE KENYAN HEALTH SYSTEM	.53

List of Appendices

APPENDIX 1: LIST OF PEOPLE CONTRIBUTED TO THE WORK PRESENTED IN THIS THESIS
APPENDIX 2: PERMISSIONS TO INCLUDE THE ARTICLE UTILIZATION OF SECONDARY EYE
CARE SERVICES IN WESTERN KENYA251
APPENDIX 3: PERMISSION FROM CO -AUTHORS FOR SMARTPHONE-BASED SCREENING FOR VISUAL
IMPAIRMENT IN KENYAN SCHOOL CHILDREN: A CLUSTER RANDOMISED CONTROLLED
TRIAL
APPENDIX 4: PERMISSION FOR PEEK COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH - MHEALTH SYSTEM TO INCREASE
ACCESS AND EFFICIENCY OF EYE HEALTH SERVICES IN TRANS NZOIA COUNTY, KENYA:
STUDY PROTOCOL FOR A CLUSTER RANDOMISED CONTROLLED TRIAL
APPENDIX 5: EVIDENCE OF COMPLETION OF GOOD CLINICAL PRACTICE COURSE (A) AND WEB-
BASED COURSE ON PROTECTING HUMAN RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS (B)256
APPENDIX 6: EVIDENCE OF ETHICAL APPROVAL IN KENYAN FOR THE RETROSPECTIVE ANALYSIS OF
UTILIZATION OF EYE
APPENDIX 7: EVIDENCE OF ETHICAL APPROVAL FROM LSHTM FOR THE RETROSPECTIVE
ANALYSIS OF UTILIZATION OF EYE
APPENDIX 8: EVIDENCE OF ETHICAL APPROVAL BY LSHTM FOR THE SCHOOL EYE HEALTH STUDY259
APPENDIX 9: EVIDENCE OF ETHICAL APPROVAL IN KENYA FOR THE SCHOOL EYE HEALTH STUDY
APPENDIX 10: EVIDENCE FOR EXTENSION KENYA ETHICAL APPROVAL FOR THE SCHOOL
EYE HEALTH STUDY
APPENDIX 11: EVIDENCE OF COMMUNICATION WITH ON THE NEED FOR ETHICAL APPROVAL FOR THE
RESEARCH PAPER ON SCALING UP SCHOOL SCREENING USING SMARTPHONES262
APPENDIX 12: EVIDENCE OF ETHICAL APPROVAL IN KENYA FOR DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATIONS OF
COMMUNITY ALGORITHMS263
APPENDIX 13: EVIDENCE OF EXTENSION OF KENYAN APPROVALS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT AND
VALIDATIONS OF COMMUNITY ALGORITHMS
APPENDIX 14: EVIDENCE OF ETHICAL APPROVALS BY LSHTM FOR THE DEVELOPMENT AND
VALIDATIONS OF COMMUNITY ALGORITHMS
APPENDIX 15: EVIDENCE ETHICAL APPROVAL IN KENYA FOR THE COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH STUDY266

APPENDIX 16: EVIDENCE FOR ETHICAL APPROVAL BY LSHTM FOR THE COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH	
STUDY	267
APPENDIX 17: EVIDENCE FOR THE REGISTRATION OF THE SCHOOL EYE HEALTH TRIAL IN THE	
PAN AFRICAN CLINICAL TRIAL REGISTRY	.268
APPENDIX 18: EVIDENCE FOR THE REGISTRATION OF THE COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH TRIAL IN THE PAN	
AFRICAN CLINICAL TRIAL REGISTRY	.269

Acknowledgement



Figure 0.1: The study team

The journey toward the completion of this PhD thesis has been both interesting and challenging. It would not have been possible without the contributions of many individuals both in the UK and Kenya to whom I am extremely grateful. The work presented in this thesis has been a team effort.

"If You want to go fast, go alone. if you want to go far, go together." African proverb

I am sincerely grateful to all those who helped me to make this PhD a success. The specific contributions of these individuals are highlighted in appendix 1.

I am extremely grateful to my supervisors, Dr. Andrew Bastawrous and Professor Matthew Burton for their invaluable, continuous and relentless teaching, advice and for mentoring and continued support throughout this journey. As the African proverb from Ashanti community says '*When you follow in the path of your father, you learn to walk like him,*' It has been a great privilege and honour to learn from you and I am very fortunate to have worked and learnt from you, and I could not have asked for more. I'm grateful to be able to continue to work alongside you. I am also grateful to my PhD advisory committee members: Dr Stephen Gichuhi for mentorship and Dr. David Macleod, particularly for your expert advice and huge support and teaching in statistics and analysis of the project data.

I would like to thank all International Centre for Eye Health (ICEH) and LSHTM staff for their support, advice and teaching throughout the entire process. My fellow cohort of ICEH PhD students, thank you guys for your encouragement and moral support.

I would like to thank the administrative team in department of Health, in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya; the heads of the health centres and Dispensaries in the County, for their support and assistance in the coordinating and recruitment of community volunteers for the trial. I sincerely thank the staff Kitale county and referral hospital and especially the eye unit staff for the continuous support and flexibility to handle extra load of patients from study and when I was away. I could not have done it without you. I am grateful to Operation Eye Sight Universal, Kenya (OEU) for allowing us to use their vehicle for field work. I would like to thank all past and present Peek Vision staff in UK and Kenya for the endless support and insights I received; and particularly Vince Hewitt and Richard Evans for continues support in coding and updating the apps for the success of the project.

I am extremely grateful all the study participants and the 1094 project team members (63 field assistants, 580 community volunteers, 36 Community extension health workers and 405 contact teachers), for their willingness to participate in the study that included walking long distances. The project would not have been a success without them. I hope your sacrifices and dedications through this work will contribute to the benefit of the visually impaired in near future.

I would like to acknowledge all my family members for their immense love and moral support. To all the many friends and colleagues who have been with me through out, thank you.

To my outstanding mother who despite being single, cannot read or write herself still encouraged me to study, I thank you for supporting me throughout from primary school until today. You cannot understand how much you have given me. To my wife and best friend Valentine, thank you for stepping in and supporting me through this unknown journey with me, and for being taking care of our children Kiprop, Cherotich, Chebet, and Kimutai. I dedicate this entire thesis to both of you.



Figure 0.2: A community volunteer preparing to measure someone's visual acuity.

List of Abbreviations

C-RCT	Community cluster randomized controlled trial
CHEWs	Community Health Extension Workers
CU	Community Unit
CVs	Community Volunteers
DALYs	Disability adjusted life years
DR	Diabetic Retinopathy
DSMB	Data Safety and Monitoring Board
ECD	Early Childhood Development
GCP	Good Clinical Practise
HMIS	Health Management Information Systems
ICEH	International Centre for Eye Health
ICO	International Council of Ophthalmologist
IMCI	Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses
IREC	Institutional Research and Ethics Committee
LMICs	Low and middle-income countries
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine
mHealth	Mobile Health
MSVI	Moderate or severe vision impairment
NGOs	Non- Governmental Organizations
OEU	Operation Eye Sight Universal
PACTR	Pan African Clinical Trials Registry
PEC	Primary Eye Care
Peek SEH	Peek School Eye Health
Peek CEH	Peek Community Eye Health
PHC	Primary Health Care
PMTCT	Prevention of Mother-To-Child Transmission

- RAAB Rapid Assessment of Avoidable Blindness
- SDA Safe Delivery App
- SMS Short Text Message
- SSA sub-Saharan Africa
- USA United States of America
- VI Visual Impairment
- WHO World Health Organization
- < Less than

Chapter 1: Introduction and Background Literature Review



Figure 1.1: Visual impairment has profound implications for the effected individual and their family

Global Blindness & Visual Impairment

Globally, it is estimated that 253 million people have visual impairment (VI), (visual acuity in the better eye <6/18), 36 million of whom are blind (visual acuity in the better eye <3/60).¹ About 80% of the impairment is avoidable.² Approximately 90% of those who are living with VI are in low and middle-income countries (LMICs),³ predominantly in Asia and Africa.⁴ According to a systematic review and meta-analysis from survey data on global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990–2020, 36 million people were estimated to be blind, 216.6 million people had moderate or severe vision impairment (MSVI),⁵ and 188.5 million had mild visual impairment, globally, in 2015.¹

Although there was a remarkable reduction in prevalence of blindness and MSVI between 1990 and 2015, the number of blind people and those with MSVI increased from 30.6 million to 36 million and from 159.9 million people to 216.6 million respectively over the same period.⁶ ⁷ This increase has been attributed to global population growth and an ageing population which has led to a relative increase in the number of older adults (50 years and above) who are at a higher risk of vision impairment.⁴ Based on current trends and estimates, it is projected that 38.5 million people will be blind and 237 million people with MSVI by 2020, globally.⁵

Blindness & Visual Impairment in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA)

Results from 11 population-based studies in Africa suggest that there are 26 million people living with visual impairment, of whom almost 6 million are blind.⁸ According to 2010 estimates, about 4.8 million people are blind (14.8% of global blindness) and 16.6 million people have MSVI (17.1% of global burden) in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA).⁹ This was a 16% increase in the number of blind people from 4.1 million in 1990 to 4.8 million in 2010 and a 28% increase in the number of people with MSVI from 13 million to 16.6 million over the same period. This increase has been attributed to the 66% increase in the SSA population between 1990 and 2010 and improved life expectancy.⁹ Over the same period, the prevalence of blindness decreased by 32% from 1.9% in 1990 to 1.3% in 2010 and moderate to severe visual

impairment decreased by 25%, owing to major improvements in eye care and prevention brought about by technology and global initiatives such as VISION 2020.¹⁰

In sub-Saharan Africa specifically, the reported prevalence of blindness varies from 0.1% in Uganda to 9.0% in Eritrea, while the prevalence of visual impairment ranges from 1.6% to 17.1%, respectively.¹¹ The number of people with visual impairment or blindness varied depending on the region, West Africa had the highest number of people with 2.1 million blind and 7.2 million MSVI followed by East Africa with 2.1 million blind and 7.1 million MSVI. Central Africa and Southern Africa had the lowest prevalence of blindness and MSVI, at 0.28 million blind; and 1.4 million MSVI and 0.29 million blind and 0.94 million MSVI respectively.⁹ The prevalence of blindness and MSVI is higher among women than men. A higher prevalence of blindness and MSVI has been reported in the older adults (50 years and above) due to the risks associated with older age.⁶

Blindness & Visual Impairment in Kenya

In Kenya, approximately 676,640 people were blind or visually impaired, of whom about 315 000 were blind in 2014.¹² The prevalence of blindness varies by region, Table 1.¹³⁻¹⁷ According to a series of eight regional eye surveys conducted in Kenya in 1990, as part of the Kenya Rural Blindness Prevention Project, approximately 0.7% of rural Kenyans were blind (visual acuity <3/60 in the better eye), and another 2.5% had significant visual impairment (visual acuity of <6/18 in the better eye).¹⁶

Over the past two decades, a number of population-based surveys have been conducted in Kenya. According to a recent morbidity survey conducted in Mbeere District, 15.5% of those examined were found to have eye problem in at least one eye.¹⁸ In another part of the country, a Rapid Assessment of Preventable Blindness (RAAB) survey conducted in Kericho District in 2007 reported a 2% estimated prevalence of blindness and 7.1% prevalence of vision impairment, table 1.¹⁹

Region	Author (year published)	Age Examined	Sample size	Prevalence of blindness (95% CI)	Prevalence of VI (95% CI)
Multiple sites	Whitfield ¹⁶ (1990)	All	1800	0.7%	2.5%
Nairobi (slums)	Ndegwa ¹⁵ (2006)	All	1438	0.6% (0.21 - 1.0)	6.2% (4.95,7.15)
Nakuru	Mathenge ¹³ (2007)	≥ 50	3503	2.0% (1.5-2.4)	5.8% (4.8, 6.8)
Embu	Karimurio ¹⁴ (2007)	≥ 50	3376	2.0% (1.5 -2.5)	Not stated
Nakuru	Mathenge ¹⁷ 2012	≥ 50	4414	1.6% (1.2-2.1)	8.1% (7.2%– 9.2)
Mombasa	Wachira ²⁰ (2011)	<u>></u> 50	3124	2.5% (1.9– 3.0)	13.0%

Table 1. Prevalence of Blindness and visual impairment in Kenya

Prevalence of blindness by gender is variable. Some studies report a higher prevalence in females,²¹ while others found no gender difference.¹³ The excess burden in women appears to arise from a lack of access to surgical eye services instead of a biological predisposition.²² ²³ Other studies suggest that being male is a risk factor for blindness.¹⁷

Blindness increases with increasing age, Figure 1.2. This is largely driven by age-related cataracts, the leading cause of blindness worldwide.^{13,17}





(Reproduced from RAAB in Kenya, Mathenge et al.¹³)

Causes and risk factors

Globally the leading causes of visual impairment are uncorrected refractive error (116·3 million), cataract (52·6 million), age-related macular degeneration (8·4 million), glaucoma (4·0 million) and diabetic retinopathy (2·6 million) while the major causes of blindness are cataract (12·6 million), uncorrected refractive error (7·4 million) and glaucoma (2·9 million).⁵ Cataract and uncorrected refractive error contributed to 55% of blindness and 77% of vision impairment in adults aged 50 years and above in 2015.⁵

These causes vary according to regions and countries.^{9,24} ^{25,26} In sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries, cataracts, uncorrected refractive error and trachoma are the most common causes compared to macular degeneration and refractive error in the Americas and Western Europe, Table 2.

Region	Cataract (%)	Uncorrecte d Refractive error (%)	Macular degenerati on (%)	Glaucoma (%)	Diabetic retinopathy (%)	Trachoma (%)	Reference
World	51	3	5	8	1	3	Pascolini <i>et</i> <i>al</i> ⁸
East Asia	28.1	13.7	6.9	5.4	1.1	2.0	Wong et al ²⁵
Sub Saharan Africa	35.0	13.2	6.3	4.4	2.8	5.2	Kovin <i>et</i> <i>al</i> ⁹
North America	12.7	14.1	16.4	10.7	3.9	0	Bourne <i>et</i> al ²⁴
Western Europe	13.8	14.0	16.1	10.6	4.2	0	Bourne ²⁴
North Africa and Middle east	18.7	13.1	10.3	9.6	3.5	2.6	Khairallah et al ²⁶
Kenya	35.7	5.7	7.1	8.5	-	18.5	Whitfield et al ¹⁶

Table 2. Causes of blindness (visual acuity <3/60) in selected regions of the world

In SSA, The leading causes of moderate or severe vision impairment in those aged 50 years and older are uncorrected refractive error followed by cataract and age-related macular degeneration.⁶ The major causes of blindness reported in 2010 were cataract 35%,

other/unidentified causes 33.1%, refractive error 13.2%, age-related macular degeneration 6.3%, trachoma 5.2%, glaucoma 4.4% and diabetic retinopathy 2.8%.⁹

In Kenya, the leading causes of blindness in people over 50 years were: Cataracts, 39-59%; Posterior Segment Diseases, 17-28 %; Glaucoma, 6-15%; and uncorrected aphakia 0-6.1% while causes of severe visual impairment were: Cataracts, 55-61%; Posterior segment diseases, 7-22%; and Uncorrected Refractive Error, 7-13 %. ^{13 20 18} About 20% of blindness is preventable and 55% treatable.

In a follow up longitudinal study conducted in 2014 to assess the incidence and risk factors of vision impairment and blindness among adults aged 50 years and above in Kenya, the incidence of blindness and vision impairment was reported to be 2.2 per 1000 people per year and 20.9 per 1000 people per year, respectively.²⁷ Trachoma, the second most common cause of blindness is localised to the northern and southern parts Rift Valley,²⁸ compared to other causes which are more widespread.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ In trachoma endemic areas, the prevalence of active trachoma ranges from 6.4% to 42.3% while that of potentially blinding trachoma (trichiasis), ranges from 1.0 % to 8.7%.²⁹⁻³¹

Diabetes is an emerging challenge arising from urbanization and lifestyle change.³² The prevalence of diabetes mellitus is 3.3%.³³ The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy amongst diabetics ranges between 18.35 and 49.8%.³² Other diseases of the retina and vitreous (Posterior eye diseases) are now important causes of blindness,^{14,17} with the prevalence of macular degeneration being 11.2%.³⁴ This emerging challenge requires the health system to change and adapt. The incidence of visual impairment, diabetes and related retinal changes in Kenya is on the increase according to the findings of the Nakuru cohort study, Table 3.³⁵

Incidence of	Incident cases / At risk cases	Six-year cumulative incidence (N / per 1000 of population, 95% Cl)
Bilateral blindness	29 / 2140	15.1 (10.4 – 21.7)
Bilateral Visual Impairment	234 / 1983	119.4 (103.1 - 137.9)
Unilateral blindness	111 / 1984	54.6 (43.7-68.0)
Unilateral Visual Impairment	390 /1721	228.0 (206.0 – 251.6)
Diabetes Mellitus (in patients with no diabetes at baseline)	123 / 2056	61.0 (50.3 - 73.7)
Diabetic Retinopathy (in patients without diabetes at baseline)	20 / 1421	15.8 (9.5 - 26.2)
Diabetic Retinopathy (in patients with diabetes but no retinopathy at baseline)	11 / 44	224.7 (116.9 - 388.2)

Table 3: Incidence of blindness, visual impairment, Diabetes and Diabetic Retinopathy

Source: Reproduced from the Nakuru Eye Disease Cohort Study, Bastawrous.³⁵

Reasons for high burden of Visual impairment

The reasons for a high burden of visual impairment include poverty and a lack of access to eye services.³⁶ Patient factors such as lack of awareness, fear of the outcome,³⁷ older age; male gender and presence of diabetes increases the risk of blindness.¹⁷ Health system related factors such as the low number of available of eye workers,³⁸ varied productivity of the eye workers, higher indirect and direct costs, ^{39,40} and the distribution of the available work force which is currently concentrated in urban areas.⁴¹ In addition there are "provider" factors such as poor quality services arising from a shortage of trained eye care workers,^{42 37}

Many people in the world live in rural areas and have poor health including visual impairment arising in part, from limited access to general and eye health services.⁴³ An inverse relationship

between need and provision of eye care services exists, especially in sub-Saharan Africa, meaning that there are fewer services available where the need is greatest, such as in rural areas.⁴⁴ The main challenges are a lack of eye care manpower, poor infrastructure development and lack or poor service delivery.⁴⁵ The effect of these challenges in LMICs is suboptimal access and utilization of eye care services. Identifying barriers that hinder access and utilization of eye care services is therefore key in overcoming the burden of avoidable blindness and visual impairment.⁴⁶

Limited access to eye health services from poor infrastructural development could arise from lack of social infrastructure such as electricity, water, access to information and communication technology, schools for children, less opportunities for professional development, and poor prospects for part-time private practice for health workers, this in turn does not attract eye health workers to rural areas. ^{47 48}

The eye health work force is still a major challenge in most countries in SSA. Only a few countries in sub-Saharan Africa have reached the World Health Organisation (WHO) suggested ophthalmic cadre minimum targets to meet the population needs.⁴⁹ The recommended WHO minimum ratio is 230 per 100,000 population for any cadre.⁵⁰ In some countries, the few eye health workers that are available are concentrated in urban cities/counties compared with rural counties, hence creating further inequalities in access to eye health.^{49,51} The current challenge may persist because the numbers of eyecare staff is not only low, but according to survey by International Council of Ophthalmologist (ICO), the current rate of training may not achieve WHO target soon. There is therefore a call for other innovative ways of delivering eye care to be explored.⁴² The low number of eye health work force and the limited access to infrastructure need to deliver eye care limit the eye services to be offered to the population.

Access to eye care and factors affecting utilization of eye care services

Access in this context is defined as the opportunity or ability to obtain the health services that one needs without the risk of financial impoverishment.⁵² A review of utilization of eye services showed that, only about 25% of those who need eye care globally actually utilize eye services.⁵³ This is an indication that utilization of eye care services in most countries is low owing to a number of factors that affect the availability, accessibility and affordability of these services. These factors are classified into 'demand' related or patient related (the health seeking behaviour of the population) and 'supply' or providers related (eye services provision and availability) factors.

Demand or patient factors especially in Africa include lack of knowledge of the services, lack of knowledge of the possible impact of an eye disease and lack of knowledge on where to seek the services, table 4. Demographic, personal, social and cultural factors have also been found to influence or act as barriers to access and utilization of eye care services.⁵⁴

Table 4: Proportion accessing eye care services and barriers to utilizations in Africa

Country	Proportion accessing eye services *	Barriers	Author (year published)
Ghana	60%	 Other social engagements and competing priorities Ability to perform daily task despite having the eye condition, High cost of services and transport Distance to eye care facility Lack of knowledge on the eye care services and Lack of knowledge on where treatment available 	Akowuah <i>et al</i> ⁵⁵ (2017)
Nigeria	38%	 No felt need High cost of services, Other financial constraints, lack of or limited availability of eye care services, Long waiting time at the eye facilities younger age group 	lbeneche <i>et al</i> ⁵⁶ (2018)
Nigeria	32%	 Lack of felt need for eye care services cost of treatment Lack of patient escort to hospital Other social engagements cultural beliefs discouraging seeking eye care 	Ebeigbe <i>et al</i> ⁵⁷ (2014)
Kenya	93 %#	 No perceived need lack of money Did not know where to seek eye care services other social engagements 	Kimani <i>et al</i> ⁵⁸ (2008)
Kenya	17%#	 Lack of money Lack of awareness where to seek services Eye problem was not a perceived need 	Ndegwa et al. ⁵⁹ (2005)

*self-reported proportion with eye problems who utilized eye services.

[#] The study was done in the same area but at different times. The Ndegwa et al 2005 study on accessing eye services for an eye problem was done before an eye unit was introduced and 3 years later Kimani et al conducted a follow-up study on the same.

Few studies have explored the barriers to the provision of eye care services which affect the availability; and subsequent access and utilization of these services. In Australia, a study on the utilization of eye care services found differences in patterns of utilization of eye care services between rural and urban areas, despite similar prevalence of eye disease in both areas, and associated it to availability of eye care services.⁶⁰

In developing countries, where the number of care providers are limited, the eye services available, especially in the rural areas, are not enough to meet the need. For example, in a

study of the perceived barriers to the provision of clinical low-vision services among ophthalmologists in Nigeria, unavailability of low-vision devices, lack of adequate training in low-vision care, and limited number of specialists were cited as the main factors hindering provision of low-vision services in the country.⁶¹ In Zambia, the limited number of spectacles manufacturing workshops and eye surgery theatres per unit of population have been cited as the barriers encountered in accessing eye care services in rural areas. Higher access and utilization of eye care services reported in urban areas due to availability of private eye care facilities.⁶²

Poverty is a critical social determinant of VI, and in turn VI leads to further poverty.⁶³ For instance, as a result of low socioeconomic status, patients have no insurance, yet they may have to incur high transport costs to the hospital, which limits the use of services.⁶⁴ They are also likely to have low education, low awareness of the eye conditions and of the services available, and fear of adverse outcomes from treatment. ^{65 37}

Additional barriers might include negative attitudes towards services and difficult communication between providers and patients.⁶⁶ Studies in LMICs, have shown that the need for eye services is high and people often travel long distances to access these services.⁶⁷ Communities with inadequate or inaccessible eye care facilities tend to seek other alternatives of eye care services, including self-medication, which may further contribute to VI and blindness.⁶⁸

Social attitudes and cultural beliefs may also act as barriers to using available services, such as the belief that blindness is a normal and non-reversible part of the aging process hence no treatment is sought.⁶⁹ A review on barriers to utilization of eye care services found that women were more careful about their eye health than men, suggesting gender influence service utilization.⁵⁴ Gender disparities in accessing eye health care services was identified for eye trauma and cataract in studies from Tanzania where females had difficulty in accessing services.^{70,71} In such communities, men decide on most matters affecting the family including

those related to seeking health services.⁷² This was observed in one study on access to cataract surgical services from Tanzania where women needed to seek permission from their husbands before going to hospital and out of fear of being a burden to the family, they frequently opted live with the adversity and did not access services.⁷¹

Strategies to improve access to eye care services

To address the burden of eye diseases it is necessary to radically improve access of the population to quality eye health services. The World Health Organization (WHO) and partners have developed a global initiative to eliminate avoidable blindness by the year 2020. The *'Universal eye health: global eye health action plan 2014–2019'* aims to reduce avoidable visual impairment as a global public health problem by promoting universal access to comprehensive eye care services that are integrated into health systems.²

The three main factors that contribute to the high prevalence of VI, particularly in rural and remote areas, are non-availability, non-accessibility and non-affordability of eye care services.⁵⁴ The strategies therefore include increasing human resources for eye care, infrastructure development, improving service delivery and coordination, at all levels of health care.⁴⁵

Improving service delivery and coordination

WHO advocates for a well-coordinated and systematic eye care system with each level of health care performing specific roles such as management of cataracts and refractive errors at secondary care and identification with limited care at primary care level to reduce avoidable blindness.⁷³ At primary eye care (PEC), frontline activities (such as promotive and preventive) providing limited care and identifying disease before it becomes a serious medical issue are done and is delivered at the community level.⁷⁴ Secondary level provides treatment of common blinding conditions such as cataracts and refractive errors and act as referral points for PEC

while tertiary level provides specialized eye treatment of less prevalent visually impairing conditions that are more complex to manage.⁷³

Improving primary eye care and Outreach eye care programs

Delivery of primary eye care can be broadly categorized in to two models based on their working operations, it may be either through fixed facilities and human resources or mobile services from a secondary care team.⁷⁵ The effectiveness of PEC fixed facility delivery model by fulltime, integrated, health workers is inconclusive partly due to a lack of agreement in the definition and varied eye health skills of the health workers.⁷⁶ The outreach model on the other hand is more effective at providing short term access to eye care especially in rural areas.⁷⁷ The long-term, more sustainable goal is to integrate eye services into fixed primary health care (PHC) as a continuum of health service provision.⁷⁸ Service improvement that includes provision of affordable or free spectacles, eye drops and eye consultations should ideally be provided. This may be achieved through eliminating user fees for example by having in place the provision of health insurance to cater for the cost of eye services.⁷⁹

In developing countries, a high proportion of healthcare is provided in urban areas; outreach programs are designed to promote access to eye services by communities in remote communities.^{39 80} Services provided in outreach include surgery, screening and refraction with provision of eyeglasses. The success of outreach requires understanding of health inequities, community expectations and government policies.^{80,81} Forming partnerships with Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) to improve access to eye care by taking eye services closer to the communities through 'outreach' services, an essential step towards provision of accessible and affordable eye services.^{80,82} Recently outreach service provisions in India have incorporated electronic transfer of health-related data from outreach clinics to base hospitals with some success.⁸³ This provides an opportunity for a combined outreach model, which incorporates triage and referral aided by mobile technology, and has not been tried.

Availability of human resources for eye health

To improve on in the human resources, several strategies and policy changes have been explored with some success such as deployment of staff to rural areas, task shifting and integration of services into primary health care and improved supervision of health care staff.⁷⁹ In areas with few eye health workers, task shifting using guiding clinical decisions have been used.

Task shifting

Task shifting involves the redistribution of tasks among health workforce teams, to improve efficiency among available human resources.^{16,82} The success of task-shifting in eye care has been variable. The factors affecting its success include lack of clear definitions for the scope of practice and the skills required for Primary Eye Care (PEC) workers to work optimally; changing government policies, patients preferences, expectations and competing responsibilities of the nurses involved in PEC.^{84,85} In trachoma programs, task shifting has been used extensively in some countries for the delivery of trichiasis surgery. However, this has at least in some regions been limited by low productivity and high attrition rates of workers trained in PEC.⁸⁶ Improved productivity is associated with regular supportive supervision, provision of equipment and focused training.⁸⁷ Other factors are development of appropriate infrastructure, advocacy, and having clear management and referral guidelines of patients.⁸⁸ Integrated task shifting with guided decision-making has been used successfully to reduce childhood mortality in Africa.⁸⁹

Clinical algorithms / Decision Trees

Effective task shifting with clear referral criteria and management plans has been delivered through algorithms especially in the integrated management of childhood diseases at primary level (IMCI)^{89,90}. The process began with validation of algorithms and later adoption into clinical practice. During validation, classification of childhood illness by a health worker using IMCI algorithm compared favorably to the diagnosis and classification by physicians; sufficient to justify its use in clinical practice. ^{91,92} In Fiji, PHC workers used algorithms to improve case

identification of childhood skin diseases. The sensitivity of the algorithms was 98.7% (95%CI 95.5-99.9) when compared to physicians diagnosis.⁹³

In eye care, decision trees/algorithms have been developed, mostly outside Africa, Table 5. Most of the algorithms focused on identifying the diagnosis and treatment at a secondary level and although some were validated the sample sizes of each study was small.⁹⁴⁻⁹⁶

The World Health Organization (WHO) has developed and validated algorithms to be used by primary health care workers to assess patients with eye conditions and improve decision making PHC level.⁹⁷ Digitalization of the algorithms could make them portable and usable in PHC.

Personal factors

in some instances, even when services are available, accessible and affordable, there are other barriers that might prevent people from using them. These personal factors include poverty, lack of knowledge about the services, where to seek eye care, the possible effects of an eye disease, and whom to consult to manage eye diseases.⁹⁸ To improve this situation there is a need for eye health education and information on available services as well as a review of the cost of services to ensure that services are available and affordable for all.⁵⁸

Country	Purpose of algorithms/ Decision tree	Target group	Accuracy of algorithm (sensitivity)	References
Scotland	Diagnosis of causes of Red eyes	Optometrist, General health practitioners	28/39 (72%)	Timlim <i>et al</i> ⁹⁴
Scotland	Diagnosis of causes of Vision loss	Optometrist, General health practitioners	57/68 (84%)	Goudie <i>et al</i> ⁹⁶
Scotland	Diplopia	Optometrist, General health practitioners	37/45 (82%)	Butler <i>et al</i> ⁹⁵
Ohio USA	Diagnosis and causes of red eyes	Optometry, General practitioners	Not indicated	Cronau <i>et al⁹⁹</i>
USA, New York	Diagnosis of causes of Swollen eye lids	Primary Health Care workers	Not indicated	Papier et al ¹⁰⁰
UK (International centre for eye heath - ICEH)	Management decision to Eye injuries	Primary Health Care workers	Not indicated	Ansumana et al
WHO, Rwanda	Aid management decisions to common eye conditions	Primary Health Care workers	Not indicated	World Health Organization. ⁹⁷
South Africa (Brien Holden Vision Institute Foundation)	Diagnosis of eye conditions in primary and aid management decisions	Primary Health Care workers	Not indicated	ICEE Sight ¹⁰²

mHealth

Mobile health (mHealth) is the use of mobile and wireless technologies to support the achievement of health objectives.¹⁰³ It involves the utilization of short messaging service (SMS), wireless data transmission, voice calling, and smartphone applications towards the realization of these objectives.¹⁰⁴ The advent of smartphones, new technology that combines mobile communication and computation in a handheld device, has facilitated mobile computing at the point of care.¹⁰⁵ Mobile health interventions to support communication between health

care providers and patients through short messaging services (SMS) appointment reminders has been shown to be beneficial suggesting its use could be considered in the provision of health care.¹⁰⁶

Over the last decade, there has been a rapid evolution of mobile phone technology and its integration into clinical practice globally. This has been contributed to partly by improved infrastructure and technologies which have made connectivity to rural and remote areas feasible. Increased awareness of digital technologies, growing acceptance of remote monitoring tools, and growth of unmet healthcare demand leading to growth of the mHealth market.¹⁰⁷ Distribution platforms such as Google Play have also made mobile applications readily available, sometimes at no cost.¹⁰⁸ Mobile phone coverage is growing to universality while mobile devices are advancing to sophisticated hand held computers.¹⁰⁹ Mobile telephone penetration and technology has also expanded due to availability of mobile devices, including the growing access to affordable smartphones and better quality network connectivity, providing a potential to increase access to health services without the previously required infrastructure.¹¹⁰

A survey by the WHO among 114 member countries showed that 83% were offering at least one type of mHealth service.¹⁰³ As of 2012, there were 83 documented mobile applications: 57 applications were for healthcare professionals focusing on disease diagnosis; 11 applications for medical or nursing students focusing on medical education; and 15 applications for patients.¹⁰⁵ There has been a huge increase in the past four years in terms of availability and usage of smartphone applications for eye care. The commonest applications are References, Calculators and Vision Tests.^{111,112} There continues however to be a shortage of clinically proven applications.

Acceptance of mobile technology, especially in the finance sector has increased mobile money transfer penetration to 61.8% and improved mobile pentration.¹¹³ This suggests there is an opportunity to develop and scale mobile based health intervention. Further, availability of local
innovation tech hubs, which provide support responsive to local needs and collaboration opportunities for innovators and digital entrepreneurs have grown in some African countries such as Kenya.¹⁰⁸

The factors that influence acceptance and use of any technology include; cost, privacy implications and usability factors, expected benefits of technology, perceived need for technology, availability of alternative technology and social influences from family, friends and professional caregivers.¹¹⁴

mHealth in Africa

Africa is in a transition characterised by increasing burden of diseases, and health system challenges arising from globalisation and urbanisation.¹¹⁵ The health system challenges included shortages of health workers, lack of access to essential medicines, limited capacity of national health management information systems (HMIS) to generate, analyse and disseminate information for use in decision-making, inadequate health financing and poor service delivery. ¹¹⁶ Combining task shifting with mHealth could address some of the barriers by taking advantage of high mobile phone coverage. Encouragingly, mHealth interventions seeking to improve patient communication, promote access to health services, clinical diagnosis, and treatment adherence, and manage chronic diseases is becoming accepted.¹¹⁷ It has also shown initial promise in emergency and disaster response, helping standardize, store, analyse, and share patient information. ¹¹⁸

The use of connected diagnostics and symptom-reporting mobile applications, combined with standardized electronic collection of epidemiological and clinical data, has great potential to enhance the efficiency and speed of management of both epidemic and endemic infections, including the management of referrals where appropriate.¹¹⁹ This was put into perspective during disease surveillance of Ebola and Zika outbreaks where it was used to track, analyse, and share data quickly and effectively.¹²⁰ Further, real-time reporting of diagnostic test results

can enhance disease surveillance through the geo-spatial mapping of infections via geotagged test results, ¹²¹ or social network and internet search analysis, thereby providing new tools for assimilation into outbreak control.¹²² Other uses of mHealth technology include patient education, support and motivation, drug supply-chain and stock management, patient education and awareness, emergency and disease surveillance and intervention monitoring and data collection/transfer and reporting. ^{117,123}

Although many mHealth initiatives in Africa are still in the development and pilot phases, a growing number of applications have been implemented.^{117,118} Currently, a majority are focused on the use of established mobile technologies, such as text messages and calls, to connect healthcare workers and patients to each other and to test results.¹¹⁸ ^{123,124} ¹¹⁷ Text messages have been found to be effective for communicating information in a health-care context and have been well accepted by users. Research also indicates that text messages could serve as a powerful tool for behaviour change both in developed and developing countries.¹²⁵ ¹²⁶

According to a systematic review on the impact of mHealth interventions, a consistent improvement on healthcare appointments' attendance rates has been demonstrated when using text messages and/or phone call reminders compared to no reminders or postal reminders.¹²⁷ Similar findings were reported in another systematic review which reported that text message-based interventions increased adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART) and smoking cessation although there was no significant effect on the number of cancelled appointments and adherence to clinic attendance between using SMS reminders versus other reminders .¹²⁸

mHealth Interventions and various Health Conditions

A recent systematic review of peer-reviewed literature on mHealth projects in Africa, between 2003 and 2013, found 44 studies on mHealth projects in Africa. Most of these are on HIV,

malaria, tuberculosis, diabetes and antenatal care.¹²⁹ Until recently, mHealth interventions for managing disability conditions such as hearing and visual impairment were less common, especially in Africa. However, this is now changing with the evolution of smart-phone based diagnostic tests such as the smartphone-automated pure-tone audiometry (hearTest[™]) and speech-in-noise testing (digits-in-noise test) used to detect and monitor hearing loss using minimally trained personnel.¹³⁰

mHealth interventions in the management of HIV

improving adherence to referrals using text messages

In a randomised controlled trial conducted in Kenya to investigate the effect of short message service (SMS) text messaging on post-operative clinic attendance, a modest improvement in attendance at the 7-day post-operative clinic visit following adult male circumcision compared to a control condition with standard care.¹³¹ In another study conducted in Kenya, automated text message reminders sent at a daily or weekly frequency were found to be useful in improving HIV medication adherence.¹³² In this study, weekly reminders seemed to be the most effective in improving adherence compared to daily reminders and no reminders. Further, short reminders to take medications only were found to be more effective than long reminders that provided reminders and additional support to patients. Similar results were reported in the WeITel Kenya1 study, a multisite randomised clinical trial designed to promote antiretroviral (ARV) medication adherence among HIV-infected adults using weekly SMS text messages, followed by phone calls to patients who failed to respond within 48 hours.¹³³ This shows that a simple and cheap intervention such as automated reminders for HIV patients on antiretroviral therapy can significantly increase adherence, and mobile phones might be effective tools to improve patient outcomes, especially in resource-limited settings.

Interventions for diagnosis support and Linkage to health facilities

Some mHealth interventions have combined the use of text messages with portable diagnostic devices that connect, and report results automatically in a bid to streamline disease

management. A good example of this is SmartLink, a health app designed to provide HIVrelated laboratory results, information, support, and appointment reminders to engage and link patients to care. ¹³⁴ A multisite randomized controlled trial study conducted in South Africa on the ability of SmartLink to improve linkage to care for HIV-positive smartphone owners found evidence that app-linked information and prompting can lead to increased linkage to care compared to standard care, especially among young people aged 18 to 30 year. ¹³⁴

Improving health information system and reporting

In Kenya, a mobile phone-based Prevention of Mother-To-Child Transmission (PMTCT) cascade analysis tool mPCAT was used to provide facility-based health workers with a quick summary of the number of patients and percentage drop-off at each step of care cascade, as well as how many women-infant pairs would be retained if a step was optimized. ¹³⁵ The app gives frontline health workers and facility managers an immediate, direct, and tangible way to use their clinical documentation and routinely reported data for decision making for their own clinical practice and facility-level improvements.

Intervention to motivate and behaviour change in the adolescences

Closely related to the mobile based applications are smartphone games which have become increasingly popular as part of mHealth interventions, especially those targeting young people. A good example of this is "Tumaini", a narrative-based interactive smartphone-based game designed to help prevent HIV among children aged 11 to 14 years by delaying first sex and increasing condom use at first sex. ¹³⁶ According to a randomized feasibility study conducted in Western Kenya to assess its acceptability, the intervention was found to be acceptable both to adolescents and their parents and that of the study methods used to pilot-test the intervention.¹³⁶

mHealth intervention in management of Malaria

In Malawi, text-message reminders to health workers were found to provide a platform to improve understanding of treatment guidelines and case management decision-making skills, although there was no evidence on the effect on actual adherence to case management guidelines for malaria and other diseases guidelines.¹³⁷ This shows that, although technology can help address structural barriers and facilitate improved clinical practice, it does not replace the need for human interaction, for example through targeted supervision or two-way technology communication, which are essential components of a successful intervention.

Interventions to report medicine stock outs and improve adherence to medication

Adherence to medication and treatment

Apart from the use of SMS-based messaging systems to improve patient follow-up and adherence to medication and treatment, a number of mHealth interventions have made use of software applications to improve the delivery of health services. A good example of this is SIMpill, a pill dispensing system that embeds a SIM card in a small pill bottle, which registers and sends an SMS text to a central server each time the bottle is opened.¹¹⁸ Each text message is assigned a unique identification code which is linked to the patient's mobile phone number and has a time-stamp to show when it is sent. If the central server does not receive text messages before a certain pre-specified time, a reminder text is automatically sent to the patient's mobile phone and an alert is also sent to the healthcare provider who can follow up directly with the patient. ¹¹⁸

According to a pilot study conducted in South Africa to assess the effectiveness of SIMpill, adherence rates of between 86-92% with treatment success rates of 94% were reported after using SIMpill for 10months, up from 22–60%.¹³⁸ A similar but less expensive system, SIMmed which requires patients to dial into a central server using their phones each time they take their medications showed compliance rates of up to 90%, but health outcomes such as treatment

success rates have not yet been studied. 138

Reporting Pharmacy stockouts

Still in Malawi, SMS-based communication and professional networking was found to improve support to community health workers working in rural areas of Malawi. ¹³⁹ In this study, the health workers reported using SMS to report medical supply shortages, obtain or communicate general information, and report patients with emergencies. Communication via SMS took an average of nine minutes, whereas health workers in areas without SMS generally had to report any issues in person and this took an average of 24 hrs. Further, the health workers who were using SMS-based interventions as part of their day-to-day work claimed that they had gained more respect and confidence from the communities that they served and had to make fewer referrals to district hospitals since they could handle more problems on their own. ¹³⁹ Similar findings were reported in Ghana, where mHealth interventions targeting health providers and rural women were found to have the potential to reduce barriers to equitable access to maternal and child healthcare services in rural settings. ¹⁴⁰

Intervention to promote safe delivery and neonatal care

Apart from promoting adherence to treatment, a number of mHealth interventions have been designed as tools to provide health workers' access to health information, decision making, and/or logistical support. Safe Delivery App (SDA) is one such app which provides animated clinical instruction videos in basic emergency obstetric and neonatal care with the aim of improving knowledge and skills of health workers located in the periphery of the health system in order to improve quality of care and potentially save the lives of mothers and new-born babies. A qualitative study conducted within five districts in West Wollega Zone of Ethiopia to explore users' experiences with using the SDA and their perceived ability to conduct safe deliveries found that the health workers perceive the SDA as having improved their ability to manage complications during childbirth and have gained increased recognition and trust from the communities.¹⁴¹

Interventions delivered by mobile phone for Eye care

In eye care, innovative technologies are emerging to test visual acuity easily and objectively, correct refractive errors inexpensively, capture retinal images with portable tools, train cataract surgeons using simulators and share or access ophthalmic advice remotely. These advancements have enabled non-specialised ophthalmic practitioners to provide low-cost, high impact eye care in resource-limited regions around the world.¹⁴² For instance, tele-ophthalmology using portable retinal imaging technology, mobile phone and Internet connectivity has been found to improve access to diabetic retinopathy (DR) screening services in Sub-Saharan African countries where the burden of diabetes is increasing and there is limited access to eye care services and specialists. ¹⁴³ ¹⁴⁴

Peek Acuity, a smartphone-based visual acuity test which enables health workers to test eyes easily and affordably using a smart-phone in the community and refer those who need further care appropriately was designed to address this gap and overcome the barriers of limited access associated with traditional ophthalmic testing methods.¹⁴⁵ Clinically validated in 2014, this app has been found to produce accurate and repeatable acuity measurements comparable to the conventional methods for visual acuity testing. ¹⁴⁶ The test uses the touchscreen interface to record participant's responses without the user needing to see the screen. This makes the test both faster, objective and easy to use by both healthcare and non-healthcare professionals such as teachers.

Similarly, non-clinicians using Peek Retina for the detection of optic nerve abnormalities were able to capture quality optic nerve images that were comparable to those obtained from a standard desktop retinal camera operated by trained eye care personnel.¹⁴⁷ It was further shown to be an acceptable tool to patients, care givers and stakeholders.¹⁴⁵

A referral app, Vula, connects primary health workers, especially those in remote areas, with specialists in hospitals through technology. This app allows health workers to capture basic patient information, take photographs, do a basic eye test, capture a brief medical history and send all this directly to a specialist over a dedicated messaging platform for diagnosis.¹⁴⁸ However, this app has not been clinically validated or certified.

PhD Conceptual framework

Overall, several mHealth interventions have been designed to improve health service delivery, client health outcomes and for health research. Interventions for patients includes those that aim to improve chronic disease management, medication adherence, appointment attendance, or change health behavior.^{149 150,151} Depending on the purpose of the intervention and health outcome, mHealth interventions have been designed for use by researchers, healthcare professionals, patients, or the general population. A conceptual framework for mHealth intervention was developed by Free et al, figure 1.3.¹⁵²



Figure 1.3: The conceptual framework used for mobile electronic intervention classification

Source: The effectiveness of M-health technologies for improving health and health¹⁵²

The two domains relevant to this PhD are those focusing on improving health services and research related to eye care. The interventions thus include patient appointment reminders; clinical decisions support system for the general healthcare professionals and data collections tools to support research and health care professionals.

Rationale

Africa is undergoing a health transition owing to the rapidly increasing population and urbanization.¹¹⁵ Health needs remain unmet for many. For example, only 58% of people in sub-Saharan Africa have access to safe water supplies.¹¹⁶ In relation to visual impairment, about 15% of the world's population lives in Africa and contributes about 5.9 of the 36 million (15.4%) blindness.¹⁵³ Access to eye care remains a challenge owing to the huge shortage of human resources for eye health in both the public and private sectors, particularly in rural areas.⁴⁹ The majority of the ophthalmic personnel available, including ophthalmologists, optometrists, ophthalmic clinical officers and ophthalmic nurses among other cadres, are largely concentrated in urban areas while a majority of the people in need of the services live in rural areas.⁵¹ ⁴⁴ This has created a disconnect between the "need" and the "service providers".⁴⁴

With today's knowledge and technology, cost-effective interventions that can help reduce the disease burden in Africa, including eliminating the unnecessary burden related to avoidable blindness are available.¹⁴² However, low coverage and lack of access to healthcare services remains a major challenge due to the weak health systems. As a result, millions of people in Africa remain at risk of vision loss due to the lack of basic eye care services.¹⁵⁴

One way to address these challenges is through the integration of mHealth interventions to improve access and delivery of healthcare service to those in need, especially in the rural areas.¹⁴⁹ In resource-limited settings, where health services may be lacking or overwhelmed, mHealth interventions are particularly useful in bringing health services closer to the community where the need is.¹¹⁸ Taking diagnostics outside the formal health facility setting and linking the output of testing into the appropriate referral pathways of clinical and preventative care that can be delivered in the community could yield more cost-effective and

user-friendly healthcare.^{117,155} In principle, these interventions are likely to increase the accessibility and affordability of healthcare services for those in need.

With the increasing mobile phone penetration in Africa, mobile health technology has provided new innovative approaches of delivering eye care without the previously required infrastructure.¹⁴² In limited-resource settings, and with the critical shortage of health professionals, mHealth interventions have been increasingly adopted and have shown promise for improving the delivery of health care services.¹⁵⁶ However, although there are a number of mobile applications available for vision testing in Africa, very few had undergone validation or certification.

Fundamental to clinical practice is the concept of evidence-based medicine, and as such clinical decisions need to be guided by the scientific literature. Therefore, while mobile phone technology continues to improve in Africa, there is a need for research to fully understand the potential of mHealth technology, and its integration into health care, and more specifically in eye care.

Theory of change

Peek harnesses the portability and connectivity of mobile devices with the ability to undertake a comprehensive eye examination at school or in the community close to patients.¹⁵⁷ It also enables task shifting by allowing non-eye care specialists to conduct large-scale vision screening, identify patients requiring specialist review and connect them to the local services thereby making efficient use of the limited resources available. The Peek diagnostic apps and associated system could improve the accuracy of management decisions in the primary setting and reduce the pressure on the main hospital. Based on the three domains described earlier,¹²⁸ the Peek package for this trial includes a decision support algorithm to make a referral decision, a data capture system with referral notifications and an in-built SMS reminder system.

It is expected the intervention will increase the access to planned specialist assessment and hence early treatment of eye ailments, figure 1.4. The Peek intervention would enable health workers to make accurate management decisions and refer those who need further assessment, increasing the overall number in the population accessing basic eye care services without over burdening the overstretched capacity at secondary care level by managing more patients in the primary health care level and expediting referral to secondary care earlier for patients with preventable sight loss.

Those referred to the secondary care services will be captured in the system and the hospital services will be notified of participants who are referred using a hospital based "Reception App". Automated reminder SMSs was be sent to non-attenders on the need for attending referral and for follow-up.



Figure 1.4: Role of the interventions in the reduction of the prevalence of Visual Impairment

Sources : (Developed from the concept of change by the primes study¹⁵⁸)

Hypothesis and Research aims

Hypothesis

We hypothesized that the integration of Peek Solutions into the local health care system will increase the uptake to appropriate eye care services.

Aims

The main aim is to develop, describe and evaluate a demonstration model of community volunteers and teachers using Peek in communities and schools, respectively, to identify referable eye conditions, refer those with eye problems for treatment and monitor adherence so as to reduce avoidable visual impairment in the population.

The specific aims are:

- 1. Determine the current utilisation of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County.
- Develop and validate smartphone diagnostic algorithms for use in school eye health programmes
- Describe the process of adoption and scaleup from a trial to an integrated school eye health programme
- 4. Develop and validate algorithms for door to door community screening (Peek community Screening) for use in eye care by Community volunteers to identify and refer people with eye problems
- 5. To evaluate whether using Peek Community eye health system can lead to increased uptake of eye care and appropriate use of services.

Study Setting

The study was conducted in Trans Nzoia County in Kenya (Figures 1.5 and 1.6). Trans Nzoia County in Western Kenya has a population of 818,757 people (2009 census) of which 407 172 (49.7%) were male. Children aged 0-14-year olds constitute 47% of the population, figure 1.7.¹⁵⁹ There were 173,719 households, with an average of five people per household. About 669,347 (81.8%) of 818,757 have no internet access.¹⁶⁰

There are 734,293 people aged 3 years or older of which 329,764 (44.9%) were in school, 302,083 (41.1%) had left school while 88,592 (12.1%) have never attended school.¹⁶¹ Also there are 761 Early Childhood Development (ECD) centres, 525 primary schools, 169 secondary schools (151 public and 18 private), 14 polytechnics and 4 university campuses in the county. Each primary school has an average pupil population of 400 - 500 children.¹⁶²

There are 61 government health facilities (6 hospitals, 12-health centers, 43 dispensaries) and 76 health facilities owned privately or by faith based organizations.¹⁶³ The studies included in this PhD thesis were conducted in government run health facilities.



Figure 1.5: Kenya and Trans Nzoia county

Source : google maps¹⁶⁴



Figure 1.6: Location of Trans Nzoia County in Kenya and the sub counties in relation and Kitale County & Referral hospital

Source: Modified from a report by Kenya National Bureau of statistics et al.¹⁶⁵



Figure 1.7: The Population structure of Trans Nzoia County

source: Exploring Kenya's Inequalities: Pulling apart or pooling together? Trans Nzoia County. ¹⁶⁵

Kenya Health service structure:

There are two levels of health service delivery, National and County (regional) governments, Table 6.¹⁶⁶ The national government is responsible for national hospitals, policy formulation and quality standards, while the County Governments are responsible for delivery of health care.¹⁶⁷ The communities are empowered to identify their own health priorities and find solutions, while the government's role is to facilitate the provision of quality services.¹⁶⁷ Most eye clinics / hospitals are at level 5 and 6 of the health system.

Government responsible	Levels of Health services	Human resources	Population served
National Government	Level 6: National and Tertiary hospitals	Specialists + level 5 staff + trainees	20,000,000- 25,000,000
County	Level 5: County referral Hospitals	Consultants specialists, Internship trainees and Level 4 staff	500,000 - 1,000,000
Governments	Level 4: Sub- County Hospitals	Medical officers + level 3 staff	100,000 - 200,000
	Level 3: Health Centres	Clinical offices, Registered nurses, public health officers, lab technicians, community health extension workers (CHEW)	20,000- 40,000
	Level 2: Dispensaries	Enrolled Nurses, Public Health technicians, 1 CHEW = 50 CVs	5000 - 10000
	Level 1: Community	Community Volunteers (CV), 1 CV = 20 households, 1 House hold = 5 - 6 people	100

Table 6: The structure of the Kenyan health system

Health centers and dispensaries are the first contact of the community with the health system.

A dispensary or health centre together with the community it serves is defined as a **Community unit,** (figure 1.8).



Courtesy: Andre

Andrew Bastawrous

Figure 1.8: Organization of County health system and referral pathway

The Community Health Extension Workers (CHEWs) at the health centre or dispensary train, support and supervise the community volunteers (CVs). CVs are community members selected by the community to represent them on issues of health.¹⁶⁸ Their roles include health promotion and participating in meetings organised by the CHEWs and the Community Health Committee.

A Community Unit (CU) is composed of 20 to 50 CVs attached to a dispensary or health Centre, in which one or two CHEWs are based, and serves a population of 5,000 - 10,000 people. The CU has a Community Health Committee with defined roles and governance responsibilities.¹⁶⁸ The community volunteers form a vital link between the health care delivery system and the community.

In Trans Nzoia County, there are 137 health facilities with 1,251 workers, and 85 out of the 180 CUs have been formed (as of August 2018).^{169,170} The health worker to 100,000 population ratio is 5.4 for doctors, 9.6 for allied medical worker (clinical officers) and 47 for nurses.¹⁶³ This is half than the recommended WHO ratio of 230 per 100,000 population for any cadre.⁵⁰ Eye services are offered at Kitale Eye Unit and through outreach services (provided by eye care

staff from Kitale) to other health facilities. Screening and treatment of eye conditions (Triage) is offered at most health facilities. The challenges encountered include those related to the health system in general: few health facilities, high cost services, and few health workers.¹⁶³ Challenges for setting up outreach-screening include: impassable roads, lack of electricity, and lack of data for planning.

Eye care system

Kitale Eye Unit is the only eye unit in the county and is located at the main county hospital in Kitale (figure 1.9). The Unit provides secondary eye services daily at the central unit and through mobile outreach services at peripheral health centres. The unit staff also provide supportive supervision and training for the Health workers within these other facilities.¹⁷¹ The unit has one ophthalmologist, four ophthalmic clinical officers and eight nurses (two working outside the eye unit). Each consultation visit costs about one USA dollar while eye drops or surgery are subsidised but paid separately. Spectacles are not provided at the hospital.



Figure 1.9: Kitale Eye Unit, Kenya

The local eye health system is under resourced and the majority of the population has limited access to eye care services, particularly vulnerable groups such as the elderly, females and those of low education or low socioeconomic status. From routine data, many patients who attend eye clinics in Kitale have conditions that could be managed at primary health care facilities, hence overcrowding the central eye clinics that should be used mainly by patients who need to be managed at that level. The limited number of eye care providers are required to attend to all patients who present to the eye hospital. This heavy workload is a source of stress on the health care system, eye care workers frequently burnout leading to poor quality of services being offered.

This PhD project was designed to enable integration into the health system with the health personnel in each of those levels' being enabled to perform activities that would lead to realization of the aims of the study. The CVs and teachers in the community were supported to make accurate management decisions and refer those who need further assessment, while at primary health care level triage and referral was provided to increase the overall number in the population accessing basic eye care services without over burdening the overstretched capacity at secondary care level, figure 1.10.



Figure 1.10: Level of health care & current functions, health workers and Peek interventions

Thesis structure

This PhD thesis is in the "research papers" format and contains eight chapters including this chapter on the background and addressing the objectives of the thesis. The thesis contains three published papers, two under peer review as well as two being submitted for peer-review and publication. The sequence of papers follows a logical sequence starting with a literature review (this chapter) and progressing to analysis of the current situation, the intervention development, trial protocol followed by the trial results. Some papers were written simultaneously while others had longer peer-review processes, meaning that the papers were published in a slightly different order than as presented. The contribution of others to these publications and the thesis are stated in the acknowledgment and research paper cover sheets for each chapter.

Chapter 1 presents an introduction to the thesis as well as relevant background literature, on magnitude and trends of visual impairment, risk factors, mHealth interventions and behaviour change theory, aims and objectives and thesis outline.





Chapter 2 is a research paper on the utilization of eye services in the study area before the intervention. At the time [Dates, 2013-15] there were minimal or no primary eye care services with most eye care provided at the secondary centre, Kitale Eye Unit. The paper is a retrospective review of records on utilization of eye services at Kitale Eye Unit between 2013 to 2015, figure 1.11A. Information from the hospital database was used to assess attendance while the 2009 census reports provided population data for specific areas, age and gender, that was used for direct comparisons. This paper provides an outline of the utilization of eye services by age and gender and the eye conditions and provides key baseline information for comparison post intervention. The article is Open Access and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0

International License which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, appendix 2.

Citation: Hillary, K., Macleod, D., Bastawrous, A., Wanjala, E., Gichangi, M., & Burton,
 M. J. (2019). Utilization of Secondary Eye Care Services in Western Kenya.
 International journal of environmental research and public health, 16(18), 3371.

Chapter 3 is a published research paper describing the validation, implementation and results of the system level intervention in school children. This paper has two parts; the first part comprises the development and validation process and the results of the validation of the mHealth interventions when used by school teachers, figure1.11B. Here results obtained from teachers using the smartphone Peek Acuity app are compared to those from by the clinical officer using the reference standard EDTRS chart. The second part of the paper describes the methods and the results of a cluster randomised controlled trial with a primary outcome of increasing adherence to the hospital services for children identified with VI.

I presented the results at the 9th General Assembly of the International Agency International prevention of blindness in Durban, South Africa in 2016 and previously at The Royal College of Ophthalmologist Annual Congress, UK in 2015. The results of this paper were used to develop and scale up a screening program described in chapter 4. The paper is an open

access article distributed under the terms of CC BY. The copyright is retained by authors as indicated in the paper. Permission from Co-authors to include the paper in the thesis is in appendix 3.

citation: Rono HK, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, et al. Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Global Health 2018; 6(8): e924-e32.

Chapter 4 presents the process of practical steps to scale up a programme from the research. The three phases of the PRIME framework (formative, implementation and scale up phases) are described how there are interlinked factors influencing the process. The Peek School Screening programs as a model is acceptable and effective in screening for visual impairment in this population. This program was declared the best innovative programme in the Africa by the African Union at the 2018 All African Public Service Innovation Awards (AAPSIA 2018) at a ceremony held in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia.

Chapter 5 is a research paper under peer review as of September 2019. It outlines the development process and the results of validation of the Peek Community Screening App (that support non eye care workers to make referral decisions on patients) over a number of iterations, where the algorithm was altered to improve its performance, before settling on a final algorithm deemed acceptable to be used in community screening. The paper highlights the validation process, where the results of the app when use by community volunteers were compared with those from an experience ophthalmic worker using standard outreach equipment, figure 1.11C. The paper highlights the potential for mHealth in supporting task-shifting especially in areas with scare eye health workers.

Chapter 6 is a published trial protocol research paper outlining the details on the study design, intervention, study hypothesis, sample size calculation, outcome measures and effect measures of the randomised community trial that is described in chapter 7, figure 1.11D. The

article is Open Access and distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, appendix 4.

Citation: Rono H, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, Wanjala E, Gichuhi S, Burton M. Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. Trials 2019; 20(1): 502.

Chapter 7 is a research paper prepared for submission that presents the results of a community cluster randomised controlled trial described in chapter 6 that was designed to investigate the effects of the mHealth interventions in a health system. The main outcome was attendance of primary eye care facilities (dispensary and health centres) for triage at weeks from sensitization. This chapter contains analyses of primary and secondary outcomes with an aim of understanding the effect of intervention on overall uptake of eye services and by gender and age. it also contains quantitative analysis barriers that determine utilization of secondary eye services and the eye conditions among patients seen at triage and hospital. This paper is being submitted for peer-review and preliminary data was presented at the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium research meeting in London, March 2019.

Chapter 8 is the presentation of the summaries of the main findings of the thesis, its overall strengths and limitations. The implications the findings in relation to other studies in the eye care and interventions are discussed and finally, recommendations for practice and further research explained.

Ethics

The ethical principles of the Helsinki declaration and Principles of good clinical practise were followed. I completed the e-learning courses on Good Clinical Practice course at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine in December 2017 and also the web-based course on protecting Human Research Participants at the National Institute of Health (NIH) in June 2014, appendix 5

Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Medical (LSHTM) Ethics Committee and Institutional Research and Ethics Committee (IREC) of Moi University, Eldoret, Kenya. When there was a delay in field work due to elections, re-elections and health worker strikes an approval for extension of research period was granted.

- Utilization of eye services in western Kenya, retrospective study: Kenya (IREC /2016/40), appendix 6; LSHTM (number 10509) appendix 7.
- School eye health system approvals: LSHTM (8835), appendix 8; Kenya (IREC 001359) appendix 9 and ratification of extension of the study period (IREC 0001258), appendix 10.
- A scale up process from research to scaled up project; case study of the school eye health project. The upscaling process was now routine practices outside research setting, therefore ethical approval was not required, appendix11.
- Development and validation of community screening system approvals: Kenya (IREC 001644) appendix 12 and ratification of extension of the study period (IREC 0001258), appendix 13; LSHTM (10508) appendix 14
- Community cluster randomised controlled trial (C-RCT): Kenya (IREC 3025) appendix 15; LSHTM (14633), appendix 16.

Both the school and community cluster randomised trials are registered with the Pan African Clinical Trials Registry (PACTR), numbers PACTR201503001049236 and PACTR201807329096632 respectively. (appendix 17 & 18 respectively)

References

- Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global health* 2017; 5(9): e888-e97.
- World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014-2019.
 Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.
- Thylefors B. A global initiative for the elimination of avoidable blindness. *American journal of ophthalmology* 1998; **125**(1): 90-3.
- Bourne R. R. A, Flaxman S. R, Braithwaite T, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global health* 2017; 5(9): e888-e97.
- Flaxman SR, Bourne RRA, Resnikoff S, et al. Global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990-2020: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global health* 2017; 5(12): e1221-e34.
- Bourne RR, Stevens GA, White RA, et al. Causes of vision loss worldwide, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis. *The Lancet Global health* 2013; 1(6): e339-49.
- Stevens GA, White RA, Flaxman SR, et al. Global prevalence of vision impairment and blindness: magnitude and temporal trends, 1990-2010. *Ophthalmology* 2013; **120**(12): 2377-84.
- 8. Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. *The British journal of ophthalmology* 2011: bjophthalmol-2011-300539-.
- 9. Naidoo K, Gichuhi S, Basáñez M-G, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in sub-Saharan Africa: 1990–2010. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2014; **98**(5): 612-8.
- 10. Pizzarello L, Abiose A, Ffytche T, et al. VISION 2020: The Right to Sight: A Global Initiative to Eliminate Avoidable Blindness. *JAMA Ophthalmology* 2004; **122**(4): 615-20.

- Bastawrous A, Dean WH, Sherwin JC. Blindness and visual impairment due to agerelated cataract in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review of recent population-based studies. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2013; **97**(10): 1237-43.
- 12. Fred Hollows Foundation. Bringing light to sight in Kenya: The benefits of eliminating avoidable blindness and visual impairment.; 2014; Nairobi; 2014.
- Mathenge W, Kuper H, Limburg H, et al. Rapid assessment of avoidable blindness in Nakuru district, Kenya. *Ophthalmology* 2007; **114**(3): 599-605.
- Karimurio J, Gichangi M, Adala H, Huguet P. Rapid assessment of cataract surgical services in Embu district, Kenya. *JOECSA* 2013; **13**(3): 19-25.
- 15. Ndegwa LK, Karimurio J, Okelo RO, Adala HS. Prevalence of visual impairment and blindness in a Nairobi urban population. *East Afr Med J* 2006; **83**(4): 69-72.
- Whitfield R, Schwab L, Ross-Degnan D, Steinkuller P, Swartwood J. Blindness and eye disease in Kenya: ocular status survey results from the Kenya Rural Blindness Prevention Project. *Br J Ophthalmol* 1990; **74**(6): 333-40.
- Mathenge W, Bastawrous A, Foster A, Kuper H. The Nakuru posterior segment eye disease study: methods and prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in Nakuru, Kenya. *Ophthalmology* 2012; **119**(10): 2033-9.
- Kimani K, Lindfield R, Senyonjo L, Mwaniki A, Schmidt E. Prevalence and Causes of Ocular Morbidity in Mbeere District, Kenya. Results of a Population-Based Survey. *PLOS ONE* 2013; 8(8): e70009.
- Kimani K, Ciku M, Sheila M, et al. Cataract surgical services, outcome and barriers in Kericho, Bureti and Bomet Districts, Kenya. *JOECSA* 2008; **14**(1).
- 20. Wachira J, Muturi M, Shamanna BR. Rapid Assessment of Avoidable Blindness in Kwale County, Kenya. 2011; Nairobi; 2011.
- Abou-Gareeb I, Lewallen S, Bassett K, Courtright P. Gender and blindness: a metaanalysis of population-based prevalence surveys. *Ophthalmic epidemiology* 2001; 8(1): 39-56.
- Lewallen S, Mousa A, Bassett K, Courtright P. Cataract surgical coverage remains lower in women. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2009; **93**(3): 295-8.

- Courtright P. Gender and blindness: Taking a global and a local perspective. Oman Journal of Ophthalmology 2009; 2(2): 55-6.
- Bourne RRA, Jonas JB, Flaxman SR, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in highincome countries and in Eastern and Central Europe: 1990–2010. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2014; **98**(5): 629-38.
- Wong TY, Zheng Y, Jonas JB, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in East Asia:
 1990–2010. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2014; **98**(5): 599-604.
- Khairallah M, Kahloun R, Flaxman SR, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in North Africa and the Middle East: 1990–2010. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2014;
 98(5): 605-11.
- 27. Bastawrous A, Mathenge W, Wing K, et al. Six-Year Incidence of Blindness and Visual Impairment in Kenya: The Nakuru Eye Disease Cohort StudyThe Incidence of Blindness in Kenya. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science* 2016; **57**(14): 5974-83.
- Division of Ophthalmic Services (DOS). Kenya National Plan for Elimination of Trachoma 2008-2015. Nairobi: MPHS; 2008.
- 29. Karimurio J, Gichangi M, Ilako DR, Adala HS, Kilima P. Prevalence of trachoma in six districts of Kenya. *East African medical journal* 2006; **83**: 63-8.
- 30. Karimurio J, Ilako F, Gichangi M. Prevalence of active and potentially blinding trachoma in Laikipia district, Kenya. *East African Journal of Ophthalmology* 2007: 39-42.
- Jefitha K, Hillary R. Survey Report of baseline trachoma prevalence on Trachoma in the Larger Turkana district, KENYA. Nairobi; 2010.
- Kollmann KHM, Adala HS, Gäckle HC, et al. Diabetic retinopathy in Kenya : challenges and perspectives for VISION 2020 : results from the Diabetic Retinopathy Project at the Department of Ophthalmology , University of Nairobi , Kenya. Most. Nairobi; 2004. p. 4-6.
- Division of Non-communicable Diseases. KENYA NATIONAL BIABETES STRATEGY
 2010 -2015. Nairobi; 2010. p. 3-5.

- Mathenge W, Bastawrous A, Peto T, Leung I, Foster A, Kuper H. Prevalence of Age-Related Macular Degeneration in Nakuru, Kenya: A Cross-Sectional Population-Based Study. *PLoS Med* 2013; **10**: e1001393.
- Bastawrous A. Nakuru cohort study: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine;
 2017.
- Gilbert CE, Shah SP, Jadoon MZ, et al. Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: results from the Pakistan national blindness and visual impairment survey. *Bmj* 2008; **336**(7634): 29-32.
- 37. Syed A, Polack S, Eusebio C, et al. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. *Disabil Rehabil* 2013; **35**(19): 1660-7.
- Palmer JJ, Chinanayi F, Gilbert A, et al. Mapping human resources for eye health in 21 countries of sub-Saharan Africa: current progress towards VISION 2020. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; **12**(1): 1-16.
- 39. Habtamu E, Eshete Z, Burton MJ. Cataract surgery in Southern Ethiopia: distribution, rates and determinants of service provision. *BMC health services research* 2013; **13**.
- 40. Eliah E, Lewallen S, Kalua K, Courtright P, Gichangi M, Bassett K. Task shifting for cataract surgery in eastern Africa: productivity and attrition of non-physician cataract surgeons in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; 12 Suppl 1: S4.
- 41. Ferrinho P, Siziya S, Goma F, Dussault G. The human resource for health situation in Zambia: deficit and maldistribution. *Human Resources for Health* 2011; **9**: 30.
- Resnikoff S, Felch W, Gauthier TM, Spivey B. The number of ophthalmologists in practice and training worldwide: a growing gap despite more than 200,000 practitioners.
 Br J Ophthalmol 2012; **96**(6): 783-7.
- 43. Wilson NW, Couper ID, De Vries E, Reid S, Fish T, Marais BJ. A critical review of interventions to redress the inequitable distribution of healthcare professionals to rural and remote areas. *Rural Remote Health* 2009; **9**(2): 1060.

- Bastawrous A, Hennig BD. The global inverse care law: a distorted map of blindness. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2012; **96**(10): 1357-8.
- 45. Oduntan OO, Mashige KP, Hansraj R, Ovenseri-Ogbomo G. Strategies for reducing visual impairment and blindness in rural and remote areas of Africa. *2015* 2015; **74**(1).
- 46. Ormsby GM, Arnold AL, Busija L, Morchen M, Bonn TS, Keeffe JE. The Impact of Knowledge and Attitudes on Access to Eye-Care Services in Cambodia. *Asia-Pacific journal of ophthalmology (Philadelphia, Pa)* 2012; **1**(6): 331-5.
- 47. Buchan J, Couper ID, Tangcharoensathien V, et al. Early implementation of WHO recommendations for the retention of health workers in remote and rural areas. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2013; **91**(11): 834-40.
- 48. World Health Organization. Increasing access to health workers in remote and rural areas through improved retention. Geneva: World Health Organization,, 2010.
- Palmer JJ, Chinanayi F, Gilbert A, et al. Mapping human resources for eye health in 21 countries of sub-Saharan Africa: current progress towards VISION 2020. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; **12**: 44.
- 50. World Health Organization. Achieving the health-related MDGs. It takes a workforce! 15/11/2015 2010. <u>http://www.who.int/hrh/fig_density.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- Ramke J, Zwi AB, Silva JC, et al. Evidence for national universal eye health plans.
 Bulletin of the World Health Organization 2018; 96(10): 695-704.
- 52. Evans DB, Hsu J, Boerma T. Universal health coverage and universal access. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2013; **91**(8): 546-A.
- 53. Olusanya BA, Ashaye AO, Owoaje ET, Baiyeroju AM, Ajayi BG. Determinants of Utilization of Eye Care Services in a Rural Adult Population of a Developing Country. *Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol* 2016; **23**(1): 96-103.
- 54. Ntsoane M, Oduntan O. A review of factors influencing the utilization of eye care services. *African Vision and Eye Health* 2010; **69**(4): 182-92.
- Akowuah PK. Barriers to Utilization of Eye Care Services in the Upper East Region,
 Ghana. Advances in Ophthalmology & Visual System 2017; 7(6).

- Ibeneche H.O, Ekpenyong B.N., A. E. Barriers to Accessing Eye Care Services in the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja, Nigeria. *Journal of the Nigerian Optometric Association* 2018; **20**: 64-9.
- 57. Ebeigbe JA, Ovenseri-Ogborno GO. Barriers to utilization of eye care services in rural communities in Edo State, Nigeria. *Borno Medical Journal* 2014; **11**: 98 104.
- 58. Kimani K KJ, Gichuhi S, Marco S, Nyaga G, Wachira J, Ilako D. Barriers to utilization of eye care services in Kibera and Dagoreti Divisions of Nairobi, Kenya. *East African Journal of Ophthalmology* 2008; **14**: 55-6.
- 59. Ndegwa LK, Karimurio J, Okelo RO, Adala HS. Barriers to utilisation of eye care services in Kibera slums of Nairobi. *East Afr Med J* 2005; **82**(10): 506-8.
- 60. Keeffe JE, Weih LM, McCarty CA, Taylor HR. Utilisation of eye care services by urban and rural Australians. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2002; **86**(1): 24.
- Okoye OI, Aghaji AE, Umeh RE, Nwagbo DFE, Chuku A. Barriers to the Provision of Clinical Low-Vision Services Among Ophthalmologists in Nigeria. *Visual Impairment Research* 2007; 9(1): 11-7.
- Bozzani FM, Griffiths UK, Blanchet K, Schmidt E. Health systems analysis of eye care services in Zambia: evaluating progress towards VISION 2020 goals. *BMC health services research* 2014; **14**(1): 94.
- 63. Kuper H, Polack S, Eusebio C, Mathenge W, Wadud Z, Foster A. A case-control study to assess the relationship between poverty and visual impairment from cataract in Kenya, the Philippines, and Bangladesh. *PLoS Med* 2008; **5**(12): e244.
- Elam AR, Lee PP. Barriers to and Suggestions on Improving Utilization of Eye Care in High-Risk Individuals: Focus Group Results. *International Scholarly Research Notices* 2014; **2014**: 8.
- 65. Gnyawali S, Bhattarai D, Upadhyay MP. Utilization of primary eye health services by people from a rural community of Nepal. Nepalese journal of ophthalmology : a biannual peer-reviewed academic journal of the Nepal Ophthalmic Society : NEPJOPH 2012; 4(1): 96-101.

- 66. Lam N, Leat SJ. Barriers to accessing low-vision care: the patient's perspective.
 Canadian Journal of Ophthalmology / Journal Canadian d'Ophtalmologie 2013; **48**: 458-62.
- Subburaman GB, Hariharan L, Ravilla TD, Ravilla RD, Kempen JH. Demand for Tertiary Eye Care Services in Developing Countries. *American journal of ophthalmology* 2015; 160(4): 619-27.e1.
- Ngugi AK, Agoi F, Mahoney MR, et al. Utilization of health services in a resource-limited rural area in Kenya: Prevalence and associated household-level factors. *PLOS ONE* 2017; **12**(2): e0172728.
- Rotchford AP, Rotchford KM, Mthethwa LP, Johnson GJ. Reasons for poor cataract surgery uptake - a qualitative study in rural South Africa. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2002; 7(3): 288-92.
- Fitzmaurice C, Dicker D, Pain A, et al. The Global Burden of Cancer 2013. JAMA Oncol 2015; 1(4): 505-27.
- Geneau R, Lewallen S, Bronsard A, Paul I, Courtright P. The social and family dynamics behind the uptake of cataract surgery: findings from Kilimanjaro region, Tanzania. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2005; **89**(11): 1399-402.
- 72. Abubakar A, Van Baar A, Fischer R, Bomu G, Gona JK, Newton CR. Socio-Cultural Determinants of Health-Seeking Behaviour on the Kenyan Coast: A Qualitative Study. *PLOS ONE* 2013; **8**(11): e71998.
- 73. Worl Health organization. Strategies for the Prevention of Blindness in National programmes: A Primary Health Care Approach. Geneva: WHO, 1997.
- 74. Murthy G, Raman U. Perspectives on primary eye care. *Community Eye Health* 2009;22(69): 10-1.
- Misra V, Vashist P, Malhotra S, Gupta S. Models for Primary Eye Care Services in India.
 Indian Journal of Community Medicine 2015; 40(2): 79-84.
- 76. Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, Eliah E, Lewallen S. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? *Annals of Tropical Medicine & Parasitology* 2010; **104**(5): 361-7.

- Naidoo K, Ravilla D. Delivering refractive error services: primary eye care centres and outreach. *Community Eye Health* 2007; **20**(63): 42-4.
- 78. Frenk J. Reinventing primary health care: the need for systems integration. *Lancet* 2009;
 374(9684): 170-3.
- 79. Blanchet K, Gordon I, Gilbert CE, Wormald R, Awan H. How to achieve universal coverage of cataract surgical services in developing countries: lessons from systematic reviews of other services. *Ophthalmic epidemiology* 2012; **19**(6): 329-39.
- Etya'ale D. Beyond the clinic: approaches to outreach. *Community Eye Health* 2006;
 19(58): 19-21.
- Roberts H. Experiences in rural Kenya: Addressing lack of knowledge. *Community Eye Health* 2012; **25**(78): 28.
- World Health Organization. Treat, Train, Retain: Task Shifting Global Recomendations and Guidelines. Geneva: WHO, 2008.
- 83. Prathiba V, Rema M. Teleophthalmology: A Model for Eye Care Delivery in Rural and Underserved Areas of India. *International Journal of Family Medicine* 2011; **2011**: 4.
- 84. Courtright P, Murenzi J, Mathenge W, Munana J, Muller A. Reaching rural Africans with eye care services: findings from primary eye care approaches in Rubavu District, Rwanda. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2010; **15**(6): 692-6.
- 85. Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, Eliah E, Lewallen S. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? *Annals of tropical medicine and parasitology* 2010; **104**(5): 361-7.
- 86. Habtamu E, Rajak SN, Gebre T, et al. Clearing the Backlog: Trichiasis Surgeon Retention and Productivity in Northern Ethiopia. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 2011; **5**: e1014.
- Gichangi M, Kalua K, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. Task Shifting for Eye Care in Eastern Africa: General Nurses as Trichiasis Surgeons in Kenya, Malawi, and Tanzania. *Ophthalmic epidemiology* 2015; **22**(3): 226-30.
- Naidoo KS, Naidoo K, Maharaj Y, Ramson P, Wallace D, Dabideen R. Scaling up the delivery of refractive error services within a district health system: the KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa experience. *BMC health services research* 2013; **13**: 361.

- 89. Bryce J, Victora CG, Habicht JP, Vaughan JP, Black RE. The Multi-Country Evaluation of the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness Strategy: Lessons for the Evaluation of Public Health Interventions. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004; **94**(3): 406-15.
- 90. Gove S. Integrated management of childhood illness by outpatient health workers: technical basis and overview. The WHO Working Group on Guidelines for Integrated Management of the Sick Child. *Bull World Health Organ* 1997; **75 Suppl 1**: 7-24.
- 91. Perkins BA, Zucker JR, Otieno J, et al. Evaluation of an algorithm for integrated management of childhood illness in an area of Kenya with high malaria transmission. Bull World Health Organ 1997; **75 Suppl 1**: 33-42.
- 92. Weber MW, Mulholland EK, Jaffar S, Troedsson H, Gove S, Greenwood BM. Evaluation of an algorithm for the integrated management of childhood illness in an area with seasonal malaria in the Gambia. *Bull World Health Organ* 1997; **75 Suppl 1**: 25-32.
- Steer AC, Tikoduadua LV, Manalac EM, Colquhoun S, Carapetis JR, Maclennan C.
 Validation of an Integrated Management of Childhood Illness algorithm for managing common skin conditions in Fiji. *Bull World Health Organ* 2009; 87(3): 173-9.
- Timlin H, Butler L, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh Red Eye Diagnostic Algorithm. *Eye (London, England)* 2015; **29**(5): 619-24.
- Butler L, Yap T, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh diplopia diagnostic algorithm.
 Eye (London, England) 2016; **30**(6): 812-6.
- Goudie C, Khan A, Lowe C, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh visual loss diagnostic algorithm. *Eye* 2015; **29**: 1483-8.
- 97. World Health Organization. Primary eye care training manual A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region.; 2018; 2018.
- Bhagwan J, Rastogi I, Malik J, Dhull C. Knowledge, Attitude and Practices Regarding Cataract Surgery amongSenile Cataract Cases in Haryana. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine* 2006; **31**(2): 66-.
- 99. Cronau H, Kankanala RR, Mauger T. Diagnosis and management of red eye in primary care. *American family physician* 2010; **81**(2): 137-44.
- Papier A, Tuttle DJ, Mahar TJ. Differential diagnosis of the swollen red eyelid. *American family physician* 2007; **76**(12): 1815-24.
- 101. Sillah A, Ceesay B. Primary level management of eye injuries. *Community Eye Health* 2005; **18**(55): 105.
- 102. Sight I. Primary Eye care guide: a reference for differrential diagnosis. 2013; 2013.
- 103. World Health Organization. mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth.; 2011; Geneva; 2011.
- 104. World Health organization. mHealth New horizons for health through mobile technologies: Global Observatory for e-Health Series. Geneva: World Health Organization., 2011.
- 105. Mosa AS, Yoo I, Sheets L. A systematic review of healthcare applications for smartphones. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak* 2012; **12**: 67.
- 106. Free C, Phillips G, Watson L, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* 2013; **10**(1): e1001363.
- 107. Park Y-T. Emerging New Era of Mobile Health Technologies. *Healthc Inform Res* 2016;22(4): 253-4.
- 108. Kelly T, Firestone R. How Tech Hubs are helping to drive economic growth in Africa:
 Background report for World Bank: World Development Report 2016: Digital Dividends.
 8th UbuntuNet Alliance annual conference, 2015; 2016. p. 99-111.
- 109. Bastawrous A, Hennig B, Livingston I. mHealth Possibilities in a Changing World. Distribution of Global Cell Phone Subscriptions. *Journal of Mobile Technology in Medicine* 2013; **2**: 22-5.
- 110. Bastawrous A, Armstrong MJ. Mobile health use in low- and high-income countries: an overview of the peer-reviewed literature. *J R Soc Med* 2013; **106**(4): 130-42.
- 111. Chhablani J, Kaja S, Shah VA. Smartphones in ophthalmology. *Indian Journal of Ophthalmology* 2012; **60**(2): 127-31.
- 112. Black JM, Jacobs RJ, Phillips G, et al. An assessment of the iPad as a testing platform for distance visual acuity in adults. *BMJ Open* 2013; **3**(6): e002730.

- 113. Communications Authority of Kenya. Annual Report for the Financial Year 2016-2017, 2017.
- 114. Peek STM, Wouters EJM, van Hoof J, Luijkx KG, Boeije HR, Vrijhoef HJM. Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: A systematic review. *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 2014; 83: 235-48.
- 115. Maher D, Smeeth L, Sekajugo J. Health transition in Africa: practical policy proposals for primary care. *Bull World Health Organization* 2010; **88**(12): 943-8.
- 116. Kirigia JM, Barry SP. Health challenges in Africa and the way forward. *Int Arch Med* 2008; **1**(1): 27-.
- 117. Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The Impact of mHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2018; 6(1): e23.
- 118. Betjeman TJ, Soghoian SE, Foran MP. mHealth in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Int J Telemed Appl* 2013; **2013**: 482324.
- 119. Labrique AB, Vasudevan L, Kochi E, Fabricant R, Mehl G. mHealth innovations as health system strengthening tools: 12 common applications and a visual framework. *Glob Health Sci Pract* 2013; 1(2): 160-71.
- 120. Feng S, Grépin KA, Chunara R. Tracking health seeking behavior during an Ebola outbreak via mobile phones and SMS. *npj Digital Medicine* 2018; **1**(1): 51.
- 121. Chunara R, Freifeld CC, Brownstein JS. New technologies for reporting real-time emergent infections. *Parasitology* 2012; **139**(14): 1843-51.
- 122. Chan EH, Brewer TF, Madoff LC, et al. Global capacity for emerging infectious disease detection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2010; **107**(50): 21701-6.
- 123. Hurt K, Walker RJ, Campbell JA, Egede LE. mHealth Interventions in Low and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review. *Glob J Health Sci* 2016; **8**(9): 54429.
- 124. DeKoekkoek T, Given B, Given CW, Ridenour K, Schueller M, Spoelstra SL. mHealth SMS text messaging interventions and to promote medication adherence: an integrative review. J Clin Nurs 2015; 24(19-20): 2722-35.

- 125. Militello LK, Kelly SA, Melnyk BM. Systematic review of text-messaging interventions to promote healthy behaviors in pediatric and adolescent populations: implications for clinical practice and research. *Worldviews Evid Based Nurs* 2012; **9**(2): 66-77.
- 126. Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. *J Med Internet Res* 2010; 12(1): e4.
- 127. Gurol-Urganci I, de Jongh T, Vodopivec-Jamsek V, Atun R, Car J. Mobile phone messaging reminders for attendance at healthcare appointments. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2013; (12): Cd007458.
- 128. Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. *PLoS Med* 2013; **10**(1): e1001362.
- 129. Aranda-Jan CB, Mohutsiwa-Dibe N, Loukanova S. Systematic review on what works, what does not work and why of implementation of mobile health (mHealth) projects in Africa. *BMC Public Health* 2014; **14**(1): 188.
- Brittz M, Heinze B, Mahomed-Asmail F, Swanepoel W, Stoltz A. Monitoring Hearing in an Infectious Disease Clinic with mHealth Technologies. *J Am Acad Audiol* 2019; **30**(6): 482-92.
- 131. Odeny TA, Bailey RC, Bukusi EA, et al. Text messaging to improve attendance at postoperative clinic visits after adult male circumcision for HIV prevention: a randomized controlled trial. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**(9): e43832.
- 132. Pop-Eleches C, Thirumurthy H, Habyarimana JP, et al. Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: a randomized controlled trial of text message reminders. *Aids* 2011; **25**(6): 825-34.
- Lester RT, Ritvo P, Mills EJ, et al. Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2010; **376**(9755): 1838-45.

- 134. Venter WDF, Fischer A, Lalla-Edward ST, et al. Improving Linkage to and Retention in Care in Newly Diagnosed HIV-Positive Patients Using Smartphones in South Africa: Randomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2019; **7**(4): e12652.
- 135. Kawakyu N, Nduati R, Munguambe K, et al. Development and Implementation of a Mobile Phone-Based Prevention of Mother-To-Child Transmission of HIV Cascade Analysis Tool: Usability and Feasibility Testing in Kenya and Mozambique. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2019; **7**(5): e13963.
- 136. Winskell K, Sabben G, Obong'o C. Interactive Narrative in a Mobile Health Behavioral Intervention (Tumaini): Theoretical Grounding and Structure of a Smartphone Game to Prevent HIV Among Young Africans. *JMIR Serious Games* 2019; **7**(2): e13037.
- 137. Kaunda-Khangamwa BN, Steinhardt LC, Rowe AK, et al. The effect of mobile phone text message reminders on health workers' adherence to case management guidelines for malaria and other diseases in Malawi: lessons from qualitative data from a clusterrandomized trial. *Malar J* 2018; **17**(1): 481.
- Barclay E. Text messages could hasten tuberculosis drug compliance. *Lancet (London, England)* 2009; **373**(9657): 15-6.
- 139. Boyce SP, Nyangara F, Kamunyori J. A mixed-methods quasi-experimental evaluation of a mobile health application and quality of care in the integrated community case management program in Malawi. *J Glob Health* 2019; **9**(1): 010811.
- 140. Laar AS, Bekyieriya E, Isang S, Baguune B. Assessment of mobile health technology for maternal and child health services in rural Upper West Region of Ghana. *Public Health* 2019; **168**: 1-8.
- 141. Thomsen CF, Barrie AMF, Boas IM, et al. Health workers' experiences with the Safe Delivery App in West Wollega Zone, Ethiopia: a qualitative study. *Reprod Health*, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12978-019-0725-6 (accessed 2019/05//).
- 142. Singh J, Kabbara S, Conway M, Peyman G, D. Ross R. Innovative Diagnostic Tools for Ophthalmology in Low-Income Countries. 2019.

- 143. Mash B, Powell D, du Plessis F, van Vuuren U, Michalowska M, Levitt N. Screening for diabetic retinopathy in primary care with a mobile fundal camera--evaluation of a South African pilot project. S Afr Med J 2007; 97(12): 1284-8.
- 144. Khan T, Bertram MY, Jina R, Mash B, Levitt N, Hofman K. Preventing diabetes blindness: cost effectiveness of a screening programme using digital non-mydriatic fundus photography for diabetic retinopathy in a primary health care setting in South Africa. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2013; **101**(2): 170-6.
- 145. Lodhia V, Karanja S, Lees S, Bastawrous A. Acceptability, Usability, and Views on Deployment of Peek, a Mobile Phone mHealth Intervention for Eye Care in Kenya: Qualitative Study. *JMIR mHealth uHealth* 2016; **4**(2): e30.
- 146. Bastawrous A, Rono HK, Livingstone IT, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and communitybased fieldwork. JAMA Ophthalmology 2015; 133(8): 930-7.
- 147. Bastawrous A, Giardini ME, Bolster NM, et al. Clinical Validation of a Smartphone-Based Adapter for Optic Disc Imaging in Kenya. *JAMA Ophthalmol* 2015: 1-8.
- 148. Vula. Vula Mobile An app that makes it easy to refer patients to specialists in South Africa. 2019. <u>https://www.vulamobile.com/</u> (accessed 12 / 08 /2019 2019).
- 149. Mallow JA, Theeke LA, Barnes ER, Whetsel T, Mallow BK. Using mHealth Tools to Improve Rural Diabetes Care Guided by the Chronic Care Model. Online J Rural Nurs Health Care 2014; 14(1): 43-65.
- 150. Guy R, Hocking J, Wand H, Stott S, Ali H, Kaldor J. How Effective Are Short Message Service Reminders at Increasing Clinic Attendance? A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. *Health Services Research* 2012; **47**(2): 614-32.
- 151. Müller AM, Alley S, Schoeppe S, Vandelanotte C. The effectiveness of e-& mHealth interventions to promote physical activity and healthy diets in developing countries: A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2016; **13**(1): 109.

- 152. Free C, Phillips G, Felix L, Galli L, Patel V, Edwards P. The effectiveness of M-health technologies for improving health and health services: a systematic review protocol. BMC Res Notes 2010; 3: 250.
- 153. Flaxman SR, Bourne RRA, Resnikoff S, et al. Global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990-2020: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global health* 2017; 5(12): e1221-e34.
- 154. Organization WH. Eye health. 2019.
- 155. Iribarren SJ, Cato K, Falzon L, Stone PW. What is the economic evidence for mHealth?
 A systematic review of economic evaluations of mHealth solutions. *PLoS One* 2017;
 12(2): e0170581.
- 156. Beratarrechea A, Moyano D, Irazola V, Rubinstein A. mHealth Interventions to Counter Noncommunicable Diseases in Developing Countries: Still an Uncertain Promise. *Cardiology Clinics* 2017; **35**(1): 13-30.
- 157. Bastawrous A. Increasing access to eye care ... there's an app for that. Peek: smartphone technology for eye health. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2016; 45: 1040-3.
- 158. Breuer E, De Silva MJ, Fekadu A, et al. Using workshops to develop theories of change in five low and middle income countries: lessons from the programme for improving mental health care (PRIME). *Int J Ment Health Syst* 2014; 8: 15.
- Kenya National Bureau of statistics. Population distribution by Adminstartive units.
 Nairobi: Kenya National Bureau of statistics, 2010.
- 160. Kenya National Bureau of statistics. Population and Household Distribution by Socio-Economic Characteristics: Kenya National Bureau of statistics, 2010.
- 161. Kenya National Bureau of statistics. 2009 Kenya Population and Housing Census.Nairobi; 2010.
- 162. County Government of Trans N. Education | County Government of Trans Nzoia. 2019.
- Department of Health. Trans Nzoia Service Availability and Readiness Assessment and Mapping Report (SARAM). Kitale: Ministry of Health, 2015.

- 164. Google (U.K). Google Maps : Directions for driving Trans-Nzoia County, Kenya. 2018. <u>https://www.google.com/maps/place/Trans-</u> <u>Nzoia+County,+Kenya/@1.0002106,34.7969231,10.64z/data=!4m5!3m4!1s0x1781f59</u> <u>8453511b1:0xbe187ee80581cef9!8m2!3d1.0566667!4d34.9506625</u> (accessed 31/ 05 2019).
- 165. Kenya National Bureau of statistics, Society for International Development (SID). Exploring Kenya's Inequalities: Pulling apart or pooling together? Trans Nzoia County. Nairobi, 2013.
- 166. Government of Kenya. The Constitution of Kenya. Kenya; 2010. p. 191.
- 167. Ministry of Health. Transforming Health : Accelerating attainment of Health Goals HEALTH SECTOR STRATEGIC AND INVESTMENT PLAN (KHSSP) JULY 2013-JUNE 2017 THE SECOND MEDIUM TERM PLAN FOR HEALTH. Nairobi: Minitsry of Health, 2012.
- 168. Ministry of Health. Strategic Plan of Kenya Community Strategy Implementation Guidelines for Managers of the Kenya Essential Package for Health at the Community Level. Nairobi: Ministry of Health, 2007.
- Ministry of Health Kenya. Kenya Service Availability and Readiness Assessment and Mapping Report (SARAM). Nairobi: MOH, 2012.
- 170. Kwambai John. Personal communication with Head of community strategy, Transnzoia County 2016.
- 171. Rono H. Sustainable eye care at Kitale Eye Unit. *Community Eye Health Journal* 2013;vol. 26(83): 53.

Chapter 2. Utilization of Secondary Eye Care Services in western Kenya



Figure 2.1: Ophthalmologists examining a patient on slip lamp



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Hillary Kipkemboi Rono		
Principal Supervisor Dr. Andrew Bastawrous			
Thesis Title	Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

	International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. citataion			
Where was the work published?	Rono MMed, H.K., et al., Utilization of Secondary Eye Care Services in Western Kenya. International Journal of			
	Environmental Research and Public Health, 2019. 16(18): p.			
When was the work published?	Received: 23rd July 2019 Accepted: 7th September, 2019 Published 12th September, 2019			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	N/A			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	e Yes Was the work subject to academic peer review? Yes			

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	N/A
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

ຣ ຣ	Student Signature:	Date:09.10.2019	
		09 10 2010	
For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)		Together with my senior colleagues I designed the study, prepared the protocol, led the data collection. Conducted initial data analysis and wrote the first draft of the paper with edits from supervisors and co-authors	



International Journal of *Environmental Research and Public Health*



Article Utilization of Secondary Eye Care Services in Western Kenya

Hillary K Rono MMed ^{1,2,*}, David Macleod ³, Andrew Bastawrous ^{1,4}, Emmanuel Wanjala ², Michael Gichangi ⁵ and Matthew J. Burton ^{1,6}

- ¹ International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London WC1E 7HT, UK; Andrew.Bastawrous@lshtm.ac.uk (A.B.); Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk (M.J.B.)
- ² Kitale County and Referral Hospital, Box 98, Kitale 30200, Kenya; eswanjalah@yahoo.com
- ³ MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London WC1E 7HT, UK; david.macleod@lshtm.ac.uk
- ⁴ The Peek Vision Foundation, London EC2Y 9DT, UK
- ⁵ Ophthalmic Services Unit, Ministry of Heath, Box 30016, Nairobi 00100, Kenya; gichangi58@yahoo.com
- ⁶ Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Trust, London EC1V 2PD, UK
- * Correspondence: hillary.rono@lshtm.ac.uk

Received: 23 July 2019; Accepted: 7 September 2019; Published: 12 September 2019



Abstract: Background: Eye care provision is currently insufficient to meet the population's eye health needs in Kenya. Many people remain unnecessarily visually impaired or at risk of becoming so due to treatable or preventable conditions. A lack of access and awareness of services are key barriers, in large part due to their being too few eye care providers in the health system for this unmet need. Methods: A hospital-based, retrospective analysis of patients who attended Kitale eye unit, Trans Nzoia County, Kenya from 1st January 2013 to 31st December 2015. Age and sex standardized hospital attendance rates by residence, age group, and sex were calculated for Trans Nzoia county and each subcounty. The changing trends in attendance rates were estimated by calculating the difference between base year and last year. Incidence rate ratios for attendance for each age-group, sex, and residence were estimated using a multivariable regression model. Results: 20,695 patients from the county were seen in Kitale Eye Unit in 2013, 2014 and 2015. In that period, 8.3% had either uncorrected refractive error, cataracts or glaucoma, the priority VISION2020 diseases, and 61.0% had allergic or other conjunctivitis or normal eyes, which could potentially be managed at primary eye care. During the study period, overall average annual attendance rate increased from 609 to 792 per 100, 000 population, incidence rate ratio (IRR) 1.30 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.26–1.35). Attendance rates increased more in females than males (34.7% vs. 25.1%, respectively), IRR 1.07 (1.04–1.10). Attendance rates increased with increasing age, (highest among the elderly compared to the young). We found that in extreme age groups (>75 years and <15 years) females were less likely to attend than males and there was reduced utilization from those based furthest from the hospital. Conclusion: Specialist eye services are heavily utilized by people with conditions that could be managed at the primary health care level. Barriers to accessing eye services were distance and gender, especially among the most vulnerable groups (young and the elderly). Integration of primary and secondary eye care services could lower barriers to essential eye care services to the population whilst lowering pressure on the limited specialist services by ensuring more appropriate utilization.

Keywords: eye problems; eye health services; eye care utilization; routine hospital records; visual impairment and blindness

1. Background

About 36 million people are blind worldwide (visual acuity in the better eye < 3/60) and another 217 million are severely or moderately visually impaired (visual acuity in the better eye < 6/18) [1]. There is notable variation in the distribution of both blindness and Visual Impairment (VI) by region and gender. About 90% of people with blindness and VI live in low and middle-income countries (LMICs) such as Kenya [2]. Results from 11 population-based studies in sub-Saharan Africa suggest about 26 million people are visually impaired of whom, almost 6 million are blind [3]. The main causes of VI are uncorrected refractive errors (42%) and cataract (33%); both of these cause avoidable VI [3]. Recent studies have shown that the prevalence of VI is decreasing. However, women have a higher prevalence of blindness than men [4]. Despite the reduction in the prevalence of blindness, the number of people with VI has risen due to an increase in population and improved life expectancy [1].

There are multiple reasons for the high prevalence of VI in LMICs. Most of these relate to poverty and barriers to access and utilization of eye care services [5]. Poverty is a critical social determinant of VI, and in turn VI leads to further poverty [6]. For instance, as a result of low socioeconomic status, patients have no insurance, yet they may have to incur high transport costs to the hospital, which limits the use of services [7]. They are also likely to have low education, low awareness of the eye conditions, low awareness of the services available, and fear of adverse outcomes from treatment [8,9]. Additional barriers might include negative attitudes towards services and difficult communication between providers and patients [10]. Studies in LMICs, have shown that the need for eye services is high and people often travel long distances to access these services [11]. Communities with inadequate or inaccessible eye care facilities tend to seek other alternatives of eye care services, including self-medication, which may further contribute to VI and blindness [12].

Health system barriers include insufficient availability of services, shortages of health workers trained in eye care, inadequate skills of health workers and poor-quality eye care services [13]. An inverse relationship between need and provision of eye care services exists, especially in sub-Saharan Africa, meaning that there are fewer services available where the need is greatest, such as in rural areas [14]. The effect of these challenges in LMICs is suboptimal access and utilization of eye care services. Identifying barriers that hinder access and utilization of eye care services is therefore key in overcoming the burden of avoidable blindness [15].

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends improving access and utilization of health services and monitoring equity as part of universal health coverage (UHC) [16]. Some of the interventions to improve access to eye care services in the literature include peer education, deployment of staff to rural areas, task shifting and integration of services, supervision of health staff, eliminating user fees and provision of health insurance [17]. However, the interventions should be selected based on identified gaps, which are likely to be context-specific.

Few studies have however quantified the current utilization of eye services especially in Africa, therefore there is need to assess utilization of eye services so as to plan for efficient interventions and utilization. In this paper we report on the utilization of eye services in Trans Nzoia county, a county with an estimated population of 818,757 people in 2009 with one government-run secondary eye care unit, and three privately owned eye clinics. This evidence is useful for effective planning of services to reduce the burden of avoidable blindness.

2. Methods

A hospital-based, retrospective analysis of patients who attended Kitale eye unit, Trans Nzoia County, Kenya from 1st January 2013 to 31st December 2015 was conducted between June and October 2016. The study period was representative of standard practice as there were minimal non-surgical outreach services to the community from the hospital or other partners in this 36-month period; the eye unit at Kitale was operating optimally and it coincided with the final three years prior to devolution of Health services to the County governments in which considerable disruption to services was experienced.

Trans Nzoia County is located 400 km West of Nairobi, Kenya. According to the 2009 census, Trans Nzoia County had a population of 818,757 people of which 49.7% were male, with an annual growth rate of 3.0% [18]. About 50.1% of the population live on less than one USA dollar per day, and 18.2% work for pay (employed) [19]. The county is subdivided in to five sub-counties, Figure 1: Kiminini (190,912), Cherangani (195,173), Saboti (174,956), Kwanza (166,524) and Endebess (91,192) [18]. To provide some indication of how far patients have to travel from each subcounty, the mean distance to Kitale hospital from health facilities in each county was calculated. Distance between the primary health facility and Kitale was estimated from Google-maps [20]. The mean distance and standard deviation (SD) of health facilities in the sub-counties to Kitale from the nearest to furthest are: Kwanza 14.9 kms (8.0), Kiminini 16.1 kms (7.4), Saboti 16.2 kms (9.6) Cherangani 18.2 kms (7.4) and Endebess, 29.9 kms (3.9).



Figure 1. Location of Trans Nzoia County in Kenya and the sub-counties in relation and Kitale County & Referral hospital.

Modified from a report by Kenya National Bureau of statistics et al. [19].

There are 146 health facilities of which 61 (41.8%) are government public facilities (6 hospitals, 12-health centers, 43 dispensaries), 22 (15.1%) are Faith-based/not for profit and 63 (43.2%) are private [21]. The doctor to population ratio is 5.4 per 100,000; Allied medical worker (clinical officers) is 9.6 per 100,000 and the nurse population ratio is 47 per 100,000 people. This is lower than the recommended WHO ratio of 230 per 100,000 population for any cadre [22]. Kitale Eye Unit is the only public eye unit in the county that provides secondary eye services daily at the central unit, training, and periodic services through mobile outreach at peripheral health centres [23]. The unit has one ophthalmologist, four ophthalmic clinical officers and eight nurses (two working outside the eye unit). Each consultation visit costs about one USA dollar while eye drops or surgery are subsidised but paid separately. Spectacles are not provided at the hospital.

Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Medical Ethics Committee (Ref 10509) and Institutional Research and Ethics Committee (IREC) in Eldoret, Kenya (IREC/2016/40). Permission was sought from the hospital to use the secondary data. The study adhered to the Declaration of the Helsinki.

We obtained data from Kitale's hospital database and the 2009 census report. All new patients who attended the Kitale eye hospital from 1st January 2013 to 31st December 2015 were included. We accessed the hospital attendance and morbidity Database (Med-boss) and extracted data for patients who attended Kitale County Hospital for consultations related to eye conditions for the 36-month period. Information extracted included age, gender, residence, date of first attendance, number of subsequent visits to the eye unit, diagnosis and visual acuity. Identifying information such as patient's

names and hospital numbers were deleted and a unique study number was assigned. Diagnosis was recorded based on the disease codes for routine reporting of eye diseases to the Ministry of Health, Kenya but reclassified using ICD10 classification [24]. The diagnosis recorded at first visit was used. Incomplete data such as those without location of residence, age or sex were excluded during analysis.

Records of the health facilities and their catchment locations was obtained from the department of health in the county. The 2009 populations and census report were used to obtain the populations for Trans Nzoia and the sub-counties by age group and sex. An annual growth rate of 3% was assumed and that was applied uniformly across age groups, in order to estimate the population for the period 2013–2015.

Best presenting visual acuity (vision in the better eye) was used to assess visual status. Blindness was defined as Visual acuity (VA) < 3/60 in the better eye with available spectacle correction. Severe visual impairment was VA \geq 3/60 to < 6/60, moderate visual impairment was VA \geq 6/60 to < 6/24, mild visual impairment was VA \geq 6/24 to < 6/12 and normal VA was \geq 6/12. We compared visual acuity in males and females using an ordinal logistic regression model, adjusted for age, location and year.

We estimated the rate of attendance to the eye unit at the hospital per 100,000 population for the years 2013–2015. This was done overall for Trans Nzoia and also stratified by subcounty, age group, and sex. The rate was estimated by dividing the number attending the hospital during the year by the estimated population. The rates of attendance for individual diagnoses were also estimated.

The trends in standardized attendance rates for the corresponding time periods were expressed as the annual average percent change (AAPC).

Analysis using the Poisson regression model was conducted using the standardized attendance rates as the dependent variable and the year of attendance to hospital as the independent variable. A Poisson regression model was conducted to evaluate the determinants of attendance adjusted for age, gender, residence and year of occurrence.

3. Results

3.1. Demographic Characteristics

A total of 24,776 patient records were extracted from hospital records on patients' attending Kitale hospital for eye-related problems in the period 1st January 2013 to 31st December 2015. Of these 4081 (16.5%) patients were from outside Trans Nzoia county and therefore excluded, leaving 20,695 patients for analysis.

Attendance to the Kitale general hospital in 2013 was 80,797, higher than the 57,127 in 2014 and 48,158 in 2015. In the eye department, attendance in 2013 was 5613 patients, fewer than in the subsequent two years (2014: 7336; 2015: 7746). Overall slightly more were women (52.4%) than Males, and about a third of patients were less than 15 years old. The mean age was 27.7 (SD 22.2), range (0–111) years. The subcounty where most patients came from was Kiminini (34.6% of all patients) whereas only 3.7% of patients originated from Endebess, the most remote of the five sub-counties, Table 1.

Characteristic	N (20,695)	%
Year of attendance (N missing = 0)		
2013	5613	27.1%
2014	7336	35.5%
2015	7746	37.4%
Subcounty (N missing = 0)		
Cherangani	4111	19.9%
Endebess	761	3.7%
Kiminini	7178	34.6%
Kwanza	3755	18.1%
Saboti	4890	23.6%

Table 1. Characteristics of Patients attending Kitale eye unit between 2013 to 2015 (N = 20,695).

Characteristic	N (20,695)	%
Age group (N missing = 1)		
<15	7389	35.7%
15–29	5496	26.6%
30-44	3016	14.6%
45–59	2258	10.9%
60–74	1645	8.0%
75+	890	4.3%
Sex (N missing = 839)		
Female	10,403	52.4%
Male	9453	47.6%

Table 1. Cont.

3.2. Visual Status of All Participants Attending Kitale Eye

Visual status of 17,912 patients were available. Information on vision from 2783 patients mainly children less than eight years old were not available because it was not measured. The majority of the patients had normal vision and were less than 30 years old, Figure 2. Visual impairment and blindness was common among those older than 45 years and increased with age. There was no evidence of a (OR 0.96, 95% CI 0.86–1.08, p = 0.521) difference in visual acuity between males and females.



Figure 2. Visual status of patients attending Kitale Eye Unit between 2013 to 2015 stratified by age group and gender (M = male, F = female), (N = 17912).

3.3. Attendance Rates

Overall, the annual attendance rate to Kitale eye unit increased by 30% over time, from 609 per 100,000 of the population attending in 2013 up to 792 per 100,000 in 2015. There was strong evidence (p < 0.001) that the rate of attendance differed by subcounty, with Endebess (the furthest from hospital) having the lowest attendance rate over the 3-year period and Kiminini (the nearest to the hospital) the highest, Figure 3A. In fact, the rate of attendance among individuals from Kiminini was estimated to be 4.5 times that of individuals from Endebess (controlling for age, sex and year), Table 2. There was also evidence (p < 0.001) that older aged groups had higher utilization of the eye unit services, Table 2, an increased attendance rate, and also the older age groups also showed the greatest increase in attendance across the three years, Figure 3B and Table 2. Overall, there was evidence that women attended at a higher rate than men, but the estimated increase was quite small (IRR 1.07, 95% CI 1.04–1.10, p < 0.001). There appeared to be little difference in 2013 but this gap widened in subsequent years, Figure 3C and Table 2.





Figure 3. Attendance rates by (A) subcounty, (B) age group and (C) sex, across the three years. (D) shows the rate of attendance across age groups, stratified by age (attendance rate is the mean across the three years).

Table 2. Attendance rates to Kitale eye unit for eye consultations, by year, subcounty, sex, and ag	;e in
Trans Nzoia Kenya.	

Charact	Characteristic		Attendance Per 100,000 of the Population		% Change 2013 to 2015	Incidence Rate Ratio IRR(CI) *	<i>p</i> -Value
		2013	2014	2015			
Year	2013	609.1	-	-		Baseline	
	2014	-	772.9	-	30.1%	1.27 (1.23-1.31)	< 0.001
	2015	-	-	792.3		1.30 (1.26–1.35)	
Subcounty	Cherangani	492.6	627.2	690.8	40.3%	Baseline	
	Endebess	197.8	249.7	270.0	36.5%	0.40 (0.37-0.43)	
	Kiminini	890.8	1146.3	1196.3	34.3%	1.78 (1.72-1.85)	< 0.001
	Kwanza	546.9	689.0	704.1	28.7%	1.07 (1.02-1.12)	
	Saboti	705.4	880.6	820.9	16.4%	1.33 (1.27–1.38)	
Sex **	Male	592.4	752.7	741.4	25.1%	Baseline	-0.001
	Female	625.6	792.8	842.7	34.7%	1.07 (1.04–1.10)	<0.001
Age group	<15	447.7	605.1	597.0	33.4%	Baseline	
	15-29	612.8	759.9	693.9	13.2%	1.25 (1.21-1.29)	
	30-44	688.8	772.6	805.7	17.0%	1.37 (1.32-1.43)	-0.001
	45-59	951.3	1193.8	1252.8	31.7%	2.06 (1.96-2.16)	<0.001
	60–74	1451.9	1996.0	2697.0	85.8%	3.74 (3.54–3.94)	
	75+ years	1954.6	2354.5	3463.0	77.2%	4.71 (4.39–5.05)	

* All IRR estimates adjusted for year, subcounty, sex and age group; ** 839 individuals were missing sex. It was assumed that 50% of the missing were male and 50% female.

It was noticed that the differences observed between men and women varied with age, and a test for interaction resulted in strong evidence of this (p < 0.0001). Although overall women attended at a higher rate than men, this difference was most prominent from the ages 30–74. Among those aged under 15 and those 75 and over, men had a higher estimated rate of attendance than women, Figure 3D and Table 3.

Strata	Exposure	Incidence Rate Ratio IRR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> -Value
Sex (Male is baseline)			
<15	Female	0.90 (0.86-0.94)	< 0.001
15-29	Female	1.14 (1.08–1.20)	< 0.001
30-44	Female	1.26 (1.18–1.36)	< 0.001
45-59	Female	1.42 (1.31–1.55)	< 0.001
60-74	Female	1.16 (1.05–1.28)	0.003
75+	Female	0.79 (0.69–0.90)	0.001
	<15	Baseline	
	15–29	1.41 (1.34–1.48)	
Esses	30-44	1.62 (1.53–1.72)	-0.001
Female	45–59	2.55 (2.39-2.72)	<0.001
	60-74	4.24 (3.93-4.56)	
	75+	4.46 (4.03–4.92)	
	<15	Baseline	
	15–29	1.11 (1.05–1.17)	
Mala	30-44	1.15 (1.08–1.22)	-0.001
wate	45–59	1.61 (1.50–1.73)	<0.001
	60-74	3.29 (3.04–3.55)	
	75+	5.05 (4.59–5.57)	

Table 3. Stratum specific Incidence Rate Ratios (IRR) for age and sex.

* *p*-value for interaction is <0.0001.

3.4. Attendance Rate and the Type of Eye Problem

Over the three-year period just over 61% of people attending Kitale hospital for eye problems had conditions (allergic/other conjunctivitis or no eye problem found) considered suitable for management at the primary health care level, Table 4. Of the remaining conditions, the most common were eye injury (6.1%), post-surgical follow-ups (4.5%), refractive error/presbyopia (4.0%) and cataract (3.6%). The problems that showed the greatest increase in attendance rate were uveitis, glaucoma and post-surgical follow up for cataracts and glaucoma, all of which more than doubled between 2013 and 2015. There were decreases observed in the rate of attendance for people with no issues found and refractive error/presbyopia, especially between 2014 and 2015. The possible reasons are explained in the discussion.

Out of the 5793 school-age children (5–15 years), the proportion who had conditions suitable for management at the primary health care level is even higher, at 78.8% (allergic conjunctivitis 65.4%, normal 8.1% and other types of conjunctivitis 5.3%).

	Total Attending	Attendance	Attendance Rate Per 100,000 Population		
Diagnosis	2013–2015 (%)	2013	2014	2015	% Change 2013 to 2015
Normal	1895 (9.2%)	95.9	76.8	28.8	-69.9%
Cataract	747 (3.6%)	19.1	25.9	33.2	74.1%
Refractive errors & Presbyopia	820 (4.0%)	36.5	36.0	14.5	-60.2%
Glaucoma	150 (0.7%)	3.4	3.5	8.8	161.5%
Allergic conjunctivitis	9245 (44.7%)	268.1	338.1	364.7	36.0%
Conjunctivitis-other	1459 (7.1%)	42.4	57.1	53.8	26.8%
Corneal diseases	354 (1.7%)	10.4	10.7	16.0	53.2%
Retinal diseases	708 (3.4%)	18.9	26.0	29.4	55.5%
Eye injury and FB in eye	1271 (6.1%)	32.9	39.0	61.2	86.0%
Uveitis	444 (2.2%)	8.0	15.4	22.9	185.3%
Conjunctival growths	695 (3.4%)	17.3	24.2	31.3	81.4%
Chalazion and other lid swellings	358 (1.7%)	8.5	13.7	15.3	81.3%
Lid inflammations	67 (0.3%)	2.0	2.2	2.9	46.6%
Others	1548 (7.5%)	24.7	79.0	58.3	135.6%
Post-surgical follow-up	934 (4.5%)	21.1	25.2	51.2	143.4%

Table 4. Trends and percentage change in attendance rates to Kitale Eye Unit (standardized to population for respective year) by eye conditions in Trans Nzoia County.

4. Discussions

The World Health Assembly has adopted a key resolution on Universal Health Coverage (UHC). Member states commit to provide access to necessary health services for the whole population, leaving no one behind [25]. Routine health information collected by eye health facilities or hospital reports within the national or regional health information system can provide a data source to monitor progress towards UHC [26]. To our knowledge, this is the first study to use routine hospital data to assess the utilization of eye services in Sub Sahara Africa. It has demonstrated the potential of such data in assessing equity, planning and monitoring eye health services delivery.

This study was conducted in a county where most people live in rural communities and experience high inequality (poverty and unemployment) [19]. There was a decrease in attendance to the general hospital, probably due improvement of peripheral health facilities to handle most healthcare cases. In the same period, there was a gradual increase in the utilization of secondary eye care service from 609 per 100,000 population in 2013 to 792 by 2015, with higher utilization in children and women. When we compared the demographic characteristic of those who attended hospital to the population, we found higher attendance rates among residents who lived closer to the hospital, women and older people. Although, at both ends of the age range (vulnerable populations), male attend more than females. The increase did not overload the system because an additional ophthalmic nurse was posted to the unit to support increased workload.

The higher absolute numbers attending among children was expected. This is in line with the structure of the Kenyan population (47.2% are <15 years) [19]. The attendance rates appear to be skewed in favor of male children, suggesting that male children could be more susceptible to eye ailments or preferential health-seeking behavior. The differences in health-seeking in gender has not been fully explained, but could arise from household power dynamics and prevailing social norms where men have authority in family decisions [12]. A review on barriers to utilization of eye care services found that women were more careful about their eye health than men, suggesting gender influence service utilization [27]. Gender disparities in accessing eye health care services were identified for eye trauma and cataract in studies from Tanzania where females had difficulty in accessing services [28,29]. In such communities, men decide on most matters affecting the family including those related to seeking health services [30]. This was observed in one study on access to cataract surgical services from Tanzania where women needed to seek permission from their husbands before going to hospital and out of fear of being a burden to the family, they opt live with the adversity [29].

We observed an inverse relationship in age distribution among those who attended hospital and the incidence of attendance by age. Cumulatively, there were more young people who attended hospital, Table 1, but when compared to stratum population, utilization increases with increasing age Figure 3B. We also found that the proportion of people with visual impairment (mild visual impairment and blind) increased with age and was more pronounced after the age of 45 years, Figure 2. The rise in the age stratum utilization can be explained by the various changes in the eye that occur with age and affect Visual function, such as complaints of glare in cases of nuclear sclerosis, presbyopia or reduced contrast sensitivity from progressive media opacities [31]. Other studies reported similar findings and attributed the increase to the higher prevalence of diabetes, hypertension, cataract, and related maculopathy that increase with age [32]. Higher absolute numbers of younger people attending is due to the pyramidal structure of this population [18].

We found that less than 1% of the people in Trans Nzoia had eye problems and presented for treatment at Kitale hospital. This was lower than findings of a community survey in Mbeere in Kenya, which found that 15.5% of the population reported at least one eye problem during six months prior to survey and had about 4.4% of the same population sought treatment from eye practitioners (health worker, doctor or optician) [33]. From our study we could not estimate the prevalence of the ocular morbidity in the population, however assuming that the population in Mbeere were similar then the current utilization does not meet current need. If Trans Nzoia county had a population of 1 million people, about 155,000 would be expected to have an eye problem of which less than 10,000 are currently accessing services from eye practitioners. The findings, therefore, suggest that a large proportion of people with eyecare needs are not reached; improving access to eye services is required. From this study, we could not establish where patients with eye problems sought treatment. However, a community survey on utilization of health services in other parts of Kenya, showed that patients who did not seek health services at the hospital largely resorted to self-medication by buying non-prescription drugs [12]. This finding might suggest that those with eye problems could be using alternative services. Another reason for low utilization is affordability of eye services [27], especially those from the low socioeconomic status. From this study, more than half of the population live on less than one USA dollar a day, which is equivalent to the cost of the consultation fee needed to access eye services at the hospital. When other hospital costs (eyedrops and surgery) are added, the cost of services become unaffordable for most people. Studies have reported that higher direct costs reduced the uptake of cataract surgery [34,35]. These costs increase further when indirect expenses such as transport and living costs of patients and those accompanying them to hospitals are included [36]. Most patients, therefore, may not be able to afford services, particularly those coming from rural areas [37].

Our study suggests greater distance to health facilities hinders access to eye health services among people in Trans Nzoia county. This finding is consistent with other studies from LMICs, which asked patients about barriers to attending health care services [8,12,38]. Distance not only affects access to health care by increasing indirect costs, but also determines the availability of transport [7]. In some other LMICs patients have been known to bypass local eye health services and go to tertiary services or wait for outreach eye services [39]. We do not think that this was the case here, because there were infrequent outreach services conducted in the main town and none in the rural areas. Besides, most parts of the Endebess subcounty is forested with Kitale being the nearest facility offering eye services. Since about 48.1% of residence in Endebess depend on subsistence agriculture compared to 30.5% in Trans Nzoia County and 32.7% in Kenya [19], it is possible that seasonal availability rather than lack of funds to be spent on health could be a factor because most residences grow maize, which takes up to nine months to mature. Also, few people (3.8% Endebess compared to 8.3% for Trans Nzoia County) have no work [19].

Diseases of the conjunctiva (allergic conjunctivitis and vernal keratoconjunctivitis) were the most common problem. This finding is similar to other studies in Kenya which have reported allergic conjunctivitis to be the most common problem [33,40]. We found that 61% of the people utilizing eye services had eye conditions (allergic conjunctivitis, other conjunctivitis, and no eye health problem) that

could have been managed in primary health facilities (dispensaries and health centres), particularly among the school going age group. According to Kenya's strategic plan for eye care, secondary care eye facilities are equipped to manage Vision 2020 priority diseases (cataracts, glaucoma, corneal diseases, and refractive errors) that are responsible for the majority of visual impairment [41]. We found that only 8.3% of the patients seen at the hospital had these priority conditions (cataracts, glaucoma or refractive errors) suggesting a mismatch in the utilization of available capacity. The decline in utilization of eye services by people with refractive errors could have been due to lack of spectacles at the eye unit resulting in the patients seeking the services from other eye care providers. Encouragingly, during these three years, there was increasing utilization of eye services at Kitale by people with potentially blinding conditions such as those with diabetic retinopathy and those on post-surgical follow-up for cataracts. There was also a reduction in people without any eye problem (normal). This may have been attributed to improved accuracy of referrals following refresher training of health workers at the health posts (dispensaries and health centres) on how to identify and refer eye people with problems that took place from September 2013 to June 2014, and funded by Operation Eyesight Universal (OEU) and Seeing is Believing. Monthly Continuous Medical Education sessions provided by eyecare workers may have contributed [42]. Studies from the region identified skills of the general health workers in Primary Eye Care (PEC) to be low (about 8.2% were able to measure visual acuity) [43], however short training, supervision and continuous medical education for the PEC workers could improve their skills leading to better utilization of available eye services [44]. Training and deployment of middle level eye care workers (ophthalmic nurses and ophthalmic clinical officers) to primary eye care facilities could also improve management of these eye conditions. In some countries, this carder provides the bulk of eye care (including preventive, diagnostic and referral services) especially in rural areas [45].

Overall, secondary eye care services in Kitale were utilized by people closer to the hospital and by many people with conditions that could have been managed at the primary care level. This can result in over loading the limited central eye care services and further increasing the barriers to those with priority eye conditions. This data suggests a need to rethink the structure and mode of delivery of eye care services. There is potential for greater task shifting and integration of simpler services into primary health care [17]. To overcome the barrier presented by distance to the health facility there is a role for deploying eye care staff to provide regular outreach services, integrated with the standing primary health services further developing both capacity at the primary level in tandem with providing ad hoc secondary services [39,46].

Limitations of the Study

We had incomplete or missing records. We assumed linear population growth, as provided for in the census to extrapolate the population size for subsequent years but this estimate may not be accurate. The study did not capture information on the non-users of public health services or those who are treated elsewhere.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, secondary eye services in Kitale Eye Unit, Trans Nzoia were heavily utilized by people with conditions that could be managed at in a primary care setting. Barriers to accessing services were distance and gender especially among the most vulnerable groups (young and the elderly). We recommend, that the eye health services be redesigned to increase access to community and primary level services, thereby reducing inappropriate utilization of secondary level services and reducing the barriers to access to increased secondary service capacity with a particular focus on equitable access for the young, old and those living at greater distances from secondary level care. Further population-based studies to assess ocular morbidity and the barriers to eye service in the community; as well as changing trends in utilization of eye services are recommended. Similarly, qualitative studies to explore the barriers to utilization of the services.

Author Contributions: Literature search: H.K.R.M., A.B., Study conception, design and Methodology: H.K.R.M., A.B. D.M., M.J.B.; Data collection: H.K.R.M. E.W. Statistical analysis: H.K.R.M., D.M. Drafting the manuscript: H.K.R.M. Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: All authors Obtained funding: A.B. M.J.B. Administrative, technical or material support: E.W., M.G. Study supervision: A.B., M.J.B., M.G.

Funding: The research was funded through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium (CEHC), with funding from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust's "Avoidable Blindness" programme. The CEHC is administered through the International Centre for Eye Health (ICEH) based at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. MJB is supported by the Welcome Trust 207472/Z/17/Z. The funders had no role in the design, execution, interpretation, or writing of the study.

Acknowledgments: Kitale county and referral hospital staff, Kenya.

Conflicts of Interest: The Peek Vision Foundation (09919543) is a registered charity in England and Wales (1165960) with a wholly owned trading subsidiary, Peek Vision Ltd. (09937174). Professor Matthew Burton is a Trustee of The Peek Vision Foundation and Dr Andrew Bastawrous is CEO of The Peek Vision Foundation and Peek Vision Ltd. HR is an advisor to Peek Vision Ltd. All other authors declare no conflict of interest. This submission has not been published anywhere previously and is not simultaneously being considered for any other publication.

References

- Bourne, R.R.A.; Flaxman, S.R.; Braithwaite, T.; Cicinelli, M.V.; Das, A.; Jonas, J.B.; Keeffe, J.; Kempen, J.H.; Leasher, J.; Limburg, H.; et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Glob. Health* 2017, 5, e888–e897. [CrossRef]
- 2. Thylefors, B. A global initiative for the elimination of avoidable blindness. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **1998**, 125, 90–93. [CrossRef]
- 3. Pascolini, D.; Mariotti, S.P. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2011, *96*, 614–618. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Ramke, J.; Zwi, A.B.; Palagyi, A.; Blignault, I.; Gilbert, C.E. Equity and Blindness: Closing Evidence Gaps to Support Universal Eye Health. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* **2015**, *22*, 297–307. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gilbert, C.E.; Shah, S.P.; Jadoon, M.Z.; Bourne, R.; Dineen, B.; Khan, M.A.; Johnson, G.J.; Khan, M.D. Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: Results from the Pakistan national blindness and visual impairment survey. *BMJ* 2008, 336, 29–32. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Kuper, H.; Polack, S.; Eusebio, C.; Mathenge, W.; Wadud, Z.; Foster, A. A case-control study to assess the relationship between poverty and visual impairment from cataract in Kenya, the Philippines, and Bangladesh. *PLoS Med.* **2008**, *5*, e244. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 7. Elam, A.R.; Lee, P.P. Barriers to and Suggestions on Improving Utilization of Eye Care in High-Risk Individuals: Focus Group Results. *Int. Sch. Res. Not.* **2014**, 2014, 527831. [CrossRef]
- 8. Gnyawali, S.; Bhattarai, D.; Upadhyay, M.P. Utilization of primary eye health services by people from a rural community of Nepal. *Nepal. J. Ophthalmol.* **2012**, *4*, 96–101. [CrossRef]
- Syed, A.; Polack, S.; Eusebio, C.; Mathenge, W.; Wadud, Z.; Mamunur, A.K.; Foster, A.; Kuper, H. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. *Disabil. Rehabil.* 2013, 35, 1660–1667. [CrossRef]
- 10. Lam, N.; Leat, S.J. Barriers to accessing low-vision care: The patient's perspective. *Can. J. Ophthalmol.* **2013**, *48*, 458–462. [CrossRef]
- 11. Subburaman, G.B.; Hariharan, L.; Ravilla, T.D.; Ravilla, R.D.; Kempen, J.H. Demand for Tertiary Eye Care Services in Developing Countries. *Am. J. Ophthalmol.* **2015**, *160*, 619–627.e1. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Ngugi, A.K.; Agoi, F.; Mahoney, M.R.; Lakhani, A.; Mang'ong'o, D.; Nderitu, E.; Armstrong, R.; Macfarlane, S. Utilization of health services in a resource-limited rural area in Kenya: Prevalence and associated household-level factors. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0172728. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Resnikoff, S.; Felch, W.; Gauthier, T.M.; Spivey, B. The number of ophthalmologists in practice and training worldwide: A growing gap despite more than 200,000 practitioners. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2012, *96*, 783–787. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bastawrous, A.; Hennig, B.D. The global inverse care law: A distorted map of blindness. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* 2012, 96, 1357–1358. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 15. Ormsby, G.M.; Arnold, A.L.; Busija, L.; Mörchen, M.; Bonn, T.S.; Keeffe, J.E. The Impact of Knowledge and Attitudes on Access to Eye-Care Services in Cambodia. *Asia Pac. J. Ophthalmol. (Phila.)* **2012**, *1*, 331–335. [CrossRef]
- 16. United Nations. UN Resolution on Universal Health Coverage. 2012. Available online: https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/67/L.36&referer=http://www.un.org/en/ga/info/draft/index.shtml&Lang=E (accessed on 31 March 2019).
- 17. Blanchet, K.; Gordon, I.; Gilbert, C.E.; Wormald, R.; Awan, H. How to achieve universal coverage of cataract surgical services in developing countries: Lessons from systematic reviews of other services. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* **2012**, *19*, 329–339. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. Population distribution by Adminstartive units. In 2009 Kenya Population and Housing Census; Kenya National Bureau of Statistics: Nairobi, Kenya, 2010.
- 19. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics and Society for International Development (SID). *Exploring Kenya's Inequalities: Pulling Apart or Pooling Together;* Kenya National Bureau of Statistics and Society for International Development (SID): Nairobi, Kenya, 2013.
- Google (UK). Google Maps: Directions for Driving Trans-Nzoia County, Kenya. 2018. Available online: https://www.google.com/maps/place/Trans-Nzoia+County,+Kenya/@1.0002106,34.7969231,10.64z /data=!4m5!3m4!1s0x1781f598453511b1:0xbe187ee80581cef9!8m2!3d1.0566667!4d34.9506625 (accessed on 31 May 2019).
- 21. Department of Health. *Trans Nzoia-Service Availability and Readiness Assessment and Mapping Report (SARAM);* Ministry of Health: Kitale, Kenya, 2015.
- 22. World Health Organization. Achieving the Health-Related MDGs. It Takes a Workforce! Health Work Force 2010. 15 November 2015. Available online: http://www.who.int/hrh/fig_density.pdf?ua=1 (accessed on 11 September 2019).
- 23. Rono, H. Sustainable eye care at Kitale Eye Unit. Community Eye Health J. 2013, 26, 53.
- 24. World Health Organization. ICD-10 Version:2010; World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2010.
- 25. Etienne, C.; Asamoa-Baah, A. WHO The World Health Report-Health Systems Financing: The Path to Universal Coverage; World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2010.
- 26. Ramke, J.; Zwi, A.B.; Silva, J.C.; Mwangi, N.; Rono, H.; Gichangi, M.; Qureshi, M.B.; Gilbert, C.E. Evidence for national universal eye health plans. *Bull. World Health Organ.* **2018**, *96*, 695–704. [CrossRef]
- 27. Ntsoane, M.; Oduntan, O. A review of factors influencing the utilization of eye care services. *Afr. Vis. Eye Health* **2010**, *69*, 182–192. [CrossRef]
- 28. Fitzmaurice, C.; Dicker, D.; Pain, A.; Hamavid, H.; Moradi-Lakeh, M.; MacIntyre, M.F.; Allen, C.; Hansen, G.; Woodbrook, R.; Wolfe, C.; et al. The Global Burden of Cancer 2013. *JAMA Oncol.* **2015**, *1*, 505–527. [CrossRef]
- 29. Geneau, R.; Lewallen, S.; Bronsard, A.; Paul, I.; Courtright, P. The social and family dynamics behind the uptake of cataract surgery: Findings from Kilimanjaro region, Tanzania. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2005**, *89*, 1399–1402. [CrossRef]
- Abubakar, A.; Van Baar, A.; Fischer, R.; Bomu, G.; Gona, J.K.; Newton, C.R. Socio-Cultural Determinants of Health-Seeking Behaviour on the Kenyan Coast: A Qualitative Study. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e71998. [CrossRef]
- 31. Salvi, S.M.; Akhtar, S.; Currie, Z. Ageing changes in the eye. Postgrad. Med. J. 2006, 82, 581–587. [CrossRef]
- 32. Schaumberg, D.A.; Christen, W.G.; Glynn, R.J.; Buring, J.E. Demographic predictors of eye care utilization among women. *Med. Care* 2000, *38*, 638–646. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Kimani, K.; Lindfield, R.; Senyonjo, L.; Mwaniki, A.; Schmidt, E. Prevalence and Causes of Ocular Morbidity in Mbeere District, Kenya. Results of a Population-Based Survey. *PLoS ONE* **2013**, *8*, e70009. [CrossRef]
- 34. Li, Z.; Song, Z.; Wu, S.; Xu, K.; Jin, D.; Wang, H.; Liu, P. Outcomes and Barriers to Uptake of Cataract Surgery in Rural Northern China: The Heilongjiang Eye Study. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* **2014**, *21*, 161–168. [CrossRef]
- 35. Mpyet, C.; Dineen, B.P.; Solomon, A.W. Cataract surgical coverage and barriers to uptake of cataract surgery in leprosy villages of north eastern Nigeria. *Br. J. Ophthalmol.* **2005**, *89*, 936–938. [CrossRef]
- 36. Lewallen, S.; Courtright, P. Recognising and reducing barriers to cataract surgery. *Community Eye Health* **2000**, *13*, 20–21. [PubMed]
- 37. Palagyi, A.; Ramke, J.; du Toit, R.; Brian, G. Eye care in Timor-Leste: A population-based study of utilization and barriers. *Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* **2008**, *36*, 47–53. [CrossRef]

- Olusanya, B.A.; Ashaye, A.O.; Owoaje, E.T.; Baiyeroju, A.M.; Ajayi, B.G. Determinants of Utilization of Eye Care Services in a Rural Adult Population of a Developing Country. *Middle East Afr. J. Ophthalmol.* 2016, 23, 96–103. [CrossRef]
- 39. Etya'ale, D. Beyond the clinic: Approaches to outreach. Community Eye Health 2006, 19, 19–21.
- 40. Karimurio, J.; Ilako, D.; Nyaga, G.; Marco, S.; Wachira, J.N.; Marco, S.; Gichuhi, S.K. Eye disease and visual impairment in Kibera and Dagoreti Divisions of Nairobi, Kenya. *JOECSA* **2013**, *14*, 4251.
- 41. Division of Ophthalmic Services. *National Strategic Plan for Eye Care in Kenya 2012–2018;* Division of Ophthalmic Services: Nairobi, Karen, 2012.
- 42. Kitale Eye Unit. SIB Child Eye Health Progress Report: Kitale Hospital; Kitale Eye Unit: Kitale, Karen, 2015.
- Kalua, K.; Gichangi, M.; Barassa, E.; Eliah, E.; Lewallen, S.; Courtright, P. Skills of general health workers in primary eye care in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. *Hum. Resour Health* 2014, 12 (Suppl. 1), S2. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Kalua, K.; Gichangi, M.; Barassa, E.; Eliah, E.; Lewallen, S.; Courtright, P. A randomised controlled trial to investigate effects of enhanced supervision on primary eye care services at health centres in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. *BMC Health Serv. Res.* **2014**, *14* (Suppl. 1), S6. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. du Toit, R.; Brian, G. Mid-level cadre providing eye care in the context of Vision 2020. *N. Z. Med. J.* **2009**, 122, 77–88. [PubMed]
- 46. World Health Organization. *Treat, Train, Retain: Task Shifting Global Recomendations and Guidelines;* WHO: Geneva, Switzerland, 2008; p. 96.



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

3. Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial



Figure 3.1: A teacher screener explaining screening process to a pupil in a school



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Hillary Kipkemboi Rono		
Principal Supervisor Dr. Andrew Bastawrous			
Thesis Title	Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Lancet Global Health. Citation Rono, H.K., et al., Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Global Health, 2018. 6(8): p. e924-e932			
When was the work published?	30th July, 2018			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	gree, ion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes	

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	N/A
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)		Together with my senior colleagues I designed the study, prepared the protocol and submited for ethical approval registration, led the project, data collection, initial analysis of the data and wrote the first draft of the paper with edits from supervisors and co- authors		
S	tudent Signature:	Date:	08.10.2019	
S	upervisor Signature:	Date:	09.10.2019	

Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial

Hillary K Rono, Andrew Bastawrous, David Macleod, Emmanuel Wanjala, Gian Luca Di Tanna, Helen A Weiss, Matthew J Burton

Summary

Background Childhood visual impairment is a major public health concern that requires effective screening and early intervention. We investigated the effectiveness of Peek school eye health, a smartphone-based sight test and referral system (comprising Peek Acuity test, sight simulation referral cards, and short message service [SMS] reminders), versus standard care (Snellen's Tumbling-E card and written referral).

Methods We initially compared the performance of both the Snellen Tumbling-E card and the Peek Acuity test to a standard backlit EDTRS LogMAR visual acuity test chart. We did a cluster randomised controlled trial to compare the Peek school eye health system with standard school screening care, delivered by school teachers. Schools in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya, were eligible if they did not have an active screening programme already in place. Schools were randomly allocated (1:1) to either the Peek school eye health screening and referral programmes (Peek group) or the standard care screening and referral programme (standard group). In both groups, teachers tested vision of children in years 1–8. Pupils with visual impairment (defined as vision less than 6/12 in either eye) were referred to hospital for treatment. Referred children from the standard group received a written hospital referral letter. Participants and their teachers in the Peek group were shown their simulated sight on a smartphone and given a printout of this simulation with the same hospital details as the standard referral letter to present to their parent or guardian. They also received regular SMS reminders to attend the hospital. The primary outcome was the proportion of referred children who reported to hospital within 8 weeks of referral. Primary analysis was by intention to treat, with the intervention effect estimated using odds ratios. This trial is registered with Pan African Clinical Trial Registry, number PACTR201503001049236.

Findings Sensitivity was similar for the Peek test and the standard test (77% [95% CI 64 \cdot 8–86 \cdot 5] *vs* 75% [63 \cdot 1–85 \cdot 2]). Specificity was lower for the Peek test than the standard test (91% [95% CI 89 \cdot 3–92 \cdot 1] *vs* 97 \cdot 4% [96 \cdot 6-98 \cdot 1]). Trial recruitment occurred between March 2, 2015, and March 13, 2015. Of the 295 eligible public primary schools in Trans Nzoia County, 50 schools were randomly selected and assigned to either the Peek group (n=25) or the standard group (n=25). 10579 children were assessed for visual impairment in the Peek group and 10284 children in the standard group. Visual impairment was identified in 531 (5%) of 10579 children in the Standard care group. The proportion of pupils identified as having visual impairment who attended their hospital referral was significantly higher in the Peek group (285 [54%] of 531) than in the standard group (82 [22%] of 366; odds ratio 7 \cdot 35 [95% CI 3 \cdot 49–15 \cdot 47]; p<0 \cdot 0001).

Interpretation The Peek school eye health system increased adherence to hospital referral for visual impairment assessment compared with the standard approach among school children. This indicates the potential of this technology package to improve uptake of services and provide real-time visibility of health service delivery to help target resources.

Funding Seeing is Believing, Operation Eyesight Universal, Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust, and Wellcome Trust.

Copyright © 2018 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an Open Access article under the CC BY 4.0 license.

Introduction

Worldwide, an estimated 19 million children have visual impairment (defined as Snellen visual acuity of <6/12 [or <20/40] in the better-seeing eye). Visual impairment can have a profound effect on child development, quality of life, educational attainment, and economic productivity.¹² The leading cause of visual impairment in children is uncorrected refractive error, affecting approximately 12 million children, which can be easily corrected with spectacles.³ Many school children are held back by poor sight for lack of this simple

intervention. Most children with visual impairment live in low-income countries.⁴ In Kenya, for example, the estimated prevalence of visual impairment among school children (6–20 years) ranges from 4.8% to 5.6%.^{5,6} In Asian populations, estimates range from 6.4% to 22.3%.^{7,8}

Addressing childhood blindness and visual impairment is a major priority for VISION2020, a global programme fighting avoidable blindness led by WHO and the International Agency for Prevention of Blindness.⁹ To reduce childhood visual impairment, the programme promotes vision screening of all children who go to



oa



6: 924–32

This online publication has been corrected. The corrected version first appeared at thelancet.com/lancetgh on July 30, 2018

See Comment page e826

International Centre for Eve Health Clinical Research Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK (H K Rono MMed, A Bastawrous PhD, Prof M J Burton PhD); Kitale County and Referral Hospital. Kitale, Kenya (H K Rono, E Waniala MMed): The Peek Vision Foundation, London, UK (A Bastawrous); Medical **Research Council Tropical** Epidemiology Group, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK (D Macleod PhD. G L Di Tanna PhD. Prof H A Weiss PhD): and Cornea and External Eye Department, Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS

Moorfields Eye Hospital N Trust, London, UK (Prof M | Burton)

Correspondence to:

Dr Hillary rono @lstm.ac.uk

Research in context

Evidence before this study

A systematic review of mobile health (mHealth) applications for vision testing identified numerous available applications; however, very few had undergone validation or certification. mHealth systems have shown promise for improving healthcare delivery although no trials of mHealth interventions to improve eye health have been published.

Added value of this study

This study showed both the feasibility of effective task-shifting to teachers using the Peek school eye health system to identify and refer children with sight problems and substantially increased adherence to referral (within 8 weeks of screening) of those identified by establishing a closed-loop between screeners (teachers) and the service provider (hospital).

Implications of all the available evidence

Poor vision has negative social, health, educational, and economic consequences. Early identification and treatment of eye conditions reduces the prevalence of visual impairment. Our results have shown that the Peek school eye health system, when used by teachers, is effective for identification and referral, as well as providing live health system data with evidence of barriers to service delivery. The lessons learned from this trial have been adopted and scaled up in Kenya by the Ministries of Health and Education to a countywide programme, serving 200 000 children. Additionally, this programme has been replicated and further developed in India and Botswana, which is taking it to a national scale.

school and promotes integration of vision screening into school health programmes by 2020. Vision testing to identify children with correctable visual impairment enables interventions to be offered early, before educational and social progress is adversely affected.¹⁰

Vision screening of children in Kenya is guided by school policies.11 In areas with active programmes, trained hospital-based clinical officers and ophthalmic nurses usually carry out the screening in schools. This procedure requires eye-care workers to leave their usual workplace (hospital eye clinics), thus reducing the availability of these services. In a pilot school-screening programme in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya, we trained school teachers to identify children with visual impairment using a Snellen Tumbling-E card. Children passed or failed at two predefined threshold levels: 6/60 (20/200) and 6/12 (20/40), in either eye. A hospital referral was made for children failing at either level by sending a letter to the child's parent or guardian explaining the need to access care. However, only a few children attended this hospital referral. Multiple barriers to care include communication failure between pupils or schools and parents or carers, as well as between schools or carers and hospitals, the inaccessibility of services, direct and indirect costs, myths related to treatment, and fear.12

Access to a connected mobile device in sub-Saharan Africa has increased dramatically in recent years, from 1% in 2002 to around 75% in 2016.^{13,14} This increase in use is resulting in profound improvements in communication and commerce, and opens new opportunities for health care. Use of mobile health (mHealth) interventions to support communication between providers and patients through short messaging services (SMS) can promote access to health care.¹⁵ Previously, we developed and tested a smartphone application for Tumbling-E visual acuity testing (Peek Acuity app) to measure visual acuity in adults in Kenya. This test was accurate and repeatable, and acceptable to patients, examiners, and stakeholders.^{16,17} We have now integrated this app into an mHealth system for vision screening among school children. The aims of this study were to validate the Peek school eye health system and to assess the effect of this system on the referral rate of children with visual impairment compared with the standard visual screening system currently used in Kenya.

Methods

Study design and participants

We first did a validation study to confirm that the teachers could be trained to carry out vision screening. We compared the performance of both the Snellen Tumbling-E card and the Peek Acuity test with a standard backlit EDTRS LogMAR Tumbling-E visual chart (Precision Vision, Woodstock, IL, USA) in measuring visual acuity in children. The order of the assessments was random. This validation study was carried out in three schools not involved in the subsequent trial.

We then did a single-masked, parallel-group, cluster randomised controlled trial in 50 primary schools in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya. Clusters were individual schools with no active visual screening programme in place. School children were tested for visual impairment by teachers who were trained to use either the standard school screening system Snellen Tumbling-E card and paper referral) or the Peek school eye health system. CONSORT guidelines for reporting cluster randomised trials were followed.¹⁸

All pupils attending years 1–8 in the selected schools were eligible for inclusion. Children were provided with information and consent forms to give to parents or guardians who were then requested to give written informed consent for teachers to test eye sight before enrolment. Children were excluded if they were unwilling or unable to give verbal consent, or if their parents or guardians did not provide consent.

The study was approved by the Moi University Institutional Research and Ethics Committee, Kenya and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee, UK. Permission was also granted by Trans Nzoia Education and Health authorities, Kenya. The study adhered to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki on Ethics.

Randomisation and masking

Schools were randomly assigned (1:1) to either the Peek school eye health system (Peek group) or the standard school screening system (standard group). Geocoordinates of all eligible schools were obtained. To minimise imbalance in geographical location between the two groups, a statistician used a minimisation-based algorithm in R based on the geographical location (six zones, each covering 60 degrees of a circle around Kitale hospital) of the schools and their distance from the hospital, using random permuted blocks.^{19,20} Using this balance algorithm, we obtained a set of optimal allocations and sampled the final distribution of allocations from this set of optimal allocations.

We could not mask the study team providing training, or mask participants and teachers to the screening method being used. The primary outcome data were collected by one hospital clerk who was masked to the screening method used. On arrival at the hospital, the child's parent or guardian presented a referral slip, which was identical for each group. Children who attended the hospital appointment in the Peek group were also marked as attended in the hospital app by a different clerk to those who received them at reception, to maintain masking of the primary outcome data collection.

Procedures

We selected 25 teachers, who had previously been trained to use the standard system as part of the pilot schoolscreening programme, on the basis of their availability and activity during the pilot. We trained them for 1 week on how to operate a smartphone and how to screen and refer using both methods (Peek and standard). We allocated teachers and transported them to schools, where they did not work, in a manner that ensured a teacher screened at two schools each, one from each group. The teachers screened the children class by class. We classified children in years 1-3 as lower primary school and those in years 4-8 as upper primary school. We recorded age, sex, and education level for each child in the study. For those who screened positive (ie, could not see 6/12 in either eye), we collected additional information for contact and follow-up purposes: child's name, parent's name, primary language, and contact number.

In schools allocated to the standard group, the teacher tested the children's sight for each eye separately. The eye not being tested was covered with an occluder. The child was shown a Tumbling-E vision screening card (figure 1A) at a distance of 3 m. This card has a row of five letter Es, in four different orientations. The size of the letters at this test distance corresponds to a visual acuity of 6/12. The child passed the 6/12 threshold test if they correctly identified the direction of four of the five letter Es. If they failed at 6/12, they were shown the 6/60 card, which has larger letter Es, and again passed if four of five were correctly identified. The result was recorded for each eye separately as: can see 6/12, cannot see 6/12 but sees 6/60, or cannot see 6/60. Children who could not see 6/12 in either eye were referred to Kitale hospital. The paper referral form was completed in triplicate: one copy given to the child, advising the parent to take the child to hospital, one copy to the head teacher, and one copy sent directly to the hospital.

In schools allocated to the Peek school eye health system, the teacher used the Peek Acuity vision screening app on a smartphone (Samsung Galaxy S3) at 2 m. Each eye was tested separately, with the fellow eye covered with an occluder. A series of up to five Tumbling-E optotypes equivalent in size to Snellen 6/12 (20/40, LogMar 0.3) were presented randomly in one of four orientations (figure 1B). The child pointed in the direction they perceived the arms of the letter E to be pointing, and the teacher used the phone's touch screen to swipe in the same direction to enter the child's response, without looking at the phone's screen. One optotype was presented at a time. The test automatically concluded when the threshold number of passes (four of five) or fails (two of five) at the 6/12 optotype size was reached.¹⁶ If the child failed the 6/12 level, the app automatically presented a 6/60 sized optotype and the test was repeated to determine whether or not 6/60 (20/200, LogMAR 1.0) could be seen. At the end of the test, if the child failed the 6/12 level in either eye (ie, screened positive), the app prompted the collection of referral details (patient's or guardian's name, local language, and mobile phone number) and generated a referral to the hospital. A child who screened positive was given a printed referral photo card with their name, hospital contact details, and opening times to take home. The card included a split image with one half blurred to the same degree as the child's visual impairment (figure 1C). When connected to the internet, the app sends this referral details to a cloudbased server, which automatically generated a personalised SMS that was then sent to the child's parent or guardian with advice on the outcome of the eye assessment and instructions for referral in the chosen local language (figure 1D). A contact person (usually the head teacher for schools) also received an SMS with a list of children found to be visually impaired, needing referral. The messages were resent at intervals of 2 weeks until the child attended the hospital or for a maximum of 8 weeks. A referral was also automatically sent to the hospital where a database of referred children was kept accessible through a hospital reception app.

The follow-up period of this trial was 8 weeks. On presentation to the eye department at Kitale hospital for



Figure 1: Vision screening methods used in school children

(A) Standard screening with a Tumbling-E card. (B) Peek Acuity screening app used on a smartphone. (C) Peek referral card showing the vision of the child and the referral instructions. (D) Parent receiving an SMS message with instructions after screening. SMS=short message service.

assessment, a clerk recorded the attendance of the referred child. The clinical team assessed the child to determine the level of vision, cause of visual impairment, and any treatment needed. Interventions included provision of eye drops, spectacles, or surgery. The team assessed visual acuity using a 6 m Snellen chart and classified the cause of vision loss on the basis of common treatable or preventable causes.²¹ All children with visual impairment received free treatment at hospital.

Outcomes

The primary outcome, which was centrally assessed, was the proportion of referred participants who attended the Kitale hospital eye department within 8 weeks of referral. The main secondary outcome was the time taken by children with visual impairment to reach hospital. We also report the level of vision measured in hospital and the causes of visual impairment identified.

Statistical analysis

We calculated the sample size assuming a visual impairment prevalence of 4.8% (<6/18 in better eye) and

average school size of 542 pupils (about 25 visually impaired children per school).⁵ Assuming a design effect of 1.24 (ie, intraclass correlation coefficient 0.01) at least 21 schools were required in each group to provide 80% power to detect a difference of 10% (60% in the Peek group *vs* 50% in the standard group) in overall hospital attendance within 8 weeks. However, to ensure enough power would be retained to detect this difference if some schools dropped out of the study, we selected a final sample of 50 schools (25 in each group), providing 88% power to detect this difference if all schools participated.

For the initial validation study, we defined a child as visually impaired if they had at least one eye classed as having vision worse than 6/12 (or worse than 0.3 when using LogMAR). Using ETDRS LogMAR as the reference test, and the previous definition of visual impairment as the outcome, we estimated the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value for Peek and Tumbling-E cards.

The analysis was by intention to treat. For the primary outcome analysis, we used mixed effect logistic regression

	Number of children who failed 6/12* test in at least one eye (N=1862)	Sensitivity	Specificity	Positive predictive value	Negative predictive value
LogMAR†	65 (4%)				
Standard‡	95 (5%)	75-4% (63-1-85-2)	97.4% (96.6–98.1)	51.6% (41.1–62.0)	99·1% (98·5–99·5)
Peek‡	216 (12%)	76.9% (64.8–86.5)	90.8% (89.3–92.1)	23.1% (17.7–29.4)	99.1% (98.5–99.5)
Data are n (%) o Table 1: Perfo	or % (95% CI). *LogMAR value (rmance of each test of visua	0-3. †Test done by ophthalmic o	clinical officer. ‡Test done by tea	cher.	

to estimate the odds ratio (OR), comparing the odds of attendance within 8 weeks of referral between the control (standard) and intervention (Peek) groups, first unadjusted and then, in case of any imbalance between demographics in the two groups, adjusted for age, sex, education level, and distance to hospital.

We generated Kaplan-Meier (K-M) survival curves to illustrate the difference in time-to-attendance between the two groups. We assessed the difference in time-toattendance with hazard ratios (HRs) estimated by Cox regression, with a shared frailty at school level, first unadjusted and then adjusted for age, sex, education level, and distance to hospital. We checked Schoenfeld residuals and did a test of proportional hazards to identify if the assumption of proportional hazards was valid.²² In the case of the proportional hazards assumption being violated, we estimated HRs for narrower time bands, within which the proportional hazard assumption holds. We assessed the relationship between level of vision and diagnosis at hospital descriptively. We used STATA version 13 (STATA Corp, TX, USA) for the analysis.

The trial was registered with the Pan African Clinical Trial Registry, number PACTR201503001049236.

Role of the funding source

The funders of the study had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

In the validation study, we tested the visual acuity of 1862 children using Peek Acuity, the standard Tumbling-E card, and ETDRS LogMAR (the reference test). Prevalence of visual impairment, as measured by ETDRS LogMAR (at least one eye with <6/12 vision), was 4% (n=65). Peek correctly identified 50 of 65 children as visually impaired (sensitivity 76.9% [95% CI 64.8–86.5]) and standard E-cards detected 49 of 65 children (sensitivity 75.4% [63.1-85.2]) (table 1). 12 (80%) of 15 children with visual impairment not identified by Peek had a LogMAR score in their worse eye of less than 0.3 and better than or equal to 0.4. With standard E cards, 15 (94%) of 16 children fell within this region of mild visual impairment, suggesting that it was mostly



Figure 2: Location of primary schools in each study group in Trans Nzoia County, in relation to Kitale hospital, Kenya

children with milder visual impairment that were missed by Peek and E cards. The specificity of Peek was lower (91%) than that of standard E cards (97%). Peek had a lower positive predictive value (23% [95% CI 17.7-29.4]) than the E card (52% [95% CI 41.1-62.0]) due to Peek's lower specificity (table 1).

Trial recruitment occurred between March 2, 2015, and March 13, 2015. The final 8-week follow-up period finished on May 8, 2015. Of the 320 public primary schools, 25 were excluded as they already had active school screening programmes. Of the remaining 295 eligible schools, 50 were randomly selected and 25 were allocated to each group (figure 2). The mean distances between the schools in which screening took place and the hospital, and school sizes were similar in each group (table 2). All 27316 potentially eligible children attending the 50 schools were invited for vision screening. Parental consent and child's assent were granted for 22934 (84.0%) children (78.8% in the standard group and 89.6% in the Peek group), of whom 20863 (91.0%) were assessed during a 2-week period (figure 3).

	Peek group	Standard group		
Number of schools	25	25		
Mean number of children per school, n (range)	423 (223-1135)	411 (270–1037)		
Mean distance from school to Kitale hospital, km (range)	21.1 (1.9–50.6)	19.0 (1.8–37.6)		
Number of children examined	10579	10284		
Male sex	5303 (50%)	4953 (48%)		
Mean age, years (SD)	11.2 (2.8)	11.4 (2.7)		
Lower primary years 1-3	3744 (35%)	3236 (32%)		
Upper primary years 4–8	6835 (65%)	7048 (69%)		
Data are n (%), unless otherwise specified.				

Table 2: Baseline characteristics of the schools and study participants



Figure 3: Trial profile

In this study, 531 (5%) of 10579 children in the Peek group and 366 (4%) of 10284 children in the standard group failed the screening test. Of these 897 referred children, 379 (42%) children were boys, with a mean age of 11.6 years (2.9), and 273 (30%) children were in lower primary; characteristics were similar between groups (table 3).

Of the 366 children referred from the standard group, 82 (22%) presented to the hospital during the 8-week follow-up period compared with 285 (54%) of 531 children

	Peek group	Standard group	
Children with visual impairment on screening referred to hospital*			
Number of children	531 (5%)	366 (4%)	
Male sex	226 (43%)	153 (42%)	
Mean age, years (SD)	11.5 (3.0)	11.7 (2.8)	
Lower primary years 1–3	179 (34%)	94 (26%)	
Upper primary years 4–8	352 (66%)	272 (74%)	
Children with visual impairment on screening who presented at hospital*			
Number of children	285 (54%)	82 (22%)	
Male sex	130 (46%)	35 (43%)	
Mean age, years (SD)	11.6 (2.9)	11.5 (2.6)	
Lower primary years 1–3	88 (31%)	16 (20%)	
Upper primary years 4–8	197 (69%)	66 (72%)	
Children who could not see 6/12 in either eye in hospital visual acuity test			
Number of children	68 (25%) 276†	37 (47%) 78‡	
Data are n (%), unless otherwise specified. *Visual impairment defined as vision less than 6/12 in either eye. †Vision from nine children was not recorded. ‡Vision from four children was not recorded.			
Table 3: Proportion of children with visual impairment and proportion who presented to hospital (primary outcome)			

referred from the Peek group. After adjusting for school clustering, children referred with the Peek school eye health system were more likely to attend hospital within 8 weeks than children referred with the standard screening system (OR 7.35 [95% CI 3.49–15.47]; p<0.0001). When distance from the hospital, age, education level, and sex were also adjusted for, the estimated effect was similar (adjusted OR 8.27 [95% CI 3.77–18.1]; p<0.0001).

The rate of hospital attendance among those who screened positive for visual impairment was significantly higher in the Peek group than the standard group (HR 2.56 [95% CI 1.43-4.56]; p=0.0001; figure 4; table 4). However, because hazards were not proportional (p<0.0001), the time was split into weekly sections and HR was estimated for each week (table 4). This HR estimation was only possible for the first 4 weeks of follow-up because after this time no children arrived to hospital from the standard group. We did not find an intervention effect in week 1 (HR 1.03 [95% CI 0.54-1.98]; p=0.92). However, in week 2, evidence suggests that children referred using Peek had an increased attendance rate, with an estimated HR of 4.63 (95% CI 2.15-9.95; p=0.0001). Stronger intervention effects were seen in weeks 3 (HR 5.01 [95% CI 2.00-12.52]; p=0.0006) and 4 (HR 11.51 [2.41–54.93]; p=0.002).

Of the children referred from schools in the standard group, 37 (47%) of 78 children were confirmed to have visual impairment (four had missing visual acuity data) compared with 68 (25%) of 276 children referred from schools in the Peek group (nine had missing visual acuity data; table 5). A higher proportion of false positives were identified among children screened using Peek than among those screened using the standard screening (p<0.0001). However, the absolute number of confirmed visually impaired children was higher in the Peek group (n=68) than the standard group (n=37). Most of the children referred who were not found to have visual impairment in the clinic had a diagnosis of allergic conjunctivitis (139 [67%] of 208 children in the Peek group and 32 [78%] of 41 children in the standard group; table 5). All children who had visually significant refractive error (<6/12) were offered free spectacles and three children had cataract surgery.

Discussion

Early identification and management of visual impairment in children is important to enable participation in education and society.¹⁰ We showed that an integrated system comprising a smartphone-based visual acuity test (Peek Acuity), a printed referral card illustrating the degree of visual impairment, and SMS reminders (ie, the Peek school eye health system) significantly improved the overall hospital attendance rate among children referred compared with the standard system. In this first trial, to assess the use of smartphones for vision screening and referral, we found the test can be effectively delivered by school teachers.

The rate of hospital attendance was initially similar in both groups. However, in the standard group attendance slowed after the first week before stopping completely after 4 weeks. The initial similar attendance in both groups might have been due to early responders who seek medical attention faster. Hospital attendance was better maintained in the Peek group. As the Peek system is an intervention package involving both repeated SMS and a special referral card illustrating visual impairment, which elements led to the increased attendance is unknown. The reminder messages appeared to have no additional effect on attendance after the first two reminders were sent (figure 4).

In the validation study, we found the sensitivity of Peek and the standard E-cards in detecting visual acuity of less than 6/12 to be about 75% when used by school teachers compared with about 100% for ETDRS LogMAR chart used by a clinician. Most of the false negative individuals had an EDTRS LogMAR visual acuity close to the threshold level. The negative predictive values of both tests were very high.

The specificity and positive predictive value were lower for Peek than the standard system, resulting in more children being referred who were not subsequently found to have visual impairment. However, many of them were noted to have an ocular condition. A low positive predictive value could overburden the health system with unnecessary referrals and costs, resulting in increased pressure on limited eye-care services.¹² These false positive results might have arisen for a number of reasons: subtle variation in the smartphone



Figure 4: Kaplan-Meier analysis of time from screening to attendance at the hospital ophthalmology clinic SMS=short message service.

	Peek group	Standard group	Hazard ratio (95% CI)	p value	
Week 1	91 (17%)	54 (15%)	1.03 (0.54–1.98)	0.9232	
Week 2	105 (37%)	17 (19%)	4.63 (2.15–9.95)	0.0001	
Week 3	46 (46%)	9 (22%)	5.01 (2.00–12.52)	0.0006	
Week 4	20 (49%)	2 (22%)	11·51 (2·41–54·93)	0.0022	
Week 5	5 (50%)	0 (22%)			
Week 6	6 (51%)	0 (22%)			
Week 7	6 (53%)	0 (22%)			
Week 8	6 (54%)	0 (22%)			
Data are number of children (cumulative %), unless otherwise specified.					

screen angle, reflections off the screen or variation, and increased glare from a bright screen in the presence of inflammatory eye conditions, such as allergic conjunctivitis.²³

To reduce the false positive rate, we propose additional testing strategies. This involves retesting the vision of all children who initially screened positive. A referral is only triggered if the child fails to meet the threshold acuity on the repeat test. If a child fails the first test and then passes the second test, a third screening test is delivered (maximum three tests per eye). Referral is triggered on confirmation of two of three failed tests. An alternative approach, currently being tested, involves extension of the number of optotypes shown to confirm the acuity level. Additionally, a set number of children who pass the screening test will be prompted by the examiner to deliver a repeat test to enable monitoring of false negative rates.

This trial suggests that, for every 10000 children screened with standard methods, 80 of those are expected to be referred to attend the hospital clinic—38 with visual impairment and 42 without. With the Peek system, 269 children are expected to attend hospital—66 with visual impairment and 203 without. Therefore, with use of the first iteration of the Peek school eye health system an anticipated additional 28 visually impaired children

	Peek group	Standard group	
Visual acuity among children a	attending hospi	tal	
Children in each group	276*	78†	
6/12 or better in both eyes	208 (75%)	41 (52%)	
Worse than 6/12 in either eye (visual impairment confirmed)	68 (25%)	37 (47%)	
Visual acuity in the worst seeir	ng eye of childre	n without visual	
impairment in hospital			
Children in each group	208	41	
6/5	3 (1%)	0	
6/6	107 (51%)	23 (56%)	
6/9	66 (32%)	13 (32%)	
6/12	32 (15%)	5 (12%)	
Diagnosis among children wit	hout visual imp	airment in hospital	
Children in each group	208	41	
Normal eyes	7 (3%)	1 (2%)	
Allergic conjunctivitis, including vernal kerato-conjunctivitis	139 (67%)	32 (78%)	
Refractive error	21 (10%)	4 (10%)	
Others	5 (2%)	0	
Not stated	36 (17%)	4 (10%)	
Visual acuity in the worst seeir impairment (in either eye) in h	ng eye of childre nospital	n with visual	
Children in each group	68	37	
6/18	19 (28%)	14 (38%)	
6/24	13 (19%)	7 (19%)	
6/36	8 (12%)	4 (11%)	
6/60	9 (13%)	3 (8%)	
5/60 or worse	19 (28%)	9 (24%)	
Diagnosis among children wit	h visual impairn	nent (in either eye) in	
hospital			
Children in each group	68	37	
Allergic conjunctivitis, including vernal kerato-conjunctivitis	6 (9%)	3 (8%)	
Refractive error	31 (46%)	26 (70%)	
Corneal scars	4 (6%)	2 (5%)	
Globe abnormalities	9 (13%)	3 (8%)	
Cataracts	2 (3%)	1 (3%)	
Others	8 (12%)	1 (3%)	
Not stated	8 (12%)	1 (3%)	
Data are n (%). *Vision from nine children was not recorded. †Vision from four children was not recorded.			

Table 5: Visual acuity status and diagnosis of children who screened positive for visual impairment who then attended the hospital

will present to the clinic for assessment and treatment for every 10000 children screened. This comes at a cost of an extra 161 children without visual impairment presenting on the basis of the methods used in this trial.

Measurements of visual acuity in children attending hospital were done with a Snellen chart several days or weeks after their initial assessment; therefore, visual acuity could have fluctuated, accounting for some of the differences. Short-term to medium-term test-retest variation in visual acuity has been reported previously.^{24,25} Visual acuity is usually delivered as a continuous test from large to small angles of resolution. However, decisions for referral are made based on a threshold from that continuous test—eg, <6/12. For practical reasons, given the volume of children being screened and the need for a referral decision rather than an acuity score being the primary driver, a threshold acuity test is appropriate for screening. Most acuity tests have a one line tolerance (ie, limits of agreement) and thus delivering a threshold test is likely to result in under or over referrals of those whose true acuity falls above or below the threshold.

Of note is that most of these false positives for visual impairment were found to have some ocular pathology, most frequently allergic eye disease, which is particularly common in this population. The risk of overburdening the health system might be reduced by the delivery of triage services in or close to the school to review all children who screened positive and to manage minor eye ailments, and, where capacity allows, the assessment and delivery of refractive services referring only those who require further hospital-based treatment onwards to secondary care. A direct-to-hospital or additional triage step both require balancing outreach service capacity with health service demands for that population.

A major limitation of the current system is the low specificity of the threshold testing algorithm. In our previous study in adults,²⁶ we found a substantially higher specificity for severe visual impairment using a full visual acuity as opposed to a threshold acuity testing algorithm, suggesting that modifications to the testing algorithm could improve this result. A two-staged Peek school eye health system that provides screening in the school and triage services delivered in or close to the school could optimise the benefits of its use while minimising the potential overload of the health system. This system has subsequently been refined based on findings from this trial and is being deployed to support comprehensive child eye health services to all public primary schools in Trans Nzoia County (n=340) in partnership with the Ministries of Health and Education. The triage system for refractive services recommendation has been developed into an iteration of the system that was successfully deployed in Botswana and is now being prepared for a nationwide scale-up. Further research is needed to systematically assess the barriers to accessing child eve health services and to develop and test contextually relevant measures to improve on these barriers as shown in the Peek school eye health system trial in progress in India.²⁷

In conclusion, the Peek school eye health system resulted in a substantial increase in the proportion of children who attended the hospital clinic for assessment after screening positive for visual impairment and provided real-time visibility to the health system. This outcome indicates the potential value of this technology in improving uptake of services and encouraging improvement in delivery through identification of areas with potential bottlenecks in the care pathway (such as regions with the highest number of children who have not attended the hospital). The Peek Acuity screening algorithm used in this trial was less specific than the Tumbling-E card in identifying children with visual impairment. Additionally, ongoing work is required to further refine the testing algorithm, maintaining sensitivity while improving specificity without substantially increasing the testing time and systematically reducing barriers to patient care across the entire patient care pathway.

Contributors

HKR and AB searched the medical literature. HKR, AB, and MJB conceived and designed the study. HKR, EW, and GLDT collected data. HKR, DM, and HAW did the statistical analysis. HKR, AB, GLDT, DM, HAW, and MJB interpreted the data. HKR drafted the manuscript, and all authors critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. AB and MJB obtained funding for the study. EW provided administrative, technical, and material support. AB and MJB supervised the study.

Declaration of interests

The Peek Vision Foundation (09919543) is a registered charity in England and Wales (1165960), with a wholly owned trading subsidiary, Peek Vision Ltd (09937174). MJB is a trustee of the Peek Vision Foundation and AB is Chief Executive Officer of the Peek Vision Foundation and Peek Vision Ltd. All other authors have no competing interests.

Acknowledgments

Trial funding was provided by Standard Chartered Bank's Seeing is Believing initiative and Operation Eye Sight Universal, with core support from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust. MJB is supported by the Wellcome Trust (grant number 098481/Z/12/Z). HAW and DM were supported in part by a grant from the Medical Research Council (MRC) and the Department for International Development (DFID, UK) under the MRC/DFID Concordat (K012126/1).

References

- Toledo CC, Paiva AP, Camilo GB, Maior MR, Leite IC, Guerra MR. Early detection of visual impairment and its relation to academic performance. *Rev Assoc Med Bras* 2010; 56: 415–19.
- 2 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Economic costs associated with mental retardation, cerebral palsy, hearing loss, and vision impairment—United States, 2003. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2004; 53: 57–59.
- 3 Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. Br J Ophthalmol 2012; 96: 614–18.
- 4 WHO. Blindness and visual impairment. Fact sheet number 282. Updated August, 2014. Geneva: WHO, 2014. http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs282/en/ (accessed June 16, 2015).
- 5 Barasa E, Otieno SA, Karimurio J. The prevalence and pattern of visual impairment and blindness among Primary School pupils in Kitale Municipality, Kenya. JOECSA 2013; 17: 66–69.
- 6 Muma M, Kimani K, Kariuki W. Prevalence of refractive errors in primary school children of a rural district of Kenya. *JOECSA* 2013; 13: 48–51.
- 7 Murthy GV, Gupta SK, Ellwein LB, et al. Refractive error in children in an urban population in New Delhi. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 2002; 43: 623–31.

- 8 He M, Zeng J, Liu Y, Xu J, Pokharel GP, Ellwein LB. Refractive error and visual impairment in urban children in southern china. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 2004; 45: 793–99.
- Gilbert C, Foster A. Childhood blindness in the context of VISION 2020—the right to sight. *Bull World Health Organ* 2001; 79: 227–32.
- 10 Stewart-Brown SL, Haslum M. Screening of vision in school: could we do better by doing less? BMJ 1988; 297: 1111–13.
- 11 Ministry of Education, Republic of Kenya. The national special needs education policy framework. July, 2009. Nairobi: Ministry of Education, 2009.
- 12 Syed A, Polack S, Eusebio C, et al. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. *Disabil Rehabil* 2013; 35: 1660–67.
- 13 Bastawrous A, Armstrong MJ. Mobile health use in low- and high-income countries: an overview of the peer-reviewed literature. J R Soc Med 2013; 106: 130–42.
- 14 Deloitte, Groupe Speciale Mobile Association. Sub-Saharan Africa mobile observatory 2012. London: Groupe Speciale Mobile Association. 2012.
- 15 Free C, Phillips G, Watson L, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med* 2013; 10: e1001363.
- 16 Bastawrous A, Rono HK, Livingstone IT, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and community-based fieldwork. *JAMA Ophthalmol* 2015; **133**: 930–37.
- 17 Lodhia V, Karanja S, Lees S, Bastawrous A. Acceptability, usability, and views on deployment of peek, a mobile phone mhealth intervention for eye care in Kenya: qualitative study. *JMIR mHealth uHealth* 2016; 4: e30.
- 18 Campbell MK, Piaggio G, Elbourne DR, Altman DG. Consort 2010 statement: extension to cluster randomised trials. *BMJ* 2012; 345: e5661.
- 19 Raab GM, Butcher I. Balance in cluster randomized trials. Stat Med 2001; 20: 351–65.
- 20 Carter BR, Hood K. Balance algorithm for cluster randomized trials. BMC Med Res Methodol 2008; 8: 65.
- 21 Gilbert C, Foster A, Negrel AD, Thylefors B. Childhood blindness: a new form for recording causes of visual loss in children. Bull World Health Organ 1993; 71: 485–89.
- 22 Schoenfeld D. Partial residuals for the proportional hazards regression model. *Biometrika* 1982; **69**: 239–41.
- 23 Black JM, Jacobs RJ, Phillips G, et al. An assessment of the iPad as a testing platform for distance visual acuity in adults. BMJ Open 2013; 3: e002730.
- 24 Siderov J, Tiu AL. Variability of measurements of visual acuity in a large eye clinic. Acta Ophthalmol 1999; 77: 673–76.
- 25 Arditi A, Cagenello R. On the statistical reliability of letter-chart visual acuity measurements. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 1993; 34: 120–29.
- 26 Bastawrous A, Giardini ME, Bolster NM, et al. Clinical validation of a smartphone-based adapter for optic disc imaging in Kenya. *JAMA Ophthalmol* 2016; **134**: 151–58.
- 27 Morjaria P, Bastawrous A, Murthy GV, Evans J, Gilbert C. Effectiveness of a novel mobile health education intervention (Peek) on spectacle wear among children in India: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2017; 18: 168.

Chapter 4. From research to scaling-up programs: case study of Peek school eye health program in Trans-Nzoia county, Kenya



Figure 4.1: Children preparing for visual Eye screening


Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646

F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Hillary Kipkemboi Rono	
Principal Supervisor	Dr. Andrew Bastawrous	
Thesis Title	Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need	

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	The Journal of Ophthalmology of Eastern, Central and Southern Africa (JOECSA),
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Hillary K Rono Nyawira Mwangi Alice Mwangi Emmanuel Wanjala Juliet Khachesanga Michael Gichangi Cosmas Bunywera Andrew Bastawrous Matthew J Burton

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)		on	Together with my senior colleagues I designed the study. I led the project implementation, coordinating partners and data collection. I wrote the first draft of the paper with edits from supervisors and co- authors	
S	Student Signature:		08.10.2019	
S	Supervisor Signature:		Date: 09.10.2019	

From research to scaling-up programs: case study of Peek school eye health program in Trans-Nzoia county, Kenya

Authors

Hillary K Rono MMed ^{1,2}, Nyawira Mwangi, ^{1,6}, Alice Mwangi, ⁴ Emmanuel Wanjala MMed ², Juliet Khachesanga⁷, Michael Gichangi ⁵, Cosmas Bunywera ², Andrew Bastawrous PhD ^{1,3} Matthew J Burton PhD ¹

Affiliations:

- 1. International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom
- 2. Kitale County and Referral Hospital, Kenya
- 3. The Peek Vision Foundation, London, UK
- 4. Operation Eyesight Universal, Nairobi Kenya
- 5. Ophthalmic Services Unit, Ministry of Heath, Kenya
- 6. Kenya Medical Training College, Nairobi

Matthew Burton is a Professor.

Corresponding Author:

Dr Hillary Rono

International Centre for Eye Health, Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Keppel Street

London, WC1E 7HT

United Kingdom

Email: Hillary.Rono@lshtm.ac.uk , hkrono75@gmail.com

Abstract

There are barriers to accessing eye health services by children especially in low and middle-income countries (LMIC), where the prevalence of visual impairment is highest. We report the process of scaling up the Peek school screening program that was initially tested in a randomized clinical trial in Trans-Nzoia county, Kenya.

The initial steps involved forming an advisory group that possessed expertise in technical, technological, managerial, and program management. The team used the PRIME framework to develop a theory of change on how the intervention would work at scale-up. The team led the project implementation through the three phases of the PRIME framework (formative, implementation and scale up phases).

In this paper we report on this process and influencing factors. We conclude that it is feasible to translate research to scaled-up programs in LMICs. Important tools in this process include stakeholder mapping and engagement. The Peek school screening model is acceptable and effective in screening for visual impairment in this population.

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) advocates for increasing access and utilization of health services as the means of achieving universal health coverage (UHC).¹ However, there are barriers to accessing eye health services for children, especially in low and middle-income countries (LMIC), where the burden of visual impairment is highest.² About 19 million children are blind or have low vision (Visual Impairment) worldwide (defined as Snellen visual acuity of <6/12 (or <20/40) in the better-seeing eye).³ Most visual impairment (VI) is preventable or treatable.⁴ About 12 million children, have VI due to uncorrected refractive error, which can be corrected by spectacles.⁵ Many school children have poor sight, for lack of this simple intervention. In Kenya, prevalence estimates of VI among school children (aged 6 to 20 years) range from 4.0 % to 5.6%.^{6,7,8} Vision impairment and blindness results in negative impact on child development, quality of life, education prospects, and economic productivty.^{5,6}

Elimination of childhood VI, through vision screening of all school-going children and integration into health programmes has been prioritised by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Agency for Prevention of Blindness (IAPB).⁹,¹⁰ The success of such school-based interventions largely depends on effective communication between health services and schools, the willingness of schools to schedule adequate time for screening and the good collaborations between teachers and parents.¹¹ The strategies that seem to promote uptake of screening services are delivery of services at or closer to schools, promoting education programs that create awareness and use of text messages.¹² Some barriers to the success of such programs are high direct and indirect costs to accessing services, lack of human resources to screen and treat children, lack of awareness about the available eye services and myths about causes and impact of seeking

eye care.¹¹,¹³ Delivery of vision screening and provision of treatment for eye conditions at or closer to the school coupled with text message reminders show encouraging trends.⁸ ¹²

The recent increase in access to a connected mobile device especially in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) has improved communication and commerce, and also created new opportunities for health care.^{14 15} There are many applications (apps) that use mobile health (mHealth) interventions to support communication between providers and patients.¹⁶ One such app is a smartphone Tumbling-E visual acuity testing application (Peek Acuity), used to measure visual acuity in older adults in Kenya.¹⁷ Studies in Kenya showed that the Peek Acuity app was accurate and repeatable among patients 50 years or older, and acceptable to patients, examiners and stakeholders.^{19, 18} In a recent cluster trial where dedicated teacher screeners used the Peek Acuity app to identify visual impairment in randomized school children, It was found that dedicated teacher screeners could reliably screen for visual impairment, and the proportion of pupils identified having VI who attended their hospital referral increased by more than twofold.⁸

Following the success of this trial in Trans Nzoia county involving 50 schools, we scaled up this new method of screening to cover all public primary schools in the county. Trans Nzoia county has 426 primary schools (both private and public) with a total enrolment of 236,837 children, a pupil to teacher ratio of 39.6:1.¹⁹ The vision screening of the school children in the county was guided by Kenyan school policies.²⁰ However there is paucity of published literature on the process of implementing innovative interventions, particularly school-based interventions in low resource settings.

We adopted the 'Programme for Improving Mental health care (PRIME)' theory of change (ToC) as an approach to develop and integrate eye healthcare plans into the health system.²¹ The overall goal was to design a programme that explicitly states the theory of

how the programme would achieve its impact, by describing steps along the causal pathway that would guide the evaluation of the programme later.²² The development of the theory of change was based on the principle of health system strengthening, working with other partners, priority eye health conditions and reducing inequities in service provision.²³ The framework emphasises the importance of working with the existing structures, such as healthcare coordination and stewardship, health facilities and the community.²⁴

In this paper we describe the process of using a theory of change to implement this program in Trans-Nzoia. This resulted in improved adherences to referrals following screening from an initial 54% in the same region,⁸ to 93%.²⁵ We leveraged on an initial situation analysis in the primary schools and the programmatic experience of the partners. The initial development of the framework was done by a team who included an Ophthalmologist from the Ministry of Health, a representative from Peek and partner NGO (OEU) and a teacher.

Methods

We designed a Peek school health intervention to screen children for visual impairment, using the opportunity provided by the Peek innovation. This intervention was tested through a cluster randomized clinical trial, where 50 schools were recruited and allocated to an intervention (Peek, n=25) arm and a control (standard practice, n=25) arm. The ethics review board of Moi Teaching and Referral hospital and London School of Hygiene & Tropical medicine (LSHTM) provided ethics approval. The intervention was effective and scale up was recommended.⁸

For the scale up, we adopted the approach used in the Program for improving mental health (PRIME) model.²⁴ This model recommends a three-phased approach to implementation of interventions (formative phase, implementation phase and scale up phase). An advisory committee of five members was selected to lead the project through the three phases, and report to the county government. Primary schools in the county were recruited through engagement with the Ministry of Education. All the children in each school were screened for visual impairment by a teacher trained to use the Peek app. Children with VI were referred to Kitale County Referral hospital for further evaluation and treatment. Table 1 highlights the recommended areas of focus in each of these phases.

Table 1: Areas of focus within the PRIME model

Formative phase	Implementation phase	Scale up phase
Formation of a committee of	Funding acquisition	Incremental scale up
actors	Technology acquisition	Targets setting
Situation analysis	Capacity building of the health	Monitoring targets and trends
Identification of gaps	system	Facilitators and enablers
Develop theory of change	Stakeholder engagement	Distractions
Setting objectives	Mobilization of actors	Evaluation
Resource mapping	Official launch of the project	Team dynamics
Beneficiaries mapping	Training	
Costing the intervention	Piloting	
Resource planning	Screening	
Stakeholder identification and	Treatment	
definition of roles	Documentation	

Results

We present the results for each of the three phases separately.

Formative phase

The formative phase took about 12 months. In early 2015, the advisory committee was formed, consisting of the lead author (ophthalmologist), the county officer of health, a teacher, Peek (design and technology support partner) and an international NGO partner, Operation Eyesight Universal (OEU). These members met bi-monthly on average, and each was responsible for various tasks in between the meetings.

We performed an initial situational analysis of eye care pathway for children and identified the following gaps: (1) Children were erratically being screened for visual impairment (2) The screening was conducted by a small number of eye health workers, further compromising the quality of their hospital work during screening. (3) There was poor record keeping on who accesses the care. (4) The county department of health was not aware of how much to budget for eye care suppliers and medications. We also found the following strengths: (1) there was an eye health work force to provide treatment; (2) the community had high access to mobile phones; (3) good collaboration existed between the government and NGO sector.

Using the theory of change we identified how the scaled-up intervention might work (Figure 1). Thereafter we set the project objectives, mapped the available resources, and engaged state and non-state stakeholders through a series of meetings. We mapped the roles of each of the stakeholders (Table 2).

The initial memorandum of understanding was signed between the county and the implementing partner (OEU) and the hospital. Further agreement was made between OEU and The Peek Vision Foundation. We also applied for funding from Seeing is Believing (for logistics) and Peek (for data processing and software), which we received in 2016.



Figure 1: Theory of change for the scale up of the school eye health programme.

Adapted from the PRIME theory of change for mental health.^{24,26}

Partner	Role	
Ministry of Health	Overall facilitation of the project and provision of	
	eye medicines	
Ministry of Health-	Provide policy quide	
Ophthalmic Services Unit	i Tovide policy guide	
	Release staff for screening; provide hospital fee	
Kitale County Referral &	waiver for children referred to the hospital;	
teaching Hospital	provide treatment for children found with eye	
	conditions during screening	
	Address political determinants, support	
County government	community mobilization, leadership and	
	administrative support for the project	
Ministry of Education	Provide permission to screen school children in	
	the county schools	
Teachers Service	Release teachers to participate in screening	
Commission	Release leachers to participate in screening	
Primary Schools	Facilitate screening	
Head teacher	Release teachers for screening; follow up children	
	who are referred	
Operation Eyesight	Support project coordination, procure any shortfall	
Universal	of consumables and manage the program funds	
Pook	Provide technical support, mobile phones and	
FEEK	cloud hosting for the project	
London School of Hygiene	Provided technical guidance for the research	
& Tropical Medicine	nhase and continued guidance	
(LSHTM)	phase and continued guidance	
Standard Chartered Bank	Funding through the SIB project.	
Media	Community sensitization	
Parents and communities	Support children to receive the intervention	
Eye care workers	Attend to children presenting at the hospital	

Table 2: Partners and their role in school eye health project

Implementation phase

This phase took about 12 months. Project implementation began with extensive mobilization of the actors and beneficiaries through print media, radio and television. We also had a consensus meeting with national and county level policy-makers (Ministry of Health, Ministry of Education and Teachers Service Commission). Following consensus, the advisory teams appointed a project implementations team consisting of the ophthalmologist, Information technology specialist (to work with Peek) and three teachers to coordinate implementation. This team met weekly to coordinate the implementation activities.

An official launch of the project was conducted at a primary school in Nairobi, supported by Standard Chartered Bank. However, continuous sensitization through the media and through video seminars was continued during the entire implementation phase so as to sustain project awareness. We identified local leaders to be champions for the project. Thereafter the project was set up (service points, screening schedules and data management facilities) and the required equipment (mobile phones) were procured. 25 dedicated teacher screeners and 11 eye health workers were trained to facilitate implementation of the intervention.

Pilot implementation was conducted to assess project feasibility in terms of access, usability of tools, technology systems and training programs. 16 schools located near the Kitale hospital participated in the pilot. The first screening was conducted in June 2016. All the 25 dedicated teacher screeners (12 male and 13 female) were trained and participated in the screening of 8,000 children in this pilot. Children with VI were referred to Kitale hospital. This showed that Peek in the hands of teachers is an effective method of identifying children with visual impairment, even in a program setting.

Scale up phase

In the scale up phase we targeted all county schools. The project team met quarterly to monitor the progress, identify the facilitators and barriers to implementation and to review the theory of change. One of the challenges experienced in this phase was attrition of teachers. Of the initial 25 dedicated teacher screeners (12 male and 13 female) who were trained, only 15 were active during the entire scale up phase. The reasons for attrition were: teacher transfers (3), exit to attend further training (2), lack of permission from head teachers (2), promoted and therefore more responsibilities (2) and death (1). The screeners who were more likely to be lost were those in the early career phase (less than 5 years teaching experience) and those who had multiple professional or personal commitments. In response to this attrition, we had to train more teachers during the scale-up phase.

During the scale up, schools also reported that they had additional new activities being implemented concurrently, thus crowding the school calendar. This included examinations, sports events and other activities. There were also new school policies that limited activities outside of teaching and learning during the last quarter of the year. For this reason, schools limited the screening activities to only specific periods, mainly January to July every year. There were new officials deployed at the Ministry of Education in the county so we had to conduct regular re-sensitization. All stake holders however, remained engaged throughout the process.

The other challenges that we faced were: (1) occasional delay in supply of medicines, though the county government increased the county budget for eye drops during this project; (2) frequent technology updates; (3) maintaining team motivation; (4) industrial strikes by health workers interfered with the smooth running of the project. We addressed

these challenges through constant communication with and support from the stakeholders, partners, technical experts and the project team.

We did a mid-term evaluation to assess progress. We found that (1) screening using smartphones (Peek) was accepted by pupils, parents, teachers and other stakeholders; (2) some children with VI had not accessed treatment due to lack of transport to the hospital; (3) the eye hospital was closed over the weekend, when children are not in school. The main success factors for the project were support from the national and county government; appropriate stakeholder engagement and participation, and the ease of use of Peek.

The end term evaluation was conducted by an independent consultant. During the three phases, 6,696 (3.97%) out of 168,820 pupils screened in the project were identified as having eye problems and referred to the eye clinic. About 6,200 out of 6,696 (92.6%) presented to triage centre or Kitale eye clinic for treatment.²⁵ The causes of morbidity in 2,523 children for whom we found complete data are shown in table 3. Overall, screening was initially slow, followed by a linear activity growth phase before a plateau phase later when the project was near completion. Most children were screened in the first half of the year (months 0 - 6, 12 - 18 and 24 - 30), compared to the second half of the year, except at the inception phase, figure 2.

Eye Condition	n	%
Allergic conjunctivitis	1,675	66.39
Normal	338	13.4
Refractive errors	184	7.29
Conjunctivitis-other	96	3.80
Other causes	89	3.53
Corneal diseases	37	1.47
Undetermined cause of Low vision & blindness	36	1.43
Cataract	27	1.07
Retinal diseases	17	0.67
Chalazion & lid swellings	8	0.32
Lid inflammations	6	0.24
Eye injury & FB in eye	4	0.16
Conjunctival growths	3	0.12
Uveitis	2	0.08
Glaucoma	1	0.04



Figure 2: Proportion of children screened at each phase of implementation of school screening in Trans Nzoia County

The evaluation report, showed that: (1) the challenge of shortage of skilled eye health workers to conduct school screening could be overcome by task-shifting to trained teachers; (2) Peek technology could enhance time-efficiency in screening; (3) existing eye health services could be overrun by a large number of referrals from schools; (4) involvement of teachers in planning, implementation, follow-up and coordination of school screening is key to success; (5) community members (parents) with eye problems also presented for treatment during school screening and treatment; (6) two health information systems were used, the Peek screening system was independently used to identify and refer children for triage and the outcome of triage was recorded using the national health system.

We shared the results of evaluation with the stakeholders such as County Department of Health, Ministry of Education, funders and teachers. We agreed to further disseminate results through other forums such as conferences and publications. We also discussed the need to integrate the screening outputs such as the number and diagnoses of children who received treatment into the Health Information Management Systems so that the information generated by the project is all-inclusive and routinely collected and easily available.

Lessons learnt

Some of the lessons learnt during the three phases include:

- 1) PRIME model and the theory of change can be adapted for eye care
- Systematic progress through the three stages of the PRIME model is crucial to the success of the project
- Dedicated teacher screeners are effective in screening children for visual impairment
- Stakeholder handling is important roles must be explicit and communication must be constant. Early communication and engagement when there is a change in policy.

- Selection of screening teams the ideal members are agile and easily adaptable to the community.
- Potential interruptions must be anticipated and dealt with, such as delays in the supply chain for medicines
- 7) Updating the technology is a constant requirement as technology is dynamic
- 8) Mid-term and end-term project evaluation helps to identify gaps and solutions.
- 9) Partnership with stakeholders can help deliver sustainable solutions

Discussion

We have presented the process we followed in setting up the school screening program using Peek and going from a trial to a program. This is the first study to document the setting up of smartphone supported school screening project and implementation by government actors and agencies. We reached more schools than had been initially envisaged. Through this program we have been able to screen over 168,000 school children for visual impairment and we have identified the leading causes of ocular morbidity in this population.

Our study was informed by the PRIME model. We found this model to be useful in visual impairment, just as it was useful in mental health. This might be because both fields meet the following conditions, particularly in low resource settings: they are accorded low priority, they need to be detected in the community, they require innovative tools for detection, the patient and the families need to be supported to take up the intervention.²⁴ Although the main actors in the schools' eye health project were implementors from government departments and agencies with funding from non-government organization, the process of adoption was similar. This suggests that PRIME framework can be used in eye health so long as there is willingness to adopt and to continuously improve.

We found that the intervention was successful, and that it worked as intended. However, we learnt important lessons about how to scale up programs. Other projects have reported similar findings, however most of the published literature is not from the African setting. The advisory committee had a cornerstone role in the success of the program, and we found that all the members were committed and highly skilled in their roles. Their technical and managerial skills were particularly important for the program; hence we recommend identifying the important skills that would be needed for the program to be implemented.

We had a team of five, which worked well for us, but a larger team might reduce the workload on individual members especially during the intensive formative stage.

There were developments and improvements in the technology that occurred during implementation that necessitated upgrade. The improvements needed stopping screening and more training for the teams. These disruptions had the potential of causing discomfort among the various stakeholders due to delay in meeting the set goals but were reduced due the clear program outputs and a monitoring framework agreed at the start of the project. Similarly changes in government policies on screening that could affect school screening, were anticipated and communicated early during stake holders meeting. This therefore reinforces the importance of frequent and open communication to facilitate early planning and tackling of emerging issues.

The intervention had high acceptability among the stakeholders and users. Several factors may have contributed to this. One is the existing trust in technology in the country, arising from the success of similar venture in financial sector, the m-Pesa money transfer app. There was also marked ownership of the process by the county lead, by the governor, and other stakeholders. This strong collaboration between government actors and non-government actors also provided impetus to the implementers. ¹¹

We learnt that strong governance with strong local leadership and commitment is needed to deliver and sustain the scale-up. Moreover, having local participants to champion of the process was very powerful. The engagement based on stakeholders' experiences and skill sets enabled the design of the equitable eye health program.

Mid-term evaluation identified lack of transport and the unavailability of eye services at weekends as important barriers. We introduced provision of triage at a hub school instead of children traveling to the main hospital, based on experiences of implementing the program in Botswana.²⁷ This reduced the distanced traveled by children and hence, improved adherences to attending their referrals following screening from 54% initially in the same region,⁸ to the 92.6% that was finally achieved.²⁵

We found that mapping of key stakeholders, defining their roles and engaging them throughout the project cycle are all critical for acceptance, support, integration and sustainability.²³ Integration of school screening activities into the broader health system with available and functional referral pathways, treatment and follow-up mechanism is a prerequisite to ensure delivery of eye care for the patient.²⁴ Regular engagement of parents as key stakeholder through school and parents' forums was essential for acceptance and taking children for treatment and should be considered for similar projects.

Alignment of the project goals and objectives with government policies enhances acceptability of the project and makes integration into mainstream government structure easy. For instance, aligning the Kenya Peek School Screening project with the Universal Health Coverage agenda, which is currently a priority for the Kenyan government attracted attention of government officials to the project, creating an opportunity for better understanding of the relevance to the health agenda.^{1,28}

Keeping stakeholders engaged throughout a program is critical but often challenging. All the stakeholders remained engaged with the project perhaps because we had a shared plan, and frequent communication. Accountability was maintained by having partners represented in the advisory committee and providing them with quarterly written reports. However, the choice of stakeholders is also important; we engaged stakeholders who had a high level of interest and power, and their roles were clearly defined.²⁹

Although the phases are presented as sequential steps in the framework, we found a lot of overlap between them. Thus, we had to carry on planning, stakeholder engagement and training even beyond the formative stage. The screening itself had a slow start and then picked up. Programs should anticipate this and plan sufficient time for the project.

Each of the phases has unique challenges and it is helpful for future programs to anticipate them. The formative stage was intensive as there were many unknowns especially involving technology. It may have helped to have a demonstration of the technology, role play and discussion of the process involving all the stakeholders during the planning phase. To overcome the uncertainties of the formative phase, it is important for the core team to meet very frequently with stakeholders, and to include role play and demonstration to familiarize them with the new technology or new roles. We also had to conduct sensitization and training even during the scale up phase, hence it is important to plan a budget with these possibilities in mind. Program implementers may also consider planning for an extra workforce at the beginning to avoid delays or the need to recruit additional workforce to respond to these needs. It is also important to carefully consider the selection criteria for the workforce, so as to recruit those who are more likely to stay on the program.

Conclusion

Our experience provides a proof of concept that Peek school screening model can be applied to low resource settings. Its implementation is feasible, given the commitment of the stakeholders. The PRIME model is useful for program implementers because it gave a framework for action and monitor progress. Finally, in translating research to a scale-up program it is important to consider the context (social cultural political and technological), the actors (role of different stakeholders) and process in each of the phase. This finding may be generalized to areas with similar context.

Future studies might investigate costs and cost-effectiveness of such programs and avenues of reducing the false referrals. We plan to replicate this methodology in other counties in Kenya and in other countries.

References

- United Nations. UN Resolution on Universal Health Coverage. 2012. <u>https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/67/L.36&referer=http://www.un.org/en/ga/info/draft/index.shtml&Lang=E</u> (accessed 31/ 03 / 2019 2019).
- World Health Organization. Preventing blindness in children: report of a WHO/IAPB scientific meeting, Hyderabad, India, 13-17 April 1999. Blindness and Deafness Unit & International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. Geneva World Health Organization, 2000.
- Flaxman SR, Bourne RRA, Resnikoff S, et al. Global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990–2020: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global Health* 2017; 5.
- World Health Organization. Visual impairment and blindness. Fact Sheet N°282.
 Updated August 2014 ed: WHO; 2014.
- Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. *British Journal* of Ophthalmology 2012; 96(5): 614-8.
- Barasa E, Otieno SA, Karimurio J. The prevalence and pattern of visual impairment and blindness among Primary School pupils in Kitale Municipality, Kenya. *JOECSA* 2013; **17**(2): 66 -9.
- Muma M, Kimani K, Kariuki W. Prevalence of refractive errors in primary school children of a rural district of Kenya. *Journal of Ophthalmology of Eastern Central and Southern Africa (JOECSA)* 2013; **13**(3): 48-51.
- Rono HK, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, et al. Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018; 6(8): e924-e32.

- Gilbert C, Foster A. Childhood blindness in the context of VISION 2020--the right to sight. Bull World Health Organ 2001; 79(3): 227-32.
- Stewart-Brown SL, Haslum M. Screening of vision in school: could we do better by doing less? *BMJ* 1988; **297**(6656): 1111-3.
- Burnett AM, Yashadhana A, Lee L, Serova N, Brain D, Naidoo K. Interventions to improve school-based eye-care services in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2018; **96**(10): 682-94D.
- Bright T, Felix L, Kuper H, Polack S. A systematic review of strategies to increase access to health services among children in low and middle income countries. *BMC health services research* 2017; **17**(1): 252.
- Syed A, Polack S, Eusebio C, et al. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. *Disabil Rehabil* 2013; **35**(19): 1660-7.
- Bastawrous A, Armstrong MJ. Mobile health use in low- and high-income countries: an overview of the peer-reviewed literature. *J R Soc Med* 2013; **106**(4): 130-42.
- Deloitte, Groupe Speciale Mobile Association. Sub-Saharan Africa Mobile Observatory 2012, 2012.
- Free C, Phillips G, Watson L, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS Med* 2013; **10**(1): e1001363.
- Bastawrous A, Rono HK, Livingstone IT, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and communitybased fieldwork. *JAMA Ophthalmology* 2015; **133**(8): 930-7.
- Lodhia V, Karanja S, Lees S, Bastawrous A. Acceptability, Usability, and Views on Deployment of Peek, a Mobile Phone mHealth Intervention for Eye Care in Kenya: Qualitative Study. *JMIR mHealth uHealth* 2016; **4**(2): e30.

- County Government of Trans Nzoia. FACTS & FIGURES: Trans Nzoia County. 2018.
 www.transnzoia.go.ke/facts-figures/# (accessed 06 June 2019).
- Ministry of Education. The Kenya National Special Needs Education Policy. 2009;
 2009. p. 1-65.
- Hanlon C, Fekadu A, Jordans M, et al. District mental healthcare plans for five lowand middle-income countries: commonalities, variations and evidence gaps. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2016; **208 Suppl 56**: s47-54.
- 22. Connell JP, Kubisch AC. Applying a Theory of Change Approach to the Evaluation of Comprehensive Community Initiatives : Progress , Prospects , and Problems. 2008.
- Lund C, Tomlinson M, De Silva M, et al. PRIME: a programme to reduce the treatment gap for mental disorders in five low- and middle-income countries. *PLoS Med* 2012;
 9(12): e1001359.
- 24. Breuer E, De Silva MJ, Shidaye R, et al. Planning and evaluating mental health services in low- and middle-income countries using theory of change. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2016; **208 Suppl 56**(Suppl 56): s55-62.
- 25. Karimurio J. EVALUATION REPORT: UP-SCALING SCREENING OF CHILDREN USING PORTABLE EYE EXAMINATION KIT(Peek) IN SCHOOLS IN TRANS NZOIA COUNTY, KENYA.; 2019; 2019.
- Breuer E, De Silva MJ, Fekadu A, et al. Using workshops to develop theories of change in five low and middle income countries: lessons from the programme for improving mental health care (PRIME). *International Journal of Mental Health Systems* 2014; 8(1): 15.

- 27. Tomas A, Maipelo J, Keitumetse T, et al. Implementing a School Vision Screening Program in Botswana Using Smartphone Technology. *Telemedicine and e-Health*; **0**(0): null.
- 28. Ministry of Health. Kenya Health Policy 2014-2030. . Nairobi: Ministry of Health, 2011.
- Mendelow AL. Association for Information Systems AIS Electronic Library (AISeL) Environmental Scanning-The Impact of the Stakeholder Concept. ICIS 1981 Proceedings 20; 1981; 1981.

Chapter 5. The development and validation of smartphone guided algorithms for use by Community Volunteers to screen and refer people with eye problems in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya



Figure 5-1: Translating decision matrix in to a digital guided form operated on Android



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646

F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Hillary Kipkemboi Rono	
Principal Supervisor	Dr. Andrew Bastawrous	
Thesis Title	Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need	

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	Journal of Medical Internet Research (JMIR) - mHealth and uHealth
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Hillary Rono Andrew Bastawrous David Macleod Cosmas Bunywera Ronald Mamboleo Emmanuel Wanjala Matthew Burton
Stage of publication	Submitted

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	Together with my senior colleagues I designed the study, prepared the protocol and submited for ethical approval, led the project, data collection, initial analysis of the data and wrote the first draft of the paper with edits from supervisors and co-authors	
Student Signature:	08.10.2019	
Supervisor Signature:	Date:09.10.2019	

The development and validation of smartphone guided algorithms for use by Community Volunteers to screen and refer people with eye problems in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya

Authors and affiliations

Dr Hillary Rono 1,2

- Dr Andrew Bastawrous ^{1,3}
- Dr David Macleod⁴
- Mr. Cosmas Bunywera ³
- Mr. Ronald Mamboleo²
- Dr. Emmanuel Wanjala²
- Prof. Matthew Burton ^{1,5}

Affiliations:

- International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom
- 2. Kitale County and Referral Hospital, Kenya
- 3. The Peek Vision Foundation, London, UK
- MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom
- 5. Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Dr Hillary Rono

International Centre for Eye Health, Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Keppel Street, London, WC1E 7HT

United Kingdom

Email: <u>Hillary.Rono@lshtm.ac.uk</u>

Abstract

Background: Eye care provision is currently insufficient to meet the requirement for eye care services. Many people remain unnecessarily visually impaired or at risk of becoming so due to treatable or preventable eye conditions. A lack of access and awareness of services are key barriers, in large part due to their being too few eye care providers in the health system for the unmet need. We hypothesized that by utilising novel smartphone-based clinical algorithms it is possible to task-shift eye screening to community volunteers (CVs) to accurately identify and refer patients to primary eye care services.

Methods: We compared CVs referral decisions using smartphone based clinical algorithms (*Peek Community Screening App*) to those by an experienced Ophthalmic Clinical officer (OCO), the reference standard. The same participants were assessed by a trained CV using the App and by an OCO using standard outreach equipment. The outcome was the proportion of all decisions that were correct when compared to the OCO's results. All decisions about referral were used to calculate sensitivity, specificity, and predictive values (positive and negative). An iterative design approach was used to reach the required sensitivity and specificity. The final iteration sample size was 516 participants.

Results: The required sensitivity and specificity was of the Peek Community Screening was reached after seven iterations. In the seventh iteration the OCO identified referable eye problems in 378/574 (65.9 %) participants. CVs correctly identified 344/378 (sensitivity 91.0%, 95% CI 87.7% - 93.7%) of these and also correctly identified 153/196 (specificity 78.1%, 95% CI 71.6% - 83.6%) as not having a referable eye problem. The positive predictive value was 88.9%, (95% CI 85.3%-91.8%) and the negative predictive value was 81.8%, (95% CI 75.5%-87.1%).

Conclusion: CVs can accurately use the Peek Community Screening App to identify and refer people with eye problems. An iterative design process is necessary to ensure validity in the local context.

Key words

Visual impairment; eye problems; clinical algorithms; mobile phone; screening; eye-care workers; mHealth; sensitivity; specificity

Background

It is estimated that 216.6 million people globally are visually impaired (visual acuity in the better eye <6/18) and 36 million are blind (visual acuity in the better eye <3/60).[1] About 90% live in low and middle-income countries (LMICs).[2] In sub-Saharan Africa about 26 million people are visually impaired and almost 6 million are blind.[3]

The high prevalence of visual impairment (VI) is attributed to poverty and lack of access to eye services;[4] shortages of health workers trained in eye care; [5] and lack of awareness of the eye conditions they have.[6] Few countries in sub-Saharan Africa have reached the World Health Organization (WHO) suggested ophthalmic cadre minimum targets of one ophthalmologist for 250,000 people to meet the surgical need of population to meet the population needs. [7, 8] Some countries especially in Africa have trained mid-level personnel including ophthalmic nurses and ophthalmic clinical officers (OCOs) to share key tasks and to compensate for the lack of ophthalmologists.[9, 10] In those countries, they provide the bulk of eye care (including preventive, diagnostic and referral services) in most rural and remote areas. [11] Generally the few available eye health workers are concentrated in urban areas, further increasing inequalities in access to eye health care.[7, 12] For example, in Trans Nzoia, a rural county in Kenya, with a population of 818,757, [13] the doctor to population ratio is 5.4 per 100,000 and the nurse population ratio is 47 per 100,000 people.[14] This is lower than the recommended WHO minimum ratio of 230 per 100,000 population for any cadre.[15]

An important strategy to improve access to eye care is task shifting, with redistribution of tasks within the health workforce, through clear referral criteria and management plans.[16] For example, guided task shifting through clinical algorithms defined as a text (flow chart) representing clinical decisions for guiding patient care [17]) are a core part of the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI).[18] IMCI algorithms are effective in identifying pneumonia, gastroenteritis, measles, malaria and malnutrition, however, eye conditions were not included.[19] Clinical algorithms have also been developed for use in eye care, although

the accuracy of these algorithms has been variable. These include the "Edinburgh Red Eye Diagnostic Algorithm" to determine the correct ophthalmic diagnosis in a hospital by non-eye care nurses, [20] and the "Edinburgh Visual Loss Algorithm" to assess the cause of visual loss by clinicians with no experience in ophthalmology.[21] Recently, the World Health Organization (WHO) developed and published clinical algorithms for primary health care (PHC) workers in Africa to assess patients with eye conditions, if proved acceptable these algorithms could improve decision making at the PHC level. [22]

Mobile health (mHealth) defined as the use of mobile and wireless technologies to support the achievement of health objectives is increasing and gaining acceptance.[23, 24] There are a growing number of mHealth interventions for eye care. These include Peek Acuity, a smartphone/tablet application for measuring visual acuity,[25] A trial in primary schools in Kenya demonstrated teachers could use Peek Acuity to detect visual impairment (visual acuity $\leq 6/12$) in school children who were age 6 years or older. [26] This provided evidence that mHealth solutions could enable task-shifting and improved access to eye health services.

In this study we describe the process of developing and testing the "Peek Community Screening App". A smartphone-based referral decision support algorithm designed to guide users to identify eye problems which need referral using common eye signs and symptoms. To our knowledge this is the first smart phone-based algorithm to aid referral of patients with eye problems from the community to primary eye care.

The target system users were community volunteers (CV) -individuals who live in the community and are selected by the community to represent them on issues of health.[27] Their roles include health promotion, referring cases to the nearest health facility, visiting homes to determine health status and communication with household members. [28, 29] They receive a short defined informal training that is relevant to their work.

Most studies have used ophthalmologists as the reference standard.[20-22, 30] We chose OCOs because the majority work in rural areas (context where the app is used), are the first contact between people with eye problems and have the relevant experience to make diagnoses and treatment decisions using available equipment in outreach settings, figue1.



Figure 1: Conceptual framework for the various methods used to identify eye problems

Source: Modified from theoretical frame work used to train Community Volunteers to identify stroke.[31]

This paper outlines the development process and the results of Peek Community Screening App over a number of iterations, where the algorithm was altered to improve its performance, before settling on a final algorithm to be taken forward. We describe in detail the results for the final algorithm.
Methods

Ethics Approval

Approval was granted by the London school of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee, UK and the Institutional Research and Ethics Committee (IREC) in Moi University, Eldoret Kenya. The study adhered to provisions of the Helsinki Declaration. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Development and Pre-Validation Testing

We initially adopted the signs and symptoms used in a study that predicted eye conditions requiring referral in Rwanda, Madagascar and Malawi, [30] and incorporated the process used in developing WHO clinical algorithms for primary health care (PHC) as a starting point for the design of our algorithms.[22] We adapted them to the environment and context for Trans Nzoia County for which the algorithms were to be used. The factors considered in making referral decisions were: age, the presence of signs and symptoms of common eye problems and visual acuity. Initially decision trees were drawn on paper and tested informally on small numbers of individuals in a hospital setting. In early tests we observed low specificity and incrementally changed the algorithm based on the observed results and clinical knowledge of the study authors.

From this formative work, we then developed guided questions and assessments for the CVs in order for them to be able to make referral decisions. Using the potential responses to the questions, we developed a workflow and decision matrix that were then translated in to a digital guided form operated on Android smartphones or tablets. The decision matrix (algorithms) were coded into a prototype App the 'Peek Community Screening App' in collaboration with Peek Vision (London, UK) for use by the community volunteers.

We adopted a two phase (hospital and community) pre-validation process to ensure that the final algorithm was accurate, relevant and acceptable in this setting and also to prepare the

team adequately before the formal validation study.[32] Based on the clinical experience of the authors, we set the sensitivity of the algorithm to be no less than 90% and specificity above 75%. We selected and trained the CVs before commencing the pre-validation in the community setting.

Four Community Volunteers (CVs) were purposefully selected from a pool of practising CVs. A three-day training of CVs, on how to use the Peek Community Screening App to identify and refer participants with eye problems was conducted by two authors. Written guides, roleplays and supervised practice sessions using consenting patients from the eye department were used for teaching purposes. Two CVs discontinued the training due to personal reasons while the remaining two CVs conducted all the validations.

To assess the consistency of CVs using the App, the same patients were independently examined by the lead author and by the two remaining CVs, all using the Peek Community Screening App to make an automated referral decision. We compared the referral decisions of the CVs to the lead author using the same app on the same participants. Interrater agreement was assessed using the Kappa statistic. A Kappa value of 0.41 to 0.60 indicated moderate, 0.61 to 0.80 fair, and 0.81 or more indicated a good agreement. [33]

We first tested the App and refined its algorithm in a hospital setting where people with a variety of eye conditions were available. We examined both the patients and their escorts (without eye problems). The purpose was to assess if the algorithm was able to identify referable eye conditions, and to refine the procedures that would be followed by CVs during screening.

Following the initial hospital-based testing, we transferred the testing and refinement of the algorithms to a community setting where they would eventually be used in practice. The aim was to assess the usability of the App in identifying people with eye problems; and to determine whether the target sensitivity and specificity thresholds could be met.

145

Interim analysis was conducted after two field tests to determine whether the target sensitivity and specificity had been achieved. For this, we compared referral decisions of the CVs using the App to that of the ophthalmologist as reference standard. If the target sensitivity and specificity were both not met, data on the decision trees were assessed to determine which specific inputs (questions, measures or dependencies) needed to be amended and made such amendments using our clinical knowledge. The changes were implemented in software and the validation process repeated until the sensitivity and specificity targets were met. The accepted end point was determined to be either the targets being met or when all practical combinations had been exhausted.

Validation Study

Study design and setting

The validation study was conducted during outreach clinics in selected communities of Trans Nzoia County, Kenya. Most outreach clinics were conducted after church services to provide a broadly representative sample from the community. All consenting participants presenting to outreach centres (irrespective of the type of illness) were eligible to participate. These participants were examined by same Community Volunteers (who had participated in the pretesting), using the 'Peek Community Screening App' and by one experienced Ophthalmic Clinical officer (OCOs), the reference standard, using standard outreach equipment. Their referral decisions (refer or not) were compared. The study was coordinated by a team from the Kitale Eye Unit.

Index test: Referral decisions by CVs using Peek Community Screening App

In the final test algorithm users were prompted to ask the following screening questions to the parents or guardian with a child, "Does the child have any problem with their eyes today?" or directly to participant themselves, "Do you have any discomfort or pain in your eyes today?" and "Do you have a problem with your sight when seeing far or near objects?". If the participant was six years or older, the App prompts the user to test distance visual acuity using Peek

Acuity App and assess near visual acuity for all people aged 40 years and older assessed at 33 cm using the RADNER reading chart.[34] The distance visual acuity of each eye was measured separately and recorded automatically using the Peek Acuity App.[35] If the distance visual acuity was less than 6/12 in either eye; or there was the presence of any self-reported eye pain or discomfort; difficulty seeing distant or near objects; or not able see N8 on near vision assessment for those aged 40 years or older, the participant was referred. Any eye problem in children (\leq 6 years) as reported by parents or caretakers triggered a referral, Figure 2.



Figure 2: The questions and decisions matrix used in the Peek community-screening app to generate a referral decision

Reference standard: Referral decisions by OCO using standard outreach equipment

The reference standard was the referral decision by one ophthalmic clinical officer with 14 years' experience in ophthalmology using standard equipment for outreach. He was familiar with local customs in the setting. The outreach equipment included a Snellen 6-metre vision chart to asses distance vision, RADNER reading chart for near vision, a torch, magnifying loop, i-care contact tonometer, direct ophthalmoscope, retinoscope, trial lens set and fluorescein stains. Standard slit lamp was not used for assessment because it is not the norm to conduct a slit lamp assessment during outreach in this setting.

Study Procedures

Consecutive participants were examined for eye problems by the CVs using the app and then by the OCO using standard outreach equipment. The CVs followed the assessment guide and examined visual acuity using the embedded Peek Acuity vision test or near vision using a card when indicated. They entered the participant's responses in the Peek Community Screening App, where a referral decision was generated automatically. Their decisions were also automatically recorded and uploaded to a dedicated cloud server once internet connectivity was available.

After the CVs examination, the OCO masked to the decision of the CV, took a detailed history and examination from the same participants. Specific information on eye pain, eye discomfort (itching, irritation), tenderness or eye discharge was collected; vision was assessed as outlined above. A magnifying loupe and torch were used to assess the colour of the conjunctiva, the appearance of the pupil, the alignment of the participants' eyes, the presence of eye discharge and any lid abnormalities. Direct ophthalmoscopy was used to assess the lens, vitreous and retina. When indicated the cornea was assessed using fluorescein and blue for corneal ulcers or abrasions. Intraocular pressure was measured using the i-care tonometer. A retinoscope and trial lenses were used to assess refractive errors A differential diagnosis for each eye was made for the purpose of management. Recording of the diagnosis followed the Kenyan Ministry of Health classification where the eye could be "normal" (no eye pathology) or any of the following diagnoses; cataract, corneal scars, conjunctivitis, keratitis, uveitis, retinal disease, eyelid disease, presbyopia, other refractive error, foreign body, eye growths, eye injury and "other". The OCO selected the applicable diagnosis. All patients were treated as per the OCO's plan. The OCO recorded their decision and treatment plan on a pre-coded data collection form.

Analysis

The primary outcome was the sensitivity and specificity of the CV assessment using the Peek Community Screening App for appropriate referral decisions, compared to the OCO's recommendation for referral. The minimum target sensitivity was 90% and specificity 75%. Positive and negative predictive values were also estimated. Logistic regression was used to identify whether there was any association between correct decisions being made by CVs and the participants' age and sex. This was done by using CV's referral decisions as the outcome variable and age/sex as exposures, and the analysis was performed separately among those classed as requiring referral or not requiring referral by the reference standard.

We calculated that a sample size of 517 participants was required in order to estimate a sensitivity to a precision of +/- 5%, assuming a sensitivity of 90% and that 30% of participants require referral. So, we aimed to recruit this number for the final iteration of the validation.

Data for CVs was downloaded from Peek's dedicated servers in Excel format, exported to STATA, cleaned and analysed. Information from the OCO pre-coded questionnaire were entered into an Excel database (Microsoft, Seattle, USA), cleaned and exported to STATA. Data was analysed using STATA, version 15.0, (Stata Corp. LP, College Station, TX, United States of America).[36] Age was rounded up to the nearest one year and the diagnosis was

reclassified using the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems- ICD 10. [37]

Results

This study was conducted between November 2016 and May 2018.

Interrater agreement of the CVs

During training of the CVs, automated referral decisions were generated by the app for 59 participants which were used to assess interrater agreement between the reference assessor (lead author) and the CVs. The reference assessor found that 44/59 (74.6%) of the participants required referral compared to 49/59 (83.0%) and 50/59 (84.8%) by CV1 and CV2, respectively. There was 84.8% agreement for referral decisions between the reference assessor and CV1 and 86.4% for CV2; with a moderate κ of 0.55 and 0.58, respectively.

Pre-validation of Peek Community Screening app

One iteration in the hospital and Five iterations were tested in the community before arriving at the final version (iteration seven) which was used for validation study. The changes introduced at each iteration stage and the test performance of the versions are shown in Table 1.

Table 1: Sensitivity and specificity of Peek community screening app and the changes introduced at each iteration during validation.

Setting, Iteration and changes introduced	OCO Decision	CV Decision using 'Peek screening App'		Sensitivity (95% CI)	Specificity (95% CI)	PPV (95% CI)	NPV (95% CI)		
HOSPITAL SETTING									
			D a d						
Iteration 1 (enriched sample)		Refer	Don't refer	Total					
Ask for presence of any eye problem (No time limit)	Refer	117	1	118					
Distance VA testing not	Dent				99.2 %	52.4%	92.1%	91.7 %	
mandatory for someone with	refer	10	11	21	(95.4-100)	(29.8-74.3)	(86.0-96.2)	(61.5-99.8)	
eye problem	reiei				-				
	Total	127	12	139					
COMMUNITY SETTINGS									
Iteration 2 (enriched			Don't	T 1					
community sample)		Refer	refer	Total					
Same question above, in									
outreach setting with self-	Refer	250	3	253					
selected patients	Don't				00.00/	660/	02.2%	02.1%	
nrohlem (No time limit)	refer	18	35	53	98.8% (96.6-99.8)	(51 7-8 5)	93.3% (89.6-96.0)	92.1% (78 6-98 3)	
Distance VA testing not	Terer				(50.0 55.0)	(51.7 0.57	(05.0 50.0)	(70.0 50.0)	
mandatory for someone with	Total	268	38	306					
eye problem									
			Don't						
Iteration 3		Refer	refer	Total					
testing	Refer	110	3	113	97.3 %	17.8%	59.8%	84.2 %	
Ask for presence of any eye problem (No time limit)	Don't refer	74	16	90	(92.4-99.4)	(10.5-27.3)	(52.3-66.9)	(60.4-96.6)	
Mandatory distance VA testing	Total	184	19	203					
Iteration 4		Refer	Don't refer	Total					
Limited the duration of eye problem to 1 day (today)	Refer	182	50	232	70.4.0/	75.0	05.0/		
Ask for presence of eye	Don't	37	99	131	78.4 % (72 6-83 6)	/5.0 (67 3-82 7)	85 % (79.6-89.5)	(58.3-74.0)	
problem today?	refer	52	55	151	(72.0-05.0)	(07.3-02.7)			
Mandatory distance VA testing	Total	214	149	363					
			Dault						
Iteration 5		Refer	refer	Total					
Introduced eye pain instead of eye problem limited to 1 day	Refer	144	28	172					
Mandatory distance VA testing	Don't refer	54	85	139	83.7 % (77.3-88.9)	61.2% (52.5-69.3)	72.7% (66-78.8)	75.2% (66.2-82.9)	
Asked - Any pain in your eyes today?	Total	198	113	311					
Asked - Any problem with									
seeing far or near objects									
today?									
			Don't						
Iteration 6		Refer	refer	Total					
Introduced eye discomfort	Refer	342	36	378	1				
Mandatory distance VA testing	Don't refer	102	176	278	90.5% (87 1-93 2)	63.3% (57 3-69 0)	77.0% (72 8-80 9)	83.0% (77 3-87 8)	
Asked - Any eye pain or discomfort today?	Total	444	212	656	(07.1)3.2)	(37.3 03.0)	(72.0 00.5)	(77.5 07.6)	

Asked - Any problem with								
seeing far or near objects								
today?								
Iteration 7 – FINAL		Pofor	Don't	Total				
ALGORITHM		Refer	refer	TULAI				
Mandatory distance VA testing								
& near vision for those aged	Refer	344	34	378				
40+								
Asked - Any eye pain or	Don't	42	152	106	91.0%	78.1%	88.9%	81.8%
discomfort today?	refer	43	153	190	(87.7-93.7)	(71.6-83.6)	(85.3-91.8)	(75.5-87.1)
Asked - Any problem with								
seeing far or near objects	Total	387	187	574				
today?								

Legend: CV – community volunteer, NPV- Negative Predictive Value, PPV - Positive predictive value

Validation Study of the final Peek Community Screening App

We included 574 (who had complete OCOC and CV examination and outcome data) out of the potential 607 eligible participants in the analysis of the performance of the seventh iteration of the Peek community Screening App, Figure 3.



Figure 3: A STARD flow chart for study participants

The demographic characteristics of this group are shown in Tables 2.

	Total n	umber	Referred b	у ОСО	Referred using Pee		
Characteristics	N=574ª		N=378 ^b		N=387 ^b		
	n	%	n	%	n	%	
Sex							
Male	213	37.1	135	63.4	140	65.7	
Female	361	62.9	243	67.3	247	68.4	
Age group							
<15	252	43.9	128	50.8	141	55.0	
15-29	100	17.4	53	53.0	55	55.0	
30-44	80	13.9	57	71.3	53	66.3	
45-59	76	13.2	75	98.7	72	94.7	
60-74	52	9.1	51	98.1	52	100	
75+	14	2.4	14	100	14	100	
Visual Acuity (reference)							
Children (vision not assessed)	82	14.3	41	50	40	48.8	
6/6 - 6/12	411	71.6	256	62.3	268	65.2	
6/18 - 6/60	59	10.3	59	100	57	96.6	
< 6/60	22	3.8	22	100	22	100	

Table 2: Age, Sex and visual status of all study participants, those referred by OCO using standard equipment and by CVs using Peek Community Screening App.

^a The distribution of the characteristics the study participants.

^b Proportions within each characteristic group that were referred by the OCO or CVs using Peek.

Eye problems that needed referral were diagnosed by the OCO (reference standard) in 378/574 (65.9 %) of the participants. CVs using Peek Community Screening App correctly identified 344/378 (sensitivity 91.0%, 95% Cl 87.7% - 93.7%) as having referable eye conditions and 153/196 (specificity 78.1%, 95% Cl 71.6% - 83.6%) as not. The positive

predictive value was 88.9%, (95% CI 85.3%-91.8%) and the negative predictive value was 81.8%, (95% CI 75.5%-87.1%).

The accuracy of algorithm varied depending on whether question alone or objectively assessed vision was used. If we used distance visual acuity and assessed near vision for those aged 40 years or older alone, without asking any of the questions about eye pain or discomfort or the question about disturbance in vision, the sensitivity dropped to 42.1% (95% CI 37.0% - 47.2%) and specificity was 98.5% (95% CI 95.6% - 99.7%).

If we asked about symptoms of eye pain / discomfort and disturbance in vision, with no eye examinations the sensitivity would be 87.6% (95% CI 83.8% - 90.7%) and specificity of 79.1% (95% CI 72.7% - 84.6%). If the strategy was to refer anyone aged 40 years or older (irrespective of visual acuity of self-reported issues) and those aged under 40 who self-reported either vision problems or eye pain/discomfort then the estimated sensitivity would be 91.5% (95% CI 88.3% - 94.1%) and a specificity of 77% (95% CI 70.5% - 82.7%)

Out of the 196 participants not referred by the OCO (without eye conditions), CVs using the app incorrectly referred (false positives) 43/196 (21.9%). There was no evidence found that being incorrectly referred was associated with sex (OR 0.70, 0.35-1.35, p=0.31) or age (OR 1.00, 0.97-1.03, p=0.86).

Further analysis of these incorrect referrals by CVs (false positives) showed that the reasons they had been referred were: 3/43 (7.0%) could not see 6/12 (had visual impairment); 1/43 (2.3%) had both visual impairment and self-reported eye pain or discomfort; 19/43 (44.2%) had self-reported difficulty seeing distant or near objects only; 16/43 (37.2%) had eye pain or discomfort only; and 4 (9.2%) complained of both eye pain or discomfort and difficulty seeing distant or near vision assessment.

Similarly, out of 378 participants who were referred by the OCO (had eye problems), CVs correctly referred 344/378 (91.0%). There was evidence (p=0.003) of a difference in the odds

of the CV using the app referring participants by age, with the odds of being referred (if referral was required according to reference standard) higher in those aged 40 or older compared to those under 40 (OR 4.38, 95% CI 1.66 – 11.59), this was driven by the very high referral rate in the over 40s, with the vast majority being referred both by the OCO and the CV using the app. There was no evidence (p=0.28) of a difference by sex (OR 1.47, 95% CI 0.72 – 3.00). Most (25/34, 73.6%) of the participants classified as false negatives had conjunctivitis (allergic and other), Table 3.

Table 3: Clinical diagnosis of the participants referred by OCO and referral decisions by CHVusing the Peek Community Screening App

	Referral decision by CV using Peek Community Screening App								
Summary of Diagnosis	Re	ferred	Not referred (false negatives)						
	Number	%	Number	%					
Cataracts	29	8.5	0	0					
Presbyopia	56	16.3	2	5.9					
Glaucoma	1	2.9	1	0.5					
Refractive Errors	64	18.6	2	5.9					
Allergic Conjunctivitis	117	34.0	16	47.1					
Other Conjunctivitis	44	12.8	9	26.5					
Corneal disease	2	0.6	0	0					
Retinal Disease	5	1.5	0	0					
Eye Injury and FB	1	0.3	0	0					
Uveitis	1	0.3	0	0					
Pterygium conjunctival swellings	10	2.9	0	0					
Chalazion and lid swellings	2	0.3	0	0					
Others:	12	3.5	4	11.8					
Total	344	100	34	100					

Discussion

We iteratively developed and validated smartphone-based algorithms used by community volunteers to identify and refer people with eye conditions for services from the community. The standard against which the algorithm was designed and validated were the referral decisions of a trained ophthalmic worker on the same participants.

We pre-determined in the study design the acceptable sensitivity and specificity levels to ensure adequate sensitivity to detect people with referable eye conditions in the community and also specific enough not to overburden the system. This was determined as a sensitivity of not less than 90% and specificity not less than 75%.

We found 65.9% of the participants enrolled in this study had a referable eye condition based on the examination using standard outreach equipment. This was higher than the prevalence of ocular morbidity found in other studies in Kenya and Rwanda, where the prevalence was 15.2% and 34%, respectively.[38, 39] This is likely to be due to differences in the study populations and case definitions used by the studies. We conducted most validation rounds after church when most people could attend an eye check, to get a representative sample of the community, however this may not be an unbiased sample. The case definition for the earlier ocular morbidity study in Kenya excluded minor eye conditions such as pinguecula, which we included.[39] In the Rwanda national survey only moderate to severe eye symptoms were included but in our study all symptoms irrespective of severity were considered.[38]

We found that community volunteers (CVs) could use the App, with moderate inter-observer agreement between them and the study ophthalmologist. The accuracy (sensitivity and specificity) of the algorithm was affected by prior duration of the symptoms, the commonality of symptoms and signs across different eye diseases and the number of signs and symptoms used to generate algorithm. Sensitivity of the algorithm decreased (from 97.3% to 78.4%) with a corresponding increase in specificity (17.8 % to 78.6%) when the duration of any eye symptoms was limited to one day from any duration ["Do you have any eye problem today?"]. There was a simultaneous increase in specificity (from 61.2% to 63.3%) and in sensitivity (from

83.7% to 90.5%) when presence of pain was expanded to include eye discomfort. Finally, introduction of near vision assessment improved the specificity (from 63.3% to 78.1%). It appears that if more signs and symptoms were included in the development of that algorithm the accuracy could be improved, but the decision to include additional elements had to be balanced with the extra cost of equipment to be used and the level of education and subsequent training requirement of CVs. Overall the algorithm had to be accurate, acceptable affordable and reproducible.

Trained CVs could use the final algorithm to accurately identify and refer people with eye problems (sensitivity 91.0%) and also those without eye disease (specificity 78.1%) in the community. We observed that that subjective questions were likely to cause greater variation in responses and hence performance of the algorithm.

For example, analysis of the referral criteria used in the algorithm show that, self-reported symptoms contributed more to the sensitivity of the algorithm than objective measurement of vision. If we didn't ask any of the questions on eye pain or discomfort and the one on disturbance in vision, our sensitivity would drop to 42.1%, this would result in missing 219 out of 378 determined to need referral instead of the 34 we miss now. In fact, it would be a far better screening test to not do any eye tests at all and just ask for symptoms of eye pain or discomfort and disturbance in vision. This would give us a sensitivity of 87.6% and specificity of 79.1%. If we just asked the two questions and age, then referred anyone over 40 or who answered yes to either question we get an estimated sensitivity of 91.5% and specificity of 77.0%. The findings suggest that if we excluded the objective measurement, we would not achieve an acceptable algorithm, unless if we referred everyone older than 40 years. A population-based study in Tanzania found the prevalence of presbyopia among people aged 40 years or older to be 61.7%, [40] implying that by referring everyone over 40 years we could overload the system with false referrals. This concurs with our observation in which participants aged 40 years or older were more likely to be referred by a CV and not by the OCO (false positives).

159

Similarly, the same self-reported symptoms of eye pain or discomfort and self-reported poor sight contributed to inaccurate decisions from the algorithm. About 81.4 % of false positive referrals using the app were from participants self-reporting to have eye discomfort or poor eyesight. Whereas, only 7% of false positives were due to inaccurate vision assessment. The findings suggest the need for training of the CVs to have skills in basic history taking and examinations. To reduce these false positive referrals, more clinical practise during training could improve their skills in assessing patients with eye problems. Some studies on performance of CHVs,[41] suggest a thorough initial training with supportive supervision to improve agreement between assessors. This implies that successful training could aim at certifying CVs who attained minimum agreement (moderate to almost perfect agreement with the reference assessor) before screening the community for eye problems. A further suggestion would be to retrain or even discontinue CVs who do not achieve the desired agreement, and include a systematic way to provide continuous assessment on referral appropriateness to maintain post-training standards.

We found that the participants who were referred by the OCO but not by the CV (false negatives), mostly (73.6%) had ocular surface inflammatory conditions such as allergic conjunctivitis, presbyopia (5.9%) or refractive errors (5.9%) (Table 3). We found that most participants with allergic conjunctivitis were correctly referred, suggesting that those identified as false negatives, may have had mild symptoms. This could have resulted from self-reported symptoms that were selectively mentioned to the CV but not the OCO. Although we did not analyse the severity of allergic conjunctivitis to conclusively classify them as false negatives, other studies have found that some patients who presented with red eyes and allergic conjunctivitis for outpatient consultations had less severe conjunctivitis that could be transient or managed at primary point of contact.[42, 43]

The findings therefore suggest the need for a deeper understanding and analysis of allergic eye conditions according to severity. There are suggestions to improve the sensitivity of current algorithm: the first approach is to introduce an assessment for red eyes into the algorithm with

integrated images of different types of red eyes to aid in the classification of severity. The second approach is up scaling screeners' knowledge to distinguishing normal and allergic eye disease. The ideal CVs should therefore have the skill set to identify visual impairment, referable and non-referable allergy; and Identification and management of presbyopia. This could however require policy change to implement in practice.

Finally, it may be possible to recalibrate the referral criteria for visual impairment based on the capacity of the services, restricting the threshold of referral to a level that generates referrals of those with more severe visual impairment and lowering this threshold over time as capacity increases to ensure the health system is not overburdened.

As demonstrated, there are multiple factors that affect the performance and acceptance of a guided screening algorithm, these include the subjective and objective inputs in the decision tree. Objective threshold tests such as acuity lead to a binary output (pass or fail) whereas subjective assessments such as self-perception of vision loss has a spectrum of outputs that requires a binary threshold to be derived in order to progress through the decision tree. Every iteration requires significant time and resource making optimisation challenging in practice, there is a potential for utilizing web-based A / B testing techniques currently being used in digital marketing to optimise algorithms more rapidly. [44]

There are limitations to be considered in this study. The study was conducted after church services and could have excluded those who didn't attend church. Moreover, those who participated may have had a perceived eye problem, which could have resulted in higher prevalence of referable eye conditions and hence higher predictive values. There could also be diagnostic uncertainty in the reference standard in this study where an OCO used simple outreach equipment without a slit lamp. The OCOs used as the reference are not available in other health systems and therefore the results may be not generalizable to those setting.

The Peek Community Screening App meets the minimum predetermined criteria. The next step is to incorporate the algorithm into a screening system to asses performance in a health

system, to identify people with eye problems and link them to primary and secondary centres. We anticipate that more people with eye health needs will be able access the appropriate level of eye services. More validation studies conducted in different settings and improvement to the existing algorithm may be required. Further research on the performance of the algorithms is needed for specific ages groups (aged 15 years or less, 15-40 years and those 40 year and older). If acceptable standards are met it could be of value in both determining the population demand for eye services in population-based studies as well as being a validated methodology for increasing access to appropriate services in integrated eye health programmes.

Acknowledgements

Kitale county and referral hospital eye unit staff, Kenya.

Funding

The research was funded through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium (CEHC), with funding from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust's "Avoidable Blindness" programme. The CEHC is administered through the International Centre for Eye Health (ICEH) based at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. MJB is supported by the Wellcome Trust 207472/Z/17/Z. The funders had no role in the design, execution, interpretation, or writing of the study.

Authors' contributions

Literature search: HR AB Study conception, design and Methodology: HR AB DM MJB Data collection: CB HR RM Statistical analysis: HR DM Drafting the manuscript: HR Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: All authors Obtained funding: AB MJB Administrative, technical or material support: EW CB Study supervision: AB MJB

Competing interests

The Peek Vision Foundation (09919543) is a registered charity in England and Wales (1165960) with a wholly owned trading subsidiary, Peek Vision Ltd (09937174). Professor Matthew Burton is a Trustee of The Peek Vision Foundation and Dr Andrew Bastawrous is CEO of The Peek Vision Foundation and Peek Vision Ltd. HR is an advisor to Peek Vision Ltd. All other authors declare no conflict of interest. This submission has not been published anywhere previously and is not simultaneously being considered for any other publication.

References

- Flaxman, S.R., et al., Global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990-2020: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health, 2017. 5(12): p. e1221-e1234.
- Thylefors, B., A global initiative for the elimination of avoidable blindness. Am J Ophthalmol, 1998. 125(1): p. 90-3.
- 3. Pascolini, D. and S.P. Mariotti, *Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010.* The British journal of ophthalmology, 2011: p. bjophthalmol-2011-300539-.
- 4. Gilbert, C.E., et al., *Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: results from the Pakistan national blindness and visual impairment survey.* Bmj, 2008. **336**(7634): p. 29-32.
- 5. Resnikoff, S., et al., *The number of ophthalmologists in practice and training worldwide:* a growing gap despite more than 200,000 practitioners. Br J Ophthalmol, 2012. 96(6): p. 783-7.
- Syed, A., et al., Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. Disabil Rehabil, 2013. 35(19): p. 1660-7.
- Palmer, J.J., et al., *Mapping human resources for eye health in 21 countries of sub-Saharan Africa: current progress towards VISION 2020.* Hum Resour Health, 2014. 12: p. 44.
- World Health Organization, *Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014-2019.* 2013,
 World Health Organization: Geneva.
- Courtright, P., et al., Use of our existing eye care human resources: assessment of the productivity of cataract surgeons trained in eastern Africa. Arch Ophthalmol, 2007.
 125(5): p. 684-7.
- Lewallen, S., et al., Non-physician cataract surgeons in Sub-Saharan Africa: situation analysis. Trop Med Int Health, 2012. 17(11): p. 1405-8.
- du Toit, R. and G. Brian, *Mid-level cadre providing eye care in the context of Vision* 2020. N Z Med J, 2009. **122**(1291): p. 77-88.

- Ramke, J., et al., *Evidence for national universal eye health plans*. Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 2018. **96**(10): p. 695-704.
- Kenya National Bureau of statistics, *Population distribution by Adminstartive units*, in 2009 Kenya Population and Housing Census. 2010, Kenya National Bureau of statistics: Nairobi.
- 14. Ministry of Health Kenya, *Kenya Service Availability and Readiness Assessment and Mapping Report (SARAM)*. 2012, MOH: Nairobi.
- 15. World Health Organization. Achieving the health-related MDGs. It takes a workforce! Health Work force 2010 15/11/2015; Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/hrh/fig_density.pdf?ua=1</u>.
- 16. World Health Organization, *Treat, Train, Retain: Task Shifting Global Recomendations and Guidelines*, in *World Health Organization*. 2008, WHO: Geneva. p. 96.
- 17. Margolis, C.Z., *Uses of clinical algorithms*. Jama, 1983. **249**(5): p. 627-32.
- Gove, S., Integrated management of childhood illness by outpatient health workers: technical basis and overview. The WHO Working Group on Guidelines for Integrated Management of the Sick Child. Bull World Health Organ, 1997. **75 Suppl 1**: p. 7-24.
- Weber, M.W., et al., Evaluation of an algorithm for the integrated management of childhood illness in an area with seasonal malaria in the Gambia. Bull World Health Organ, 1997. **75 Suppl 1**: p. 25-32.
- 20. Timlin, H., L. Butler, and M. Wright, *The accuracy of the Edinburgh Red Eye Diagnostic Algorithm.* Eye (Lond), 2015. **29**(5): p. 619-24.
- 21. Goudie, C., et al., *The accuracy of the Edinburgh visual loss diagnostic algorithm*. Eye, 2015. 29: p. 1483-1488.
- 22. World Health Organization. *Primary eye care training manual A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region.* 2018.
- 23. Black, J.M., et al., *An assessment of the iPad as a testing platform for distance visual acuity in adults.* BMJ Open, 2013. **3**(6): p. e002730.

- 24. World Health Organization. *mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth.* 2011. Geneva.
- Bastawrous, A., Increasing access to eye care ... there's an app for that. Peek: smartphone technology for eye health. International Journal of Epidemiology, 2016. 45: p. 1040-1043.
- Rono, H.K., et al., Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Global Health, 2018. 6(8): p. e924-e932.
- 27. Ministry of Health, Strategic Plan of Kenya Community Strategy Implementation Guidelines for Managers of the Kenya Essential Package for Health at the Community Level. 2007, Ministry of Health: Nairobi. p. 1-50.
- Rhodes, S.D., et al., Lay health advisor interventions among Hispanics/Latinos: a qualitative systematic review. Am J Prev Med, 2007. 33(5): p. 418-27.
- 29. Kenya, M.o.H. Community Health Worker Training Guide. Taking Kenya Primary Health to the Community. Nairobi.
- 30. Andriamanjato, H.H., et al., *Task shifting in primary eye care: how sensitive and specific are common signs and symptoms to predict conditions requiring referral to specialist eye personnel?* Hum Resour Health, 2014. **12**(Suppl 1): p. S3.
- 31. Khan, M., et al., *Study Protocol: Validation and Adaptation of community-workeradministered stroke symptom questionnaire in a periurban Pakistani community to determine disease burden.* J Vasc Interv Neurol, 2015. **8**(1): p. 1-10.
- 32. Curren, R.D., et al., *The role of prevalidation in the development, validation and acceptance of alternative methods.* ATLA-NOTTINGHAM-, 1995. **23**: p. 211-211.
- 33. Landis, J.R. and G.G. Koch, *The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data*. Biometrics, 1977. **33**(1): p. 159-74.
- Radner, W., Near vision examination in presbyopia patients: Do we need good homologated near vision charts? Eye and Vision, 2016. 3(1): p. 29.

- Bastawrous, A., et al., Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and community-based fieldwork. JAMA Ophthalmology, 2015. 133(8): p. 930-937.
- StataCorp, Stata Statistical Software: Release 15. 2017, StataCorp LP: College Station, TX.
- 37. World Health Organisation, *ICD-10 Version:2010*. World Health Organisation, 2010.
- Bright, T., et al., *Population need for primary eye care in Rwanda: A national survey.*PLOS ONE, 2018. **13**: p. e0193817.
- Kimani, K., et al., Prevalence and Causes of Ocular Morbidity in Mbeere District, Kenya. Results of a Population-Based Survey. PLOS ONE, 2013. 8(8): p. e70009.
- 40. Burke, A.G., et al., *Population-Based Study of Presbyopia in Rural Tanzania*. Ophthalmology, 2006. **113**(5): p. 723-727.
- Baqui, A.H., et al., *Community-based validation of assessment of newborn illnesses by trained community health workers in Sylhet district of Bangladesh.* Trop Med Int Health, 2009. **14**(12): p. 1448-56.
- Petricek, I., M. Prost, and A. Popova, *The differential diagnosis of red eye: a survey of medical practitioners from Eastern Europe and the Middle East.* Ophthalmologica, 2006. 220(4): p. 229-37.
- 43. A, F., *Red eye: the role of primary care.* Community Eye Health, 2005. **18**(53): p. 69.
- Chaffey, D. and M. Patron, *From web analytics to digital marketing optimization: Increasing the commercial value of digital analytics.* Journal of Direct, Data and Digital Marketing Practice, 2012. **14**(1): p. 30-45.

 Peek Community Eye Health – mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial



Figure 6.1: A community volunteer assessing visual acuity during household screening using Peek Community Eye Health system



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Hillary Kipkemboi Rono					
Principal Supervisor	Dr. Andrew Bastawrous					
Thesis Title	Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need					

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

	Trials Journal. citation. Rono, H., et al., Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth					
Where was the work published?system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for cluster randomised controlled trial. Trials, 2019. 20(1): p 502.						
	Received 6th February 2019					
When was the work published?	Accepted 26th July 2019					
	Published 14th August 2019					
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	N/A					
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes			

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	N/A
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	Together with my designed the stud submited for ethi and wrote the first edits from superv	y senior colleagues I ly, prepared the protocol and cal approval, led the project st draft of the paper with visors and co-authors
S	tudent Signature:	Date: _	08.10.2019
S	upervisor Signature:	Date: _	09.10.2019

STUDY PROTOCOL

Open Access

Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial



Hillary Rono^{1,2*}, Andrew Bastawrous^{1,4}, David Macleod¹, Emmanuel Wanjala², Stephen Gichuhi³ and Matthew Burton¹

Abstract

Background: Globally, eye care provision is currently insufficient to meet the requirement for eye care services. Lack of access and awareness are key barriers to specialist services; in addition, specialist services are overutilised by people with conditions that could be managed in the community or primary care. In combination, these lead to a large unmet need for eye health provision.

We have developed a validated smartphone-based screening algorithm (Peek Community Screening App). The application (App) is part of the Peek Community Eye Health system (Peek CEH) that enables Community Volunteers (CV) to make referral decisions about patients with eye problems. It generates referrals, automated short messages service (SMS) notifications to patients or guardians and has a program dashboard for visualising service delivery.

We hypothesise that a greater proportion of people with eye problems will be identified using the Peek CEH system and that there will be increased uptake of referrals, compared to those identified and referred using the current community screening approaches.

Study design: A single masked, cluster randomised controlled trial design will be used. The unit of randomisation will be the 'community unit', defined as a dispensary or health centre with its catchment population. The community units will be allocated to receive either the intervention (Peek CEH system) or the current care (periodic health centre-based outreach clinics with onward referral for further treatment). In both arms, a triage clinic will be held at the link health facility four weeks from sensitisation, where attendance will be ascertained. During triage, participants will be assessed and treated and, if necessary, referred onwards to Kitale Eye Unit.

Discussion: We aim to evaluate a M-health system (Peek CEH) geared towards reducing avoidable blindness through early identification and improved adherence to referral for those with eye problems and reducing demand at secondary care for conditions that can be managed effectively at primary care level.

(Continued on next page)

* Correspondence: Hillary.Rono@lshtm.ac.uk

¹International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK

²Kitale County referral and teaching Hospital, Ravine Road, P.O. Box 98, Kitale 30200, Kenya

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2019 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

(Continued from previous page)

Trial registration: The Pan African Clinical Trials Registry (PACTR), 201807329096632. Registered on 8 June 2018.

Keywords: Eye problems, Visual impairement, Access, Primary eye care, Community Eye Health system, Community volunteers, Peek community screening App, Cluster randomised controlled trial

Background

Globally, it is estimated that 253 million people have visual impairment (VI; visual acuity in the better eye < 6/18), 36 million of whom are blind (visual acuity in the better eye < 3/60) [1]. About 80% of the impairment is avoidable [2]. Approximately 90% of those who are living with VI are in low- and middle-income countries [3]. Although the prevalence of moderate or severe vision impairment in adults aged \geq 50 years is higher in South and Southeast Asia, North Africa, and the Middle East [4], sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) has the greatest gap between need (blindness VI) and available eye services [5]. In Kenya, the prevalence of blindness is high; it is in the range of 0.6-2.0%, depending on the region [6-10]. There are only 115 ophthalmologists for a population of 49 million. Moreover, their distribution is very uneven, in the range of 0–17 per 1 million population across the various counties [11].

The causes of blindness vary according to regions and countries [12–15]. Globally, the leading causes of VI are uncorrected refractive error and cataract, while cataract and glaucoma are the leading causes of blindness [2, 16]. Other causes of blindness include diabetes, macular degeneration, and other posterior eye diseases [7, 10, 17].

The reasons for a high burden of VI include poverty and a lack of access to eye services [18]. Patient factors such as lack of awareness, fear of treatment outcomes, increasing age, female gender, and presence of diabetes increase the risk of blindness [10, 19]. Health system-related factors include low numbers of eye workers, variable productivity, high indirect and direct costs, and the mal-distribution of the work force, which currently favours major urban areas [20–23]. In addition, there are 'provider' factors, such as poor-quality services arising from a shortage of trained staff and infrastructure [19, 24]. There is a large disparity between the need for eye services and availability of eye care workers [5].

To improve access to eye health services, especially in rural areas, outreach programs designed to promote access to eye services by communities in remote regions have been used [22, 25]. They provide short-term access to eye services for patients; however, the long-term goal is to integrate eye services into primary healthcare (PHC) as a continuum of health service provision [26, 27]. Redistribution of tasks among health workforce teams, to improve efficiency among available human resources, have also been used with variable success [9, 28]. Effective task shifting with clear referral criteria and management plans has been successfully delivered through algorithms such as the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) at primary level [29, 30]. In eye care, decision trees and algorithms have been developed, mostly outside Africa, and focused on identifying the diagnosis and treatment at a secondary level [31–33]. The World Health Organization (WHO) recently developed similar algorithms and training manual for use at the PHC facilities in Africa [34]. To our knowledge, there are no digital algorithms to identify and refer people from communities.

Rationale

There is a clear need for improved access to eye health services for populations in many regions of the world. Availability of mobile phone technology and its usage in healthcare, including eye care, is increasing rapidly [35, 36]. One such example is Peek acuity, which has developed applications (Apps) for measuring visual acuity [37]. One study in Kenya showed that the Peek Visual Acuity App was a repeatable, accurate and reliable measure of visual acuity in adults [38]. This App was found to be acceptable to patients, care givers and stakeholders [39]. Another study among school-going children compared the performance of teachers using the Peek Acuity App to assess children's vision to a clinician assessing the same children using as standard backlit EDTRS LogMAR visual acuity test chart found a sensitivity of 77% (95% confidence interval [CI] = 64.8-86.5) and specificity of 91% (95% CI = 89.3-92.1) [40]. We initially developed and validated the 'Peek community screening App' that allows referral decisions to be made precisely and reliably across all ages for the trial. Results from the validation of this App showed that community volunteers (CV) could accurately make referral decisions (manuscript in preparation).

A recent systematic review showed that mobile health (m-Health) interventions that support communication between healthcare providers and patients through short messaging service (SMS) appointment reminders are beneficial [41]. Similarly, outreach service provision in India incorporated the electronic transfer of health-related data from outreach clinics to base hospitals with some success [42]. This provides an opportunity for a combined outreach model, which incorporates triage and referrals aided by mobile technology.

We recently conducted a cluster randomised controlled trial in primary schools in Kenya using the Peek School Eye Health system. The system uses the Peek Acuity App to detect VI in school children. For those that then screen positive and who require further assessment or follow-up, it generates automated text messages to parents/guardians and contact teachers, as well as real-time notifications to hospital services. We found that teachers could reliably screen for VI. Uptake of referrals to eye care providers was substantially higher in the Peek intervention arm of this school trial [40]. This trial provided evidence that m-Health solutions could be used to improve access to eye health services.

In this new trial, the Peek Community Eye Health (Peek CEH) system will be compared to the current standard approach of periodic health centre-based outreach clinics. The system uses the 'Peek Community Screening App,' which is a smartphone-guided algorithm for supporting 'Peek Users' to identify and refer people with visual impairment and other eye problems in the community. Peek Users are CVs who are trained specifically in how to use Peek. They travel to multiple communities to perform their duties. During community outreach, they work with the local CVs to identify and refer patients needing ophthalmic attention. Although treatment will be provided at no cost, it is assumed that: (1) all patients trust the health system; (2) eye health workers have the capacity and able to manage all conditions; and (3) relevant treatment modalities will be available.

Objectives

The objective of this cluster randomised trial is to test the hypothesis that the Peek CEH system can increase access to eye services through: (1) increased identification of people with impaired vision and eye problems in the community; (2) increased uptake of a referral within four weeks by patients with identified an eye problem; and (3) more appropriate utilisation of primary and secondary care services at each health system level.

Methodology

This protocol is structured in accordance with the Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Intervention Trials (SPIRIT) 2013 Checklist [43] (see Additional file 1).

Trial design and overview

This trial is a single-masked, parallel-group, cluster randomised controlled trial. Thirty-six community units with their health facilities (dispensary or health centres) will be randomly selected to receive either the intervention (community screening using the Peek screening system) or the current standard of care (periodic health centre-based outreach clinics). The health workers involved in the study will be trained to ensure standardised screening. Participants who provide consent will be enrolled to the arm to which their cluster is randomised. In the Peek arm, all households in the cluster will be visited in turn. Consenting individuals will have their visual acuity tested using the Peek visual acuity screening application on a smartphone. All participants with reduced visual acuity or reporting another eye problem will be referred to the linked PHC for assessment and management. Those requiring treatment not available from the PHC facility will be referred onwards to Kitale Eye Unit (KEU). In the control arm, communities will be notified about the periodic eye health outreach clinic that will be held in the local health centre. People attending this service will be assessed and, if necessary, referred onwards to KEU.

The participants will be followed up for eight weeks after referral from the community. The primary outcome will be the number of people per 10,000 population (rate) attending triage at a local health facility (PHC) with any confirmed eye conditions (true-positive cases determined at triage by hospital outreach team) following a referral or by self-referral within four weeks from the time of sensitisation. The secondary outcome will be the proportion of people referred from the PHC triage attending their referrals at KEU within four weeks of being referred. A participant (standard or Peek) who attends the hospital appointment within four weeks will be considered an 'attender' while anyone who is referred but does not attend within the same time is a 'nonattender'.

Participant timeline and study flow chart

The study flow chart and participant timeline are presented in Fig. 1 and Table 1, respectively.

Participants, interventions and outcomes Study setting

The trial will be conducted in community units that are served by government-run dispensaries and health centres in Trans Nzoia County in northern Kenya. Trans Nzoia County has a population of 818,757 people (2009 census) of which 407,172 (49.7%) were male [44]. It is organised into five sub-counties. There were 173,719 households, with an average of five people per household. The large majority have no Internet access (669, 347, 81.8%) [45]. There are 61 government facilities (six hospitals, 12 health centres, 43 dispensaries) and 76 facilities owned privately or by faith-based organisations [46]. Eye services are offered at KEU and through outreach services, provided by eye care staff from KEU to other health facilities. Screening and treatment of eye conditions (triage) is offered during outreach. The trial will be coordinated from Kitale Hospital by a team consisting of a programme manager, administrator, ophthalmic nurses, field workers and an ophthalmologist.

Rono et al. Trials (2019) 20:502



Table 1 Project timeline

	Study	period										
	Enroln	nent	Allocation	Post	allocati	ion						Close-out
Week	- 2	- 1	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Preparation												
Training of field workers	Х	Х										
Approvals: Trans Nzoia health department and head of health facilities	Х											
Community enumeration and obtaining consent	Х	Х										
Allocation of community units			Х									
Interventions												
Community sensitisation				Х								
Peek package (community screening, automatic reminder short text messaging)					Х	Х	Х					
Standard care				Х								
Triage treatment camp								Х				
Peek referral reminders to attend Kitale Eye Unit (automatic reminder short text messaging)								Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
Assessment												
Attendance (uptake) of referrals								Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

Cluster definition

The unit of randomisation for this trial will be Community Units (CU). These are defined as a dispensary or health centre together with the community they serve (Fig. 2). A typical CU comprises a population of 5000–10,000 people. It has a dispensary or health centre, staffed by one or two Community Health Extension Workers (CHEWs). Associated with each CU, there are usually 20–50 CVs [47]. The CHEWs based at the health centre or dispensary train, support and supervise the CVs. To date, 85 CUs have been established and personnel trained in this county [46]. CUs were chosen because it represents the future shape of healthcare in Kenya; they are distributed throughout the county and have a good referral network that provides linkages between community and health system. The CUs with untrained



personnel provide a buffer zone that will minimise contamination.

Cluster eligibility criteria

A list of all health facilities with their geo-coordinates as well as corresponding CUs and catchment population will be obtained from the Trans Nzoia County Department of Health. The location of each hospital will be determined using Google Maps. Health facilities without CUs, those with existing screening programs and the communities directly served by KEU will be excluded. We will also exclude all the non-government health facility-associated CUs. From the remaining 66 CUs, a total of 36 CUs will be randomly selected for the study. A restricted cluster random sampling technique (described below) will be applied to allocate the selected CUs to the Peek intervention (18 CUs) or the standard care group (18 CUs). The restriction will be based on the distance and location of the CU's heath facility relative to KEU.

Participant eligibility criteria

All people who consent to participate and present in the community unit area during the study period will be included. People who are unwilling to give consent or who have had an eye condition treated at hospital within two weeks before the beginning of the study will be excluded.

Interventions

A comparison of the two arms is shown in Table 2 and Fig. 1. Before the beginning of the trial, households in each of the clusters in both arms will be visited by the field team to explain the study, obtain consent (see Additional file 2) and enumerate the residents. Parents/ guardians will provide consent for children. At the beginning of the trial, in both arms, there will be posters and verbal notices (churches and schools) advertising the forthcoming outreach clinic for eye checks, encouraging people with eye problems to self-report to the clinic on a specific date when the team will visit.

Peek CEH intervention arm In each cluster, a small mobile team of a 'Peek User' (CVs trained specifically on how to use the Peek Community Screening App and who travel to multiple communities to perform their duties) and local CV will visit each household. The CV, a person from that same community, will guide the Peek User around the village. After reconfirming consent, people who are resident in the household at the time of the visit will have a vision assessment. The visual acuity of each eye will be measured separately using the Peek Acuity App [38]. This smartphone application presents a series of E-optotypes in one of four orientations, selected at random. The test algorithm prompts the following screening questions to the parents or guardian with a child (*'Does the child have any problem with their eyes*)

Table 2 Comparison of the interventions in the two arms of the trial

	Intervention arm	Control arm
Consent and enumeration	Yes	Yes
Community sensitisation	Posters and announcement in churches and schools	Posters and announcement in churches and schools
Community screening	Vision assessed at household level using Peek E- acuity by field worker	No vision assessment at household level
	Screening decision using Peek Screening App	No screening
	Personalised text and weekly reminder messages for participants/carers in the relevant local language to attend appointments	No text message
Referral from community to PHC (triage centre)	Self-referring participants and referrals by CV using Peek system?	Self-referring participants
	Automatic referral through Peek system	No referrals
Provision of triage	Trained team composed of ophthalmic clinical officer, ophthalmic nurses and two field workers	Trained team composed of ophthalmic clinical officer, ophthalmic nurses and two field workers
Referral from triage centre to secondary care	Paper referral	Paper referral
	Automatic referral through Peek system and weekly reminder SMS	
Assessment of primary outcome	Same for both arms (trained field worker)	Same for both arms (trained field worker)
Assessment of referrals	Ophthalmic clinical officer	Ophthalmic clinical officer

today?') or directly to participant themselves ('Do you have any discomfort or pain in your eyes today?' and 'Do you have a problem with your sight when seeing far or *near objects?*). If the participant is aged ≥ 6 years, the App prompts for distant visuals acuity assessment using Peek Acuity App and assessment of near visual acuity for all people aged ≥ 40 years. Near vision will be assessed at 40 cm using the RADNER reading chart [48]. They will be referred to the PHC for subsequent assessment by the visiting time if: the visual acuity is < 6/12 in either eye; there is any self-reported eye pain or discomfort; there is difficulty seeing distant or near objects; or they are not able see N8 on near vision assessment. Household members absent during the first visit will be asked to join the examination team at the next household or next day.

Those who have reduced visual acuity on screening or report an eye problem will be referred to a health post for triage on a specific date when the KEU team visit. The system will generate several SMS text messages: (1) to the patient and family associate asking them to present to the health facility on a specific day (set to be within four weeks); (2) the CV will receive an SMS list of patients from their community that have been referred; and (3) the CHEW responsible for that CU will similarly receive the same list of referred patients. A weekly reminder SMS will be sent to the patient for them to attend their referral appointment with the last reminder being one day before the appointment.

On the pre-advertised date, a team from KEU will be based at the CU's dispensary. The participants referred from the household screening because of reduced vision or a specific eye problem will be reminded to attend. They will assess the presenting patients using the current standard procedure (Snellen chart visual acuity, magnifying loop, refraction and direct ophthalmoscopy when indicated). They will provide simple treatments or refer patients to KEU for further assessment as indicated. A pre-numbered paper referral letter will be given to the patient to present at KEU. The referral slip has their study number, name and triage centre, and telephone number, and indicates that assessment and treatment will be provided at no cost. It is expected that they will report to KEU within four weeks from being referred.

Immediately after referral from the PHC, an SMS will be sent to the patient and the family associate asking them to present to KEU. A weekly reminder SMS will be sent for those who have not attended their referral to KEU. An SMS with a list of patients who have not attended their referral will be sent to the CHEW responsible for the PHC.

Standard of care (control) arm In the control arm, there will be no active Peek screening in the community; however, potential participants with eye problems at the

community will be notified through community sensitisation (posters and local announcements) that if they have an eye problem to present themselves to the health facility for the triage clinic on a specified date. On that advertised date, the team from KEU will conduct an outreach clinic within the CU, which will be identical to the ones in the Peek arm described above. If an individual needs to be referred to KEU, they will be given an identical referral letter to the ones used in the Peek arm. Each letter will have a unique code number to link the patient referral record to their KEU attendance.

Outcomes

Primary outcome The primary outcome is the number of people per 10,000 population (rate) attending triage at a local health facility (PHC) with any confirmed eye conditions (true positives) following a CV referral or by self-referral, within four weeks from the time of sensitisation. The rate will be based on baseline enumeration census for each CU. The true positives will be determined at triage by the hospital outreach team.

Secondary outcomes The secondary otucomes are: (1) the number of people per 10,000 (rate) attending the triage post without any eye condition (false positives) as determined by the eye team; (2) the number of people per 10,000 population (rate) attending KEU within four weeks after being referred from PHC; (3) the proportion of participants referred from the PHC who attend the referral at KEU within four weeks of being referred from a PHC; and (4) the time taken by a participant referred from PHC to attend KEU.

Sample size

The sample size of 36 clusters was determined using the Hayes formula for rates in unmatched cluster randomised trials [49]. In Trans Nzoia County, a typical health facility has a catchment population of 5000 people [46]. During previous community outreaches to these health facilities, about 50–100 new patients attended. This translates to an average rate of 15 per 1000 population [50]. Assuming an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.001, desired power of 90% and significance level of 5%, a sample of 36 CUs (18 in each arm) would be sufficient to detect a difference of 0.5%, from 1.5% in the control arm to 2.0% in the intervention arm (a 33% relative change) in overall attendance rates.

Assignment of interventions

Allocation There are 66 potentially eligible CUs in the county (see above). We will select 36 CUs for inclusion in the trial. In order to ensure balance between the arms,

restricted randomisation will be used. A list of the 66 CUs with their sub-county, distance from Kitale and direction from Kitale (categorised into four quadrants, North, South, East and West) will be compiled and used during randomisation. A statistician, who will not participate in recruitment, will generate a random allocation sequence. Randomisation will consider the direction, cluster size and distance from the hospital. The following restrictions will be used in the randomisation:

- each arm must include at least two CUs from each sub-county;
- each arm must include at least two CUs from each direction of North, South, East and West;
- the ratio between number of CUs in each arm from each direction must be in the range of 0.67–1.5;
- the difference in mean health centre distance from Kitale in each of the arms should not be > 4 km; and
- there should not be more than one CU per link health facility.

A list of 10,000 valid permutations will be generated and checked that there are no clear deviations in randomness (e.g. pairs of health centres that occur within the same arm considerably more/less often than would be expected by chance). One of these 10,000 permutations will be computer-selected at random. A list of CUs allocated to the control group, intervention group and those not involved will be prepared.

In health facilities where there are larger catchment populations and served by more than one CU, one of the CUs will be randomly selected along with its population unit, so that the size of the clusters studied is around 5000.

Masking

It will not be possible to mask the participants or the health workers from the intervention to which they are allocated; however, the study statistician, hospital registration clerk and clinician assessing outcomes will be masked. The data clerk will be masked to the intervention arm because all the patients will present with paper referral. The clinician assessing secondary outcomes will not participate in patient recruitment or assessing attendance and all patients will be given similar assessment questionnaires. The statistician will not participate in patient recruitment.

Data collection, management and analysis

Data collection In both arms, we will use electronic data capture and management using dedicated Peek software with built-in consistency checks. In both arms, this will include the enumeration data, the triage data in the health centre/dispensary and the outcome data collected

in the KEU. In addition, the household screening data will also be captured electronically for the Peek arm during the study period and in the control arm following the study when the team will screen all the control clusters. Field workers will be provided with tablets for data entry. Information will be backed up regularly.

During triage assessment at the health centre/dispensary, trained field workers will verify that the participant comes from the catchment population. From each eligible participant, date of attendance, name, age, gender and own or parents' mobile phone number, whether referred using the Peek system or self-referral, the diagnosis and treatment plan (treated or referred) will be obtained. At KEU, all referred patient will be marked as attended upon presentation and record the date of visit, diagnosis and outcome of the visit.

Data management

Data will be entered directly onto smartphones by trained field workers and uploaded to a secure server once connected to the Internet before being exported into Stata for analysis. The database will be encrypted and password-protected. At the end of the study, the data will be archived at LSHTM.

Data analyses The trial will be reported using the 2010 CONSORT guidelines, with the cluster RCT extension [51]. Analysis will be by intention to treat. Socio-demographic characteristics of participants at baseline will be tabulated by arm: age; sex; residence; and distance from hospitals (categorised distances). The distributions of these variables by intervention arm will be compared to assess whether there is imbalance at baseline in these potential confounding factors.

Analysis of the primary outcome

The proportion of individuals attending triage within each cluster will be calculated, by dividing the number attending triage and having a confirmed eye condition by the cluster population, which will be determined by the baseline enumeration census in both arms (truepositive attendance rate). A t-test will be performed on these cluster-level rates providing an estimate of the rate difference (with a 95% CI) between the two arms and a P value in order to assess the strength of evidence against the null hypothesis that the rate is equal in the two arms [52]. The two study arms should be balanced in terms of confounders due to the restricted randomisation process so the primary analysis will be unadjusted.

Analysis of secondary outcomes

The proportion attending triage but having no eye condition (false-positive attendance rate) will be estimated in a similar manner to the above in both arms, with a rate difference estimated, along with its 95% CI.

In order to estimate the effect of the intervention on the attendance rate of true positives at KEU the approach will be identical to the cluster-level analysis of the primary outcome. The numerator of each cluster is the number of individuals attending KEU following a referral from triage and the denominator is the cluster population. Again, a t-test will be used to assess the evidence as to whether the rate differs between arms and the analysis will again be unadjusted.

The difference in the proportion of patients referred from the PHC to the KEU who attend their referral within four weeks, by arm, will be tested using a random effects logistic regression, with attendance at KEU as the outcome, trial arm as the primary exposure and cluster as a random effect to account for within cluster correlation. Due to the fact that the characteristics of the patients referred in each arm may be different (due to the potential upstream impact of the intervention), this analysis will be adjusted for sex, age group and distance from KEU.

The impact of the intervention on time-to-attendance will be investigated, using Kaplan–Meier plots for each arm to compare attendance of referral. The hazard ratio will be estimated using Cox regression, again adjusted for sex and age group, to assess whether patients referred in the intervention arm attended their referrals sooner than those in the control arm..

We will assess possible effect modification of sex, age and distance from KEU. In the cluster-level analyses, the approach recommended by Cheung et al. [53], will be used for age and sex, where the rate in each group within each cluster will be estimated, then the difference in this rates in each group found, before finally performing a ttest on these differences by arm. In order to identify if the distance from KEU is an effect modifier, since it is a cluster-level covariate, this can be done by performing a linear regression on the cluster level rates and include distance and trial arm as exposures with an interaction term between them. For the individual-level analyses, an interaction term will be included with trial arm for each of the potential effect modifiers (age, sex, distance from KEU).

Monitoring

Data monitoring

The study presents minimal risk and we do not anticipate significant adverse events. Therefore, a data and safety monitoring committee was not considered necessary; however, an audit will be done by the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM), the Trial Sponsor, if it is deemed necessary. No interim analysis is planned due to the relatively short duration of the study.

Harm

The tests being done are in routine clinical use in Kenya and internationally. There are no anticipated harms from this non-invasive assessment process in either arm. Assessment in the community will take 5 min per person. Experienced certified ophthalmic clinical officers will provide treatment for all participants with eye problems, under the supervision of an ophthalmologist.

Protocol amendments

There have been no protocol amendments since the initial application. Amendments to the protocol are not currently anticipated; however, if they are required they will be submitted to the two committees mentioned above.

Consent

Trained field workers will obtain written informed consent from all participants. Where an individual is unable to read, the information will be read to them and their consent documented by thumbprint, in the presence of an independent witness. Consent for children will be obtained from parents or guardians accompanying them. A copy of the information sheet will be given to each participant. Verbal assent will also be obtained from children before being examined.

Confidentiality

Data will be anonymised before analysis and long-term storage by the removal of personal identifying information. The Peek database will be encrypted and passwordprotected with access only granted to staff involved in the study. Data with identifiable information will be secured within a locked project office at KEU, with limited access to only authorised staff.

Access to data

Investigators at LSTHM and Kitale Hospital will have access to the final trial dataset. An agreement exists on data sharing and intellectual property. All the data will be archived at LSHTM after the study is completed.

Post-trial care

Given that the trial is being conducted by KEU, it is integrated into existing health systems through which the patients will be managed. The control arm clusters will have the same screening service as the intervention arm after the end of the trial.

Dissemination

Summary of the findings will be provided for local stakeholders, Ministry of Health and participating institutions. Publications will be submitted to peer-reviewed journals (open access) and presentations made at regional and
international conferences and meetings in Kenya and the United Kingdon.

Discussion

This trial is designed to evaluate whether the Peek Screening system in the community increases access to eye services at PHC within four weeks for patients with eye problems, as well as to assess whether the same system increases uptake of referrals of people identified with eye problems from PHC to secondary care within four weeks.

One identified limitation of the study would be the number of people who will be screened and referred but have no eye problems (false positives) and may potentially overload the health system. Through the trial, we shall analyse the potential limitations with a view of understanding and providing potential solutions in the future.

The WHO and International Agency for Prevention of Blindeness (IAPB) have set a target of eliminating avoidable blindness by 2020 through early identification and treatement. This study aims to evaluate a system to reduce the prevalence of people with VI through early identification and referral from the community for those with ophthalmic ailments. The system will potentially increase access and uptake of eye services through screening and referral by CVs, for those with eye problems. Through the system, we shall be able to track the process of screening and referral of patients with a view of identifying gaps in the health system and advise policy makers on potential solutions. The results will therefore be relevant and contribute towards realising this goal.

Trial status

At the time of submission, recruitment was ongoing. Recruitment started on 26 November 2018 and is expected to be completed on 09 April 2019. It was registered by Pan African Trials Registry on 8 June 2018.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Intervention Trials (SPIRIT) 2013 Checklist. (DOC 122 kb) Additional file 2: Informed consent materials. (DOCX 112 kb)

Abbreviations

App: Application; CEH: Community Eye Health; CHEWs: Community health extension workers; CU: Community unit; CV: Community volunteer; IAPB: Internatinal Agency for Prevention of Blindeness; IMCI: Integrated Management of Childhood; KEU: Kitale Eye Unit; LSHTM: London of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; m-health: Mobile health; PACTR: Pan African Clinical Trials Registry; Peek: Portable eye examination kit; PHC: Primary healthcare; SMS: Short messaging services; SSA: Sub-Saharan Africa; VI: Visual impairment; WHO: World Health Organization

Acknowledgements

International Centre for Eye Health, Peek vision Itd, Operation Eye sight Universal, Kitale county hospital staff, Kenya. London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine sponsors the study.

Trial status

At the time of the submission, recruitment was ongoing. The protocol version 1 of 20/3/2018 was registered by Pan African Trials Registry on 08.06.2018. Recruitment started on 26.11.2018 and is expected to be completed on 09.04.2019.

Sponsor

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine is the main research sponsor for this study. For further information regarding the sponsorship conditions, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Office: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street London WC1E 7HT Tel: +44 207 927 2626 Email: RGIO@LSHTM.ac.uk

Authors' contributions

Literature search: HR AB. Study conception and design: HR AB MB. Data collection: HR EW SG. Statistical analysis: HR DM. Drafting the manuscript: HR. Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: All authors. Obtained funding: AB MB. Administrative, technical or material support: EW. Study supervision: AB MB SG. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

The research is funded through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium (CEHC), with funding from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust's "Avoidable Blindness" programme. The CEHC is administered through the International Centre for Eye Health (ICEH) based at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. MJB is supported by the Wellcome Trust 207472/Z/17/Z.

This protocol has undergone peer review. The funders and trial sponsor have no role in data collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, decision to submit the protocol for publication and in preparation of manuscript.

Availability of data and materials

Not applicable.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This protocol has been approved by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee (reference 14633) and Institutional Research and Ethics Committee (IREC) of Moi University (number 0003025). It is registered with the Pan African Trials Registry number 201807320906632. Local administrative permission has also been provided by Ministry of Health officials and the heads of the selected health facilities involved in the study. Written informed consent wil be obtained from all participants. Parents or guardians will provide consent for their child and verbal assent also will be obtained from the children.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The Peek Vision Foundation (09919543) is a registered charity in England and Wales (1165960) with a wholly owned trading subsidiary, Peek Vision Ltd. (09937174). Professor Matthew Burton is a Trustee of The Peek Vision Foundation and Dr. Andrew Bastawrous is Chief Excecutive Officer (CEO) of The Peek Vision Foundation and Peek Vision Ltd. HR is an advisor to Peek Vision Ltd.

All other authors have no proprietary or commercial interest in any of the materials discussed in this article. This submission has not been published anywhere previously and is not simultaneously being considered for any other publication.

Author details

¹International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK. ²Kitale County referral and teaching Hospital, Ravine Road, P.O. Box 98, Kitale 30200, Kenya. ³Department of Ophthalmology, University of Nairobi, P.O. Box 19676, Nairobi 00202, Kenya. ⁴The Peek Vision Foundation, 1 Fore Street, London EC2Y 9DT, UK.

Received: 6 February 2019 Accepted: 26 July 2019 Published online: 14 August 2019

References

- Bourne RRA, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(9):e888–97.
- World Health Organization. Universal eye health: A global action plan 2014–2019. Spain: World Health Organization; 2013. https://www.who. int/blindness/AP2014_19_English.pdf?ua=1.
- Thylefors B. A global initiative for the elimination of avoidable blindness. Am J Ophthalmol. 1998;125(1):90–3.
- Flaxman SR, et al. Global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990-2020: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health.2017;5(12):e1221–34.
- Bastawrous A, Hennig BD. The global inverse care law: a distorted map of blindness. Br J Ophthalmol. 2012;96(10):1357–8.
- Mathenge W, et al. Rapid assessment of avoidable blindness in Nakuru district, Kenya. Ophthalmology. 2007;114(3):599–605.
- Karimurio J, et al. Rapid assessment of cataract surgical services in Embu district, Kenya. JOECSA. 2013;13(3):19–25.
- Ndegwa LK, et al. Prevalence of visual impairment and blindness in a Nairobi urban population. East Afr Med J. 2006;83(4):69–72.
- Whitfield R, et al. Blindness and eye disease in Kenya: ocular status survey results from the Kenya Rural Blindness Prevention Project. Br J Ophthalmol. 1990;74(6):333–40.
- Mathenge W, et al. The Nakuru posterior segment eye disease study: methods and prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in Nakuru, Kenya. Ophthalmology. 2012;119(10):2033–9.
- 11. Ramke J, et al. Evidence for national universal eye health plans. Bull World Health Organ. 2018;96:695–704.
- Bourne RRA, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in high-income countries and in Eastern and Central Europe: 1990–2010. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(5):629–38.
- Naidoo K, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in sub-Saharan Africa: 1990–2010. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(5):612–8.
- Wong TY, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in East Asia: 1990–2010. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(5):599–604.
- 15. Khairallah M, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in North Africa and the Middle East: 1990–2010. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(5):605–11.
- Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. Br J Ophthalmol. 2012;96(5):614–8.
- Mathenge W, et al. Prevalence of age-related macular degeneration in Nakuru, Kenya: a cross-sectional population-based study. PLoS Med. 2013;10:e1001393.
- Gilbert CE, et al. Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: results from the Pakistan national blindness and visual impairment survey. BMJ. 2008;336(7634):29–32.
- 19. Syed A, et al. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. Disabil Rehabil. 2013;35(19):1660–7.
- 20. Ferrinho P, et al. The human resource for health situation in Zambia: deficit and maldistribution. Hum Resour Health. 2011;9:30.
- Palmer JJ, et al. Mapping human resources for eye health in 21 countries of sub-Saharan Africa: current progress towards VISION 2020. Hum Resour Health. 2014;12(1):1–16.
- Habtamu E, Eshete Z, Burton MJ. Cataract surgery in Southern Ethiopia: distribution, rates and determinants of service provision. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:480.
- Eliah E, et al. Task shifting for cataract surgery in eastern Africa: productivity and attrition of non-physician cataract surgeons in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. Hum Resour Health 2014;12(Suppl 1):S4.
- Resnikoff S, et al. The number of ophthalmologists in practice and training worldwide: a growing gap despite more than 200,000 practitioners. Br J Ophthalmol. 2012;96(6):783–7.

- 25. Etya'ale D. Beyond the clinic: approaches to outreach. Community Eye Health. 2006;19(58):19–21.
- 26. Naidoo K, Ravilla D. Delivering refractive error services: primary eye care centres and outreach. Community Eye Health. 2007;20(63):42–4.
- 27. Frenk J. Reinventing primary health care: the need for systems integration. Lancet. 2009;374(9684):170–3.
- World Health Organization, Treat, Train, Retain: Task Shifting Global Recomendations and Guidelines, in World Health Organization. Geneva: WHO; 2008. p. 96.
- 29. Gove S. Integrated management of childhood illness by outpatient health workers: technical basis and overview. The WHO Working Group on Guidelines for Integrated Management of the Sick Child. Bull World Health Organ. 1997;75 Suppl 1:7–24.
- Bryce J, et al. The Multi-Country Evaluation of the Integrated Management of Childhood Illness Strategy: Lessons for the Evaluation of Public Health Interventions. Am J Public Health. 2004;94(3):406–15.
- Timlin H, Butler L, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh Red Eye Diagnostic Algorithm. Eye (Lond). 2015;29(5):619–24.
- Butler L, Yap T, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh diplopia diagnostic algorithm. Eye (Lond). 2016;30(6):812–6.
- Goudie C, et al. The accuracy of the Edinburgh visual loss diagnostic algorithm. Eye. 2015;29:1483–8.
- 34. World Health Organization. Primary eye care training manual A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region. 2018.
- Chhablani J, Kaja S, Shah VA. Smartphones in ophthalmology. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2012;60(2):127–31.
- Black JM, et al. An assessment of the iPad as a testing platform for distance visual acuity in adults. BMJ Open. 2013;3(6):e002730.
- 37. Bastawrous A. Increasing access to eye care ... there's an app for that. Peek: smartphone technology for eye health. Int J Epidemiol. 2016;45:1040–3.
- Bastawrous A, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and community-based fieldwork. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2015;133(8):930–7.
- Lodhia V, et al. Acceptability, Usability, and Views on Deployment of Peek, a Mobile Phone mHealth Intervention for Eye Care in Kenya: Qualitative Study. JMIR mHealth uHealth. 2016;4(2):e30.
- Rono HK, et al. Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. Lancet Glob Health. 2018;6(8):e924–32.
- Free C, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. PLoS Med. 2013;10(1):e1001363.
- 42. Prathiba V, Rema M. Teleophthalmology: A Model for Eye Care Delivery in Rural and Underserved Areas of India. Int J Family Med. 2011;2011:4.
- Chan AW, et al. SPIRIT 2013 statement: defining standard protocol items for clinical trials. Ann Intern Med. 2013;158(3):200–7.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. Population distribution by Adminstartive units, in 2009 Kenya Population and Housing Census. Nairobi: Kenya National Bureau of statistics; 2010. https://www.knbs.or. ke/publications/.
- 45. Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. Population and Household Distribution by Socio-Economic Characteristics, in 2009 Kenya Population and Housing Census. 2010.
- Department of Health. Trans Nzoia Service Availability and Readiness Assessment and Mapping Report (SARAM). Kitale: Ministry of Health; 2015.
- Ministry of Health. Strategic Plan of Kenya Community Strategy Implementation Guidelines for Managers of the Kenya Essential Package for Health at the Community Level. Nairobi: Ministry of Health; 2007.
- 48. Radner W. Near vision examination in presbyopia patients: Do we need good homologated near vision charts? Eye Vision. 2016;3(1):29.
- 49. Hayes RJ, Bennett S. Simple sample size calculation for cluster-randomized trials. Int J Epidemiol. 1999;28(2):319–26.
- Eye department Kitale County and Referral Hospital. Kitale County and Referral Hospital Eye Unit: Annual activity report 2016 (OEU report). Kitale: Personal communication, Head of eye unit Kitale County and Referal Hospital; 2016.
- 51. Campbell MK, et al. Consort 2010 statement: extension to cluster randomised trials. BMJ. 2012;345:e5661.
- 52. Bennett S, et al. Methods for the analysis of incidence rates in cluster randomized trials. Int J Epidemiol. 2002;31(4):839–46.

 Cheung YB, et al. A simple approach to test for interaction between intervention and an individual-level variable in community randomized trials. Tropical Med Int Health. 2008;13(2):247–55.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



7. Increasing access to eye health services in Kenya using an mHealth system: a Cluster randomised controlled trial.



Figure 7.1: Increases attendance to health posts by patients seeking eye care services during outreach.



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656

E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	Hillary Kipkemboi Rono
Principal Supervisor	Dr. Andrew Bastawrous
Thesis Title	Increasing Access to Eye Care using Mobile Phone-based Interventions. The development, validation and implementation of Peek to optimise human resources and lower barriers to access for those most in need

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to <u>Section C</u>

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C – Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	Lancet Global Health
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Hillary Rono Andrew Bastawrous David Macleod Ronald Mamboleo Cosmas Bunywera Emmanuel Wanjala Stephen Gichuhi Matthew Burton
Stage of publication	Not yet submitted

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

	For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparatio of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	Together with my senior colleagues I designed the study, prepared the protocol and submited for ethical approval and registration, led the project, data collection, initial analysis of the data and wrote the first draft of the paper with edits from supervisors and co-authors			
s	Student Signature:	08.10.2019			
S	Supervisor Signature:	Date:09.10.2019			

Increasing access to eye health services in Kenya using an mHealth system: a Cluster randomised controlled trial.

Authors:

Hillary Rono 1,2	Hillary.Rono@lshtm.ac.uk
Andrew Bastawrous ^{1,3}	Andrew.Bastawrous@lshtm.ac.uk
David Macleod ⁴	david.macleod@lshtm.ac.uk
Ronald Mamboleo ²	ronaldikobe@gmail.com
Cosmas Bunywera ³	geniouscos@gmail.com
Emmanuel Wanjala ²	eswanjalah@yahoo.com
Stephen Gichuhi ⁵	sgichuhi@uonbi.ac.ke
Matthew Burton ⁶	Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk

Author affiliations

- 1 International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, UK
- Kitale County Referral and Teaching Hospital,
 Ravine Road, PO BOX 98, Kitale, 30200 Kenya
- 3 Peek Vision, 1 Fore Street, London EC2Y 9DT, UK
- 4 MRC Tropical Epidemiology Group, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London WC1E 7HT, UK;
- 5 University of Nairobi, Department of Ophthalmology, P.O. Box 19676 NAIROBI- 00202, Kenyatta National Hospital, Nairobi, Kenya
- 6 Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Trust, London EC1V 2PD, UK

Correspondence

Dr Hillary Rono

International Centre for Eye Health, Clinical Research Department, Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases,

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine,

Keppel Street, London, WC1E 7HT, UK

Email: Hillary.Rono@lshtm.ac.uk

Sponsor

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine is the main research sponsor for this study. For further information regarding the sponsorship conditions, please contact the Research Governance and Integrity Office: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street London WC1E 7HT Tel: +44 207 927 2626 Email: RGIO@LSHTM.ac.uk

Trial registration The Pan African Clinical Trials Registry (PACTR), 201807329096632.

Abstract

Background

A combination of limited access to eye services and low numbers of eye care providers in low and middle-income (LMIC) populations results in high prevalence of avoidable vision impairment. Poverty, lack of awareness and longer distance are key barriers to access these services. We investigated the effectiveness of the Peek Community Eye Health system (Peek CEH), a smartphone-based referral system comprising decision support algorithms (Peek Community Screening app), short message service (SMS) reminders and real-time system level reporting.

Methods

We conducted a single masked cluster randomised controlled trial. All participants in a 'community unit' defined as a dispensary or health centre with its catchment population were eligible. Community units were randomly allocated (1:1) to receive either the Peek CEH and referral (intervention group) or the current standard with periodic health centrebased outreach clinics and onward referral (control group). Participants in the intervention group were assessed in their houses by screeners and those referred were asked to present for triage. They also received regular SMS reminders. In both groups, community sensitization was done followed by a triage clinic at the link health facility four weeks from sensitisation. During triage, participants in both groups were assessed and treated and, if necessary, were given a referral letter to Kitale Eye Unit, participants in intervention arm received further SMS reminders. The primary outcome was the number of people per 10,000 population (rate) with eye conditions attending triage at four weeks of sensitization. Primary analysis was by intention to treat, with the intervention effect estimated using a t-test performed on cluster-level rates. This trial is registered with Pan African Clinical Trial Registry, number PACTR 201807329096632.

Results

Trial recruitment occurred between November 26, 2018, and June 7, 2019. We randomly selected 36 out of the 66 eligible CUs; these were then randomised to either the intervention group (68,348 participants) or the control group (60,243 participants). 9,387 (13.7%) participants from intervention group and 3,070 (5.1%) from the control group attended triage. The mean attendance by participants with eye problems was 5.2% in the control arm compared to 14.3% in the intervention, risk difference 9.1% (95%CI: 6.9-11.3%); p <0.00001. The mean hospital attendance was 0.8% for the intervention group vs. 0.3% in the control, risk difference 0.5% (95%CI:0.25-0.73%); p=0.0002. Hospital utilization (secondary care) rates by the catchment population remained consistent with normal annual levels, however a major change in the proportion of appropriate utilization was seen with a decrease from 63% to 13% with primary eye care conditions (most managed at triage) and an increase from 8% to 56% with priority vision impairing eye conditions.

Interpretation

The Peek Community Eye Health system increased primary care or hospital attendance for people with eye problems compared with the standard approach in communities. This indicates the potential of this technology package to improve uptake of eye services and guide task shifting of case identification to help target resources.

Funding

The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust. MJB is supported by the Wellcome Trust (207472/Z/17/Z)

Background

Globally, about 253 million people have vision impairment (VI), (visual acuity in the better seeing eye <6/18), of which 36 million are blind (visual acuity in the better eye <3/60).¹ An estimated 89% of those who are living with VI are in low and middle-income countries (LMICs) and_about 80% of the impairment is avoidable.² Worldwide, the main causes of VI are uncorrected refractive errors (42%) and cataract (33%); both of these being preventable and reversible VI.³

Some of the reasons for a high prevalence of VI are poverty; ⁴ lack of awareness and fear of treatment outcomes, ^{5,6} low numbers of eye workers, and the mal-distribution of the workforce which currently favours major urban areas, ^{7,8} and "Provider" related factors such as poor quality services arising from a shortage of trained staff and infrastructure.^{6,9} In addition, the limited available services are being utilized by people with conditions that could be managed at other levels of health care, creating further pressures on service providers and reducing equity and access to eye health.¹⁰

A major priority for VISION2020, the global initiative to eliminate avoidable blindness, is to reduce VI through equitable access to eye services and appropriate management of the conditions.¹¹ The World Health Organization (WHO) advocates for a well-coordinated and systematic eye care system with each level of health care performing specific roles such as management of cataracts and refractive errors at secondary care, ¹² and identification with limited care at the primary care level.¹³ Delivery of primary eye care can be broadly categorised in to two models based on their working operations, it may be either through fixed facilities and human resources or mobile services from a secondary care team. ¹⁴ The latter outreach model is more effective at providing short term access to eye care especially in rural areas.[22] ¹⁵ The long-term, more sustainable goal though is to integrate eye services into fixed primary health care (PHC) as a continuum of health service provision.¹⁶

An outreach from secondary eye care to fixed government run facilities model was used in this trial.

Mobile health (m-Health) interventions that support communication between health care providers and patients such as through short messaging services (SMS) appointment reminders is beneficial in improving adherence. ¹⁷ Others have reliably been used to identify VI enabling patients to recognise the need for eyecare.^{18,19} These interventions can increase system efficiency by reducing workload and making more efficient use of the limited human resources currently available through task-shifting,²⁰ minimise errors associated with paper reporting and prevent stock-outs through the increased automation of inventory and supply-chain management systems.^{21,22} Additionally, phone-based decision trees can assist less-well-trained users in decision making and can be helpful in diagnosis, monitoring or for data-gathering more generally.²¹

Previously we conducted a cluster randomised controlled trial in primary schools in Kenya using the Peek School Eye Health system to detect vision impairment in school children by task-shifting detection to teachers using a vision testing smartphone application. We found that teachers could reliably screen for vision impairment and the uptake of referrals to hospital was almost more than twice among those who received the intervention, suggesting that mHealth solutions could be used to improve access to eye health services.²³

Prior to commencing this trial, we developed and validated the "Peek Community Screening App," (PCS app) a decision support algorithm, including the previously validated visual acuity test, ¹⁸ that allows referral decisions by community volunteers to be made precisely and reliably across all ages for the trial (manuscript in submission). We have now integrated this app into an mHealth system for eye health screening in communities.

The aim of this study was to assess the effect of the Peek Community Eye Health system on increasing access to eye services through increased identification of people with eye problems in the community; increased uptake of a referral within four weeks by those with an identified eye problem; and more appropriate utilisation of primary and secondary care services at each health system level.

Methods

Trial Design and Participants

The methodology for this trial of the Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system has previously been described in detail and is summarised here.²⁴

We conducted a single-masked, parallel-group, cluster randomised controlled trial in 36 community units in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya. CONSORT guidelines for reporting cluster randomised trials were followed.²⁵ Clusters were community units (CU), defined as a dispensary or health centre together with the community they serve. A typical CU has a population of 5,000 to 10,000 people, although some may be smaller.^{26,27} Community members self-presenting with eye problems or those identified by trained community screeners using the Peek Community Screening app (PCS app) were asked to present for assessment and treatment of basic eye conditions (triage) on a specified date at the linked primary health facility. Those with conditions requiring secondary level assessment and treatment, such as cataract or refractive errors, that could not be managed at triage were referred to the secondary eye care unity, Kitale Eye Hospital.

We conducted a baseline census in selected community units before allocation to the study arms to determine the population size per cluster. Residence, age and sex were recorded. All people present in the community unit during the study were eligible for inclusion. Written informed consent from all participants was obtained before enrolment, parents or guardians consented for children. Participants were excluded if they did not provide consent. The study adhered to the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki on Ethics. It was approved by the Moi University Institutional Research and Ethics Committee, Kenya and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Ethics Committee, UK. Permission was also granted by department of Health Trans Nzoia County, Kenya.

Randomisation and masking

Community units were randomly assigned (1:1) to either the Peek Community Eye Health System (intervention) or the current standard (control group), with restricted randomization used to ensure balance between the arms in terms of distance from KEU, direction from KEU and subcounty. This has been described previously but briefly, one million potential allocations of CUs to arms were generated and a subset of 10,000 of those that met the restriction criteria were selected at random.²⁴ These were checked to ensure no pair of CUs were in the same arm more or less often than would be expected by chance, then one of these allocations was selected at random using a computer program.

Neither the study participants nor the screening team could be masked. The study statistician, hospital registration clerk and clinicians assessing outcomes were masked. All the primary outcome data on attendance to triage was entered into a dedicated cloud-based system developed by Peek which generated unique identifier numbers. The number was recorded on clinical forms before triage. Secondary data was collected by one hospital clerk who was masked to the intervention. On arrival at the hospital, the participants presented a referral slip, which was identical for each group. Using the unique number provided at triage they were all marked as attended in the hospital app so as to maintain masking of the secondary outcome data collection.

Procedures

We selected and trained 18 Peek Screeners (Community Volunteers (CVs) trained specifically on how to use the Peek Community Screening App and who travelled to multiple communities to perform their duties) for two weeks on how to operate a smartphone and how to identify and refer participants using the app.

In both arms, we sent posters and verbal notices (to churches and school) four weeks in advance of the date of triage clinic, encouraging people with eye problems to self-report to the clinic on a specific date and location for an eye check-up. In the communities assigned to the intervention, we provided transport to Peek screeners to the community for screening. A local CV, (a person from that same community) was paired with a screener. The Peek users and local CV visited households to screen participants for eye problems. After reconfirming consent, screeners used the PSC app to identify people with eye problems. The test algorithm prompted screening questions to participants or the parents or guardian of a child. The App prompts for distant visual acuity assessment using the embedded Peek Acuity App for children older than five years; and assessment of near visual acuity for all people aged 40 years and older using the RADNER reading chart at 40cm and the result recorded in the app.²⁸ Distance visual acuity of each eye was tested separately, with the fellow eye covered with the palm of the hand and near vision tested binocularly (both eyes together).¹⁸ We recorded age and gender for each participant. Participants absent during the house visit were asked to join the examination team at the next household or the next day at another location within the same cluster.

For those who screened positive (visual acuity less than 6/12 [20/40] in either eye; or presence of any self-reported eye pain or discomfort; self-reported difficulty seeing distant or near objects; or not able see N8 on near vision assessment for those aged 40 years or older), the app prompted the collection of additional information for contact and follow-up purposes: name, guardians / parent's name if a child, primary language, and contact telephone number and generated a referral to the link facility. They were also asked to attend the triage clinic on the pre-advertised date. When connected to the internet, the app sends these referral details to a cloud-based server, which automatically generated a personalised SMS to the participant or associate with advice on the outcome of the eye assessment and instructions for referral date and location in the chosen language. Weekly reminder messages were sent with the last one being one day prior to the appointment date. A referral was also automatically sent to the hospital where a database of referred participants was kept.

On the chosen date, a team from Kitale Eye Unit (KEU) provided triage at the CU's dispensary. Patients were assessed using the current standard outreach procedures and equipment (Snellen chart visual acuity, magnifying loop, refraction and direct ophthalmoscopy when indicated). They were either treated on site or referred to KEU for further assessment as indicated.

Intervention at triage included provisions of reading spectacles, eye drops and removal of foreign bodies. When referred, a pre-numbered referral slip with their study number, name, date, reason for referral and triage centre was provided to participants in both arms. For the intervention arm, immediately after referral from the PHC, an SMS was sent to the patient or guardian asking them to present to KEU. SMS was also sent to the hospital where the participant was referred to. A weekly reminder SMS were sent to those who had not yet attended their referral to the hospital for up to 4 weeks from the primary health centre assessment.

In the control arm, there was no active Peek screening in the community, potential participants with eye problems were notified through community sensitization (posters and local announcements), to present themselves to the specified health facility for the triage clinic on a pre-advertised date. On that advertised date the team from KEU conducted the outreach clinic within the CU, following procedures identical to the ones in the intervention arm described above. When referral was needed, patients were given an identical referral letter to the ones used in the intervention arm. They did not receive reminder SMSs. Each letter had a unique code number to link the patient referral record to their KEU attendance.

The follow-up period was 4 weeks from being referred from triage. On arrival at the KEU for assessment, a clerk recorded the attendance of the referred participant. The hospital's clinical team assessed the patient to identify the nature of the ailment and the treatment needed. Interventions included provision of eye drops, spectacles, or surgery. The team assessed visual acuity using a 6-meter Snellen chart. The cause of referral was recorded

based on the disease codes for routine reporting of eye diseases to the Ministry of Health, Kenya and reclassified using the ICD10 classification.²⁹ Vision impairment was defined as not able to see 6/12 in either eye. Distance between the primary health facility and Kitale eye was estimated from Google-maps.³⁰ All patients (control and intervention arms) received free treatment at the hospital.

Outcomes

The primary outcome, determined by the hospital team, was the number of people per 10,000 of population (rate) attending triage at a local health facility (PHC) with a confirmed eye condition (true positive), at 4 weeks from the time of initial sensitization. The secondary outcomes were (1) the number of people per 10,000 population (rate) attending the triage post without any eye condition (false positives) and (2) number of people attending KEU within four weeks after being referred from PHC. We also report the proportion of participants and the time taken by a participant referred from the PHC to attend the referral at KEU as well as diagnosis at triage and KEU giving us the appropriateness of the referral.

Statistical analysis

We calculated the sample size assuming an average rate of 150 new patients with eye problems per 10 ,000 population,³¹ based on previous attendance at outreach clinics in the region and an average population of a community unit of 5,000 people (about 75 people with eye problem per CU).²⁶ Therefore, using the Hayes formula for rates in unmatched cluster-randomised trials,³² and assuming an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.001, at least 36 CUs (18 each group) was sufficient to provide 90% power to detect a difference of 0.5%, from 1.5% in the control arm to 2.0% in the intervention arm (a 33% relative change) in overall attendance rates from the community to the primary facility at 4 weeks (the primary outcome).

The analysis was by intention to treat and the primary analysis was performed at the cluster level. We calculated the proportion of individuals attending triage within each cluster, by dividing the number attending triage with confirmed eye condition by the cluster population, determined by the baseline enumeration census (true positive attendance rate). A t-test was performed on the cluster-level proportions to provide an estimate of the rate difference (with a 95% confidence interval) between the two arms and a p-value in order to assess the strength of evidence against the null hypothesis that the rate is equal in the two arms.³³ We tested whether this effect was modified by any of sex, age and distance from KEU. For distance, since it was a cluster-level covariate we performed a linear regression on the cluster level rates and included distance and trial arm as exposures with an interaction term between them. For age and sex, we used the approach recommended by Cheung et al, ³⁴ for testing for effect modification of individual level covariates in a cluster-level analysis. Where evidence of effect modification was observed, stratum specific estimates were presented. The proportion attending triage but have no eye condition (false positive attendance rate) was estimated in a similar manner to the above in both arms.

We also estimated the effect of the intervention on the attendance rate of true positive referrals from primary care to secondary care at KEU using same approach of the clusterlevel analysis of the primary outcome. The numerator of each cluster was the number of individuals attending KEU following a referral from triage and the denominator is the cluster population.

Among those referred to KEU, we tested whether there was a difference in the odds of attending KEU within 28 days of referral between arms using a logistic regression model, adjusted for age, sex and distance to KEU and cluster included as a random effect. We also investigated whether time to attendance at KEU post-referral was different in the two arms, first visually using Kaplan-Meier plots then tested formally using Cox regression, again adjusted for age, sex and distance from KEU. Data on participants' visual acuity and diagnosis of eye problems at both triage and at KEU was tabulated. We used STATA version 15 (STATA Corp, TX, USA) for the analysis.³⁵

There was potential contamination in the control arm where 9 out of 18 clusters erroneously received SMS reminder messages that should only have been delivered to the intervention arm after referral from triage. We therefore repeated the analyses involving hospital attendance, separating out the clusters into three groups - 1) Control - Did not receive hospital reminder SMS, 2) Control - received hospital appointment reminder SMS, 3) Intervention - to assess the effect, if any, of contamination on the intervention.

The trial was registered with the Pan African Clinical Trial Registry (PACTR), number 201807329096632.

Role of the funding source

The funders had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

The Trial recruitment was conducted between November 26, 2018, and June 7, 2019 in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya. The final follow-up period at the hospital after triage ended on June 7th, 2019. Of the 85 eligible community units, 19 were excluded as they were attached to private or secondary heath facilities. Of the remaining 66 eligible CUs, 36 were randomly selected and 18 were allocated to each group (figure 1).

Demographic characteristics

Overall 128,591 people were enumerated, 68,348 (53.2%) were from the 18 intervention communities. The intervention communities tended to be a little larger on average with a mean cluster size of 3,797 (range 2,139 - 6,526) compared to 3,346 (range 2,190 - 5,607) in the control group. The mean distance from community unit to Kitale hospital was 18.3 kilometres (range 5 – 36 km) for the communities in the interventions arm compared to 19.8 km (range 5-32 km) in the control. Overall 50.6% of those enumerated were female and 44.9% were aged less than 15 years, with no difference by age or sex between study arms, table 1. Consent was granted by 128,322 (99.8%) out of 128 591 potential participants. Those without consent were not screened but would able to attend triage if they had any eye problem. We therefore used the enumerated population as the denominator for estimating proportions.

Out of 68,174 participants in the intervention arm who consented, 27,692 (40.6%) were screened during house screening. The mean cluster coverage was 42.8% (range 21.8% – 92.4%). The main reason for low coverage was participants being absent during screening. Out of the participants screened, 15,299 (55.2%), were referred for eye problems, out of which 6,045 (39.5%) presented for triage, figure 1.

	Intervention					Control						
characteristics	haracteristics Enumerated		Attend	Attended Atte		nded	Enumerated		Attended		Attended	
			Triage		Hosp	ital				Triage		Hospital
	n	%*	n	%†	n	%†	n	%*	n	%†	n	%†
All population	68,348		9,387	13.7	552	0.8	60,243		3,070	5.1	210	0.4
Age group												
<15	30,317	44.9	1,843	6.1	56	0.2	26,755	44.9	743	2.8	26	0.1
15-29	18,102	26.8	1,203	6.6	98	0.5	15,705	26.4	445	2.8	38	0.2
30-44	9,387	13.9	1,640	17.5	97	1.0	8,604	14.5	473	5.5	34	0.4
45-59	5,561	8.3	2,360	42.4	116	2.1	5,066	8.5	730	14.4	47	0.9
60-74	3,162	4.7	1,677	53.0	120	3.8	2,629	4.4	456	17.3	46	1.7
75+yrs.	975	1.4	664	68.1	65	6.7	785	1.3	223	28.4	19	2.4
Mean age												
(years), standard	22.4 (18	.7)	41.6 (2	41.6 (23.2)		23.0)	22.4 (18.5)		38.9 (24.1)		44.8 (23.1)	
deviation (SD)												
Sex												
Female	34,629	50.7	5706	16.5	301	0.9	30,405	50.5	1759	5.8	107	0.4
Male	33,719	49.3	3681	10.9	251	0.7	29,838	49.5	1311	4.4	103	0.3

 Table 1: The demographic characteristics of eligible population, and participants who attended triage and Hospital by study arm in the trial

* Denominator is all enumerated within the trial arm

† Denominator is those enumerated within the category of age or sex in the trial arm





Triage attendance

In total, 12,457 participants attended triage; 9,387 (75.4%) from communities in the intervention arm and 3,070 (24.6%) from the control arm, table 1. Of these 11,862 (95.2%) were diagnosed by a clinician as having some form of eye problem. The proportion of the population (as enumerated) attending triage and who had an eye problem in the control communities ranged from 0.8% up to 9.0% compared with a range from 8.3% to 20.9% in the intervention communities, table 2 & figure 2A.

Table 2: Attendance rates by trial arm for (1) the community Triage clinic and (2) the hospital eye department clinic.

Characteristic		Proportion of those	р-	р-			
		Control arm	Intervention arm	Risk difference	value*	value#	
		n, (95% CI)	n, (95% Cl)	n, (95% Cl)			
(1) Co	mmunity	triage clinic					
()							
Overall		5.2% (4.2 -6.3)	14.3% (12.3-16.3)	9.1% (6.9%-11.2%)	<0.0001	N/A	
For	Female	5.9% (4.6%-7.1%)	17.1% (14.6%-19.6%)	11.3% (8.6%-13.9%)	3 %) <0.0001		
Sex	Male	4.6% (3.6-5.5%)	11.4% (9.8%-12.9%)	6.8% (8.6%-5.1%)	<0.0001	<0.0001	
	<15	2.7% (2.1-3.3%)	6.1% (4.8%-7.4%)	3.4% (2.1%-4.7%)	<0.0001		
	15-29	2.6% (2.1%-3.2%)	6.5% (5.3%-7.7%)	3.9% (2.6%-5.2%)	<0.0001		
Age	30-44	5.5% (4.3%-6.7%)	17.6% (15.0%-20.2%)	12.2% (9.3%-14.9%)	<0.0001	<0.0001	
group	45-59	14.6% (11.7%-17.5%)	44.2% (38.4%-50.1%)	29.6% (23.4%-35.9%)	<0.0001	10.0001	
	60-74	18.4% (13.5%-23.3%)	57.6% (46.6%-68.6%)	39.2% (27.6%-50.8%)	<0.0001		
	75+	29.9% (22.8%-37.0%)	74.3% (58.7%-89.9%)	44.4% (27.9%-60.9%)	<0.0001		
(2) Hos	spital eye o	lepartment clinic					
Overall		0.4% (0.3%-0.5%)	0.9% (0.7%-1.2%)	0.5% (0.3%-0.8%)	0.0001	N/A	
	Female	0.4% (0.3%-0.5%)	1.0% (0.7%-1.3%)	0.6% (0.3%-0.9%)	0.0001	0.0045	
Sex	Male	0.4% (0.3%-0.5%)	0.8% (0.6%-1.0%)	0.4% (0.2%-0.7%)	0.0015	0.0315	
	<15	0.1% (0.1%-0.2%)	0.2% (0.1%-0.3%)	0.1% (0.0%-0.2%)	0.0364		
	15-29	0.3% (0.1%-0.4%)	0.6% (0.4%-0.8%)	0.4% (0.1%-0.6%)	0.0019		
Age	30-44	0.4% (0.2%-0.6%)	1.1% (0.7%-1.5%)	0.7% (0.2%-1.2%)	0.0038	0.0004	
group	45-59	0.9% (0.6%-1.3%)	2.2% (1.5%-2.8%)	1.2% (0.5%-1.9%)	0.0015	0.0004	
	60-74	2.0% (1.2%-2.7%)	4.5% (2.9%-6.2%)	2.6% (0.8%-4.3%)	0.0052		
	75+	2.5% (1.6%-3.5%)	7.8% (4.3%-11.2%)	5.2% (1.8%-8.7%)	0.0041		

CI - Confidence Interval,

* - P- value for risk difference

- p-value for interaction

Figure 2: (A) Distribution of cluster attendance rates by participant with confirmed eye problems, by trial arm, (B) Mean attendance rate by sex and trial arm, (C) Mean attendance rate by age category and trial arm



Very strong evidence (p<0.0001) was found of a higher rate of attendance of individuals with eye problems in the intervention arm compared to the control arm, with an estimated mean attendance of 5.2% in the control arm compared to 14.3% in the intervention arm resulting in an estimated risk difference of 9.1% (95%CI: 6.9-11.3%).

We also found strong evidence (p<0.0001) that effect of intervention differed between males and females, with the increase in the attendance rate found to be greater among females. The risk difference was estimated to be 11.3% (95% CI: 8.6 - 13.9%) in females compared with 6.8% (95% CI: 5.1 - 8.6%) in males, figure 2B. Strong evidence (p<0.0001) was also found of effect modification by age, table 2 & figure 2C. The estimated risk difference was 3.4% (95% CI: 2.1 - 4.7%) among those aged under 15 increasing with each age category up to an estimated risk difference of 44.4% (95% CI: 27.9 - 60.9%) in those aged over 75. There was no evidence found (p=0.8917) of effect modification by distance.

Triage attendance by participants without eye problems (False positives)

Out of the 12,457 participants who presented for triage, 595 (4.8%) had no eye problems (false positives). In the intervention arm 442/9,387 (4.7%) participants had no eye problems compared to 153/3,070 (5.0%) in the control arm. Among those reporting to triage, there was no evidence of a difference in the proportion without eye problems in the study arms (OR 0.94, [95%CI 0.78 - 1.14]; p= 0.519). We did however find strong evidence (p=0.0001) that the proportion of the population attending triage without any eye problem, similar to overall attendance, was higher in the intervention communities. The mean attendance was 0.72% in the intervention communities compared to 0.26 % in the control. The estimated risk difference was 0.46% (95%CI: 0.24-0.67%).

Hospital attendance

The proportion of individuals referred to the Kitale Eye Unit (KEU) within each arm was broadly similar, with 713/3,070 (23.2%) referred in the control arm and 2,263/9,387 (24.1%) referred from the intervention arm. Of the 2,976 participants referred to Kitale Eye Unit (KEU) six were missing follow up data. Out of the 2,970 participants with follow up data, 762 (25.7%) attended hospital with 671 (22.6%) arriving within 28 days. The proportion of the population (as enumerated) referred from triage and attending hospital in the control communities ranged from 0.08% up to 0.9% compared with a range from 0.2% to 1.7% in the intervention communities.

The estimated proportion of the population (as enumerated) attending hospital after referral from triage within 28 days was 0.8% in the intervention communities compared to 0.3% in the control. This provided strong evidence (p=0.0002) of a difference in the attendance between intervention communities and the control communities, with an estimated risk difference of 0.5% (95%CI: 0.25-0.73%).

There was strong evidence (p=0.0086) that the intervention effect on attendance to hospital after triage referral differed between males and females, with the increase in the attendance rate found to be greater among females. The risk difference was estimated to be 0.6% (95% CI: 0.3 - 0.9%) in females compared to 0.3 % (95% CI: 0.1 - 0.6%) in males, table 2.

We found strong evidence (p=0.0004) that the effect of intervention on attendance to hospital was greater among older participants. The risk difference ranged from 0.3% (95% CI: 0.1 - 0.4%) in those less than 15 years old up to 3.7% (95% CI: 0.2 - 7.3%) in those aged 75 and above, table 2. Again, no evidence (p=0.879) of effect modification by distance from the hospital was found.

The median time to hospital attendance was 16 days (IQR 9-22) with a mean of 17.9 days. Of the 711 participants referred from the control arm, 181 (25.5%) presented to the hospital within 28 days compared to 490/2,259 (21.7%) in the intervention arm.

After adjusting for clustering of community units, distance from the hospital, whether they were categorised as visually impaired at triage, age and sex the evidence of a difference in odds of attending hospital within 28 days was very weak (p=0.145) with the observed odds of attendance lower in the intervention arm than in the control (adjusted OR 0.77 [95% CI 0.54 - 1.10]).

We found evidence that the following groups were more likely to attend hospital among participants referred from triage: - males were more likely to attend than women; younger age groups than older; those with poor vision identified at triage than those who didn't; and those living closer to the hospital than those more distant, table 3.

The rate of hospital attendance (hazards) among those who were referred at triage for eye problems was estimated to be lower in the intervention group than the standard group, with an adjusted hazard ratio of 0.80 [95% CI 0.59 - 1.08]; p=0·137), Figure 4A.

	Number referred	Number and proportion that Attended hospital					
	N	n	%	Adjusted OR	95% CI	pooled p- value	
Intervention							
Control	711	190	26.7	1		0 145	
Intervention	2259	499	22.1	0.77	0.54 - 1.10	0.145	
Age group (years)							
<15	298	76	11.0	1			
15-29	514	124	18.0	1.03	0.73 - 1.45		
30-44	494	123	17.8	1.06	0.75 - 1.50	0 0065	
45-59	665	147	21.3	0.82	0.59 - 1.15	0.0005	
60-74	592	148	21.5	0.89	0.63 - 1.25		
75+yrs.	407	71	10.3	0.56	0.38 - 0.83		
sex							
Male	1207	319	26.4	1.40	1.17 - 1.68	0 0002	
Female	1763	370	21.0	1		0.0003	
Visual status at Triage							
6/12 or better in both eyes	1084	230	21.2	1			
Worse than 6/12 in either eye	1006	450	212	1 20	105 156	0.0162	
(visual impairment)	1000	455	24.3	1.20	1.05 - 1.50		
Distance to the Hospital in							
Kilometers (kms)							
10 kms or less	448	125	27.9	1			
11kms – 20 kms	1574	382	24.3	0.84	0.53 - 1.36	0.0369	
20 or more kms	948	182	19.2	0.56	0.34 - 0.92		

Table 3: The proportion of participants referred from Triage who arrive at Kitale eye unit within28 days of being referred.

Figure 3: Kaplan-Meier analysis of time from Triage referral to attendance at the hospital eye clinic, among all participants (A) and stratified by those who erroneously received SMs, (B).

(A)





Eye conditions in participants attending triage and hospital

Overall, 68.2 % of the 12,457 participants seen at triage had either allergic/other conjunctivitis, presbyopia or no problem found with their eyes, conditions considered suitable for management at this primary health care level. Of the remaining conditions, the most common were cataracts (10.9%), refractive errors (10.6%) and retinal diseases (2.4%). Overall 9,481 (76.1%) out of 12,457 participants were treated at triage.

There were 762 participants who attended hospital, however only 719 participants were treated as 43 participants checked into the hospital but left before being attended to. Of these 719, 55.5% had either cataracts, glaucoma or refractive error considered suitable for management at secondary (hospital) level. The other conditions were allergic conjunctivitis (10.3%), retinal diseases (7.4%) and conjunctival growths (5.7%), table 4.

Venue of diagnosis	Triage	Hospital		
	n/12,457		n/ 719*	
Eye conditions	n	%	n	%
Allergic conjunctivitis	3,359	27.0	74	10.3
Presbyopia	3,327	26.7	31	4.3
Other Conjunctivitis	1,212	9.7	11	1.5
Cataracts	1,362	10.9	188	26.2
Refractive errors	1,326	10.6	203	28.2
Normal	594	4.8	8	1.1
Retinal diseases	291	2.4	53	7.4
Conjunctival growths	222	1.8	41	5.7
Corneal diseases	180	1.5	15	2.1
Glaucoma	78	0.6	8	1.1
Eye injury & FB in eye	40	0.3	5	0.7
Chalazion & lid swellings	42	0.3	18	2.5
Uveitis	24	0.2	5	0.7
Lid inflammations	18	0.1	0	0
Others	382	3.1	59	8.2

Table	4: Diagnosis	of the	participants	who	attended	Triage	and	Hospital	appointments	; in
Trans	Nzoia county	, Kenya	l.							

* 43 participants checked into the hospital but left before being attended

Potential contamination

In error, 9 out of the 18 clusters in the control arm received SMS reminder messages. Comparing the odds of attendance at 28 days across the three groups (control - no SMS, control - with SMS and intervention) there was some weak evidence (p=0.0575) of a difference in the odds of attendance within 28 days of referral. After adjustment for clustering in the community, age, sex, vision status and distance, the estimated odds of attendance in the intervention group was very similar to the odds in the control with no SMS group (OR 1.04, 95%CI 0.66-1.63, p=0.868), but the odds of attendance in the control arm clusters where reminder SMS were sent were estimated to be a bit higher (OR 1.68, 95%CI 1.00-2.83, p=0.050) than in the control group who did not receive messages. This is consistent with what is observed in the time to attendance analysis, with a hazard ratio of 1.11 (95%CI 0.75-1.65, p=0.589) estimated when comparing the intervention arm to the control clusters who did not receive messages, and a hazard ratio of 1.72 (95%CI 1.10-2.69, p=0.017) comparing the control clusters that received messages with those that did not, figure 4B.

This "contamination" of the control group could also have led to a dilution of the effect of the intervention on the overall population proportion that attended KEU. By treating these three groups separately it was estimated that the attendance among the population (as enumerated) in the control group without messages was 0.3% (95%CI 0.1-0.6%), the control group with messages was estimated at 0.5% (95%CI 0.2-0.7%) and in the intervention arm it was 0.9% (0.7-1.1%). The evidence of a difference between the two control groups was very weak (risk difference 0.2%, 95%CI -0.2%-0.5%, p=0.379), but there was evidence that the attendance in the intervention arm was higher than in each of the control groups (risk difference vs control without messages 0.6%, 95%CI 0.3-0.9%, p=0.0003; risk difference vs control with messages 0.5%, 95%CI 0.1-0.8%, p=0.0055).

Discussion

Elimination of avoidable blindness from causes such as cataracts, refractive errors and glaucoma are prioritized by the World Health Organization. ¹¹ The current barriers to achieving this goal include insufficient eye health workers;³⁶ limited awareness of eye health in the general population, including where to access services; ⁶ and high-demand on specialist secondary services for eye health conditions that could be managed in a primary care setting.^{37 10}

Utilization of eye care services was comparable in the control group (5.2%) that received community sensitization only compared to other studies in the country which found 4.8% as having sort treatment following sensitization,³⁸ suggesting that sensitization is an effective means of increasing utilization of available services. This trial showed that an integrated system comprising a smartphone-based decisions support algorithm to identify eye problems (PCS app) and SMS reminders (the Peek Community Eye Health System) as well as sensitization significantly improved the overall triage (PEC) and hospital attendance rate among people with eye problems compared with standard processes. This suggests that the intervention is effective in increasing access, which is likely to be due to the **accurate** identification of people with eye problems as well as making available the timing and location of appointments by SMS, thus helping patients to adhere to their appointment.

The findings of this trial also suggest that, for every 10,000 people sensitized and screened using the Peek Community Eye Health System, 1,502 presented for triage. Of these, 1,430 had confirmed eye problems and 72 did not; 92 attended hospital following referral from triage. In contrast, the standard methods, for every 10,000 people sensitized, 546 presented at the triage clinic; 520 with confirmed eye problem and 26 without; and 39 attended hospital following referral from triage. This therefore means that with the use of Peek CEH system

an anticipated additional 910 people with confirmed eye problems will present to triage for treatment and 53 to the hospital for every 10 000 people. However, an extra 46 people will present to triage without eye problems. Based on the results of the study, the use of Peek CEH system leads to increased attendance at both primary facilities (for triage) and at the secondary level facility.

This study highlights the complementary roles of the different levels of the health system in the management of eye conditions. For example, a previous study on the utilization of secondary eye services in the region,¹⁰ found an annual utilization rate of 79 per 10,000 population, with 61% of patients seen having allergic/other conjunctivitis or normal eyes, which could be managed at the primary eye care level and only 8.3% having VISION2020 priority eye conditions (cataract, Refractive errors, glaucoma).

In this trial we found a similar hospital utilization rate (80 per 10,000 population), but a change in the proportion of presenting eye conditions, with 11.4% having a condition suitable for primary care management and 55.5% having (cataract, Refractive errors, glaucoma) considered suitable for management at secondary (hospital) level. This result indicates that despite the intervention increasing the overall attendance for those who need eye services, the overall numbers did not increase at the secondary unit work load because most patients (76%) were managed at triage with few requiring referrals. As a result, more people received attention for primary eye care conditions in a community setting, there was a reduction of people with simpler conditions coming to secondary unit, and an increase in people with more complex conditions accessing secondary level services.

WHO advocates for a well-coordinated eye care system with each level of health care performing specific roles such as management of cataracts and refractive errors in secondary care ¹² and basic eye care provision at the primary care setting.¹³ Our findings suggest that depending on the capacity of the eye health workforce, it may be possible to shift management of some eye condition to primary eye care, leaving greater capacity at

the secondary level to handle more complex eye conditions warranting specialist services, in line with WHO recommendations.¹²

One of the challenges found in previous studies on the use of smartphones to identify visual impairment was a higher proportion of false positives.²³ In this study there was no difference in the proportion of false positives in the two arms in this study (4.7% intervention vs 5.0% in control) although the absolute number of people without eye problems was higher in the intervention group due to an overall increase in the number of people who attended triage. The trial further demonstrated that non eye-care workers using smartphone decision supported algorithms can correctly identify and refer patients with eye problems. This suggests that this is an acceptable and effective task-shifting method in this context and provides an opportunity to enhance the role of community health workers and primary care workers in supporting the delivery of eye care services in areas of need.

We found that the intervention increased the utilization of eye services both at primary (triage) and secondary (Hospital) services, more so in females than males and across all ages. Previous studies in the same region found that secondary services were less utilized by the young and older women,¹⁰ our finding suggests that the intervention could improve equity in eye care especially among women and those aged 45 years or older because visual impairment is prevalent in this age group.¹ Improvement in uptake could be due to increased awareness of the existing eye services, ³⁹ knowledge about who and where to consult for management of eye complaints, a lack of which were identified as barriers in other studies.⁴⁰

We found that barriers that hindered utilization are mainly between the primary to secondary level of health care. Coverage of screening in the community was relatively low (41%) suggesting provider challenges while factors associated with poor adherence to primary services (Triage) were not established in this study. Despite these challenges more of the older people which is perhaps the group with greatest need attended triage. About three-
quarters of those who were referred did not attend their secondary referrals suggesting there were barriers to accessing secondary services. Barriers included: female gender, longer distances to the health facilities, older ages groups and those without any visual impairment as barriers to utilizing secondary eye services. Other barriers that were not assessed include poverty, costs, or fear of treatment outcomes.⁴⁻⁶ Our finding suggests that the influence of gender depends on the level of health care where the outcome was assessed. When services are closer access by females is higher, however when accessing secondary services other considerations may arise. This includes prevailing social norms where men have authority in family decisions.⁴¹ for example, in some communities women needed to seek permission from their husbands before going to hospital and out of fear of being a burden to the family, they opt to live with the adversity rather than seek treatment.⁴² It may also be due to other competing priorities deemed of greater importance than seeking eye care.

The trial also indicates that the presence of visual impairment corresponded to increased utilization of secondary eye care services, suggesting that people in the community may choose to wait until they have VI before seeking help. This might arise because eye problems are not seen as a priority or as life-threatening, or because prior to the intervention people had low awareness of eye care services. We would expect higher utilization among older people given vision impairment increases with age.⁴³ However, in this trial utilisation by people 75 years and older was lower than younger age groups, perhaps suggesting that there may be a number barriers to accessing care, such as the belief in some societies that blindness is viewed as an inevitable accompaniment of growing old hence there is no need to seek treatment,⁴⁴ or it could be due to a lack of family support or escorts to accompany the patient to eye care services.⁴⁵

This trial has a number of strengths. We conducted a full enumeration of the target population to accurately define the study population. The trial was integrated into the existing health system, which informs potential future adoption and scale-up possible.²³ The

trial also represents the first community cluster RCT of an mHealth intervention to increase access to eye care services. The primary outcome measure of attendance was objective and robust.

Limitations to note were that during the study, there was industrial action between 1st and 28th February 2019 by nurses throughout County that could have discouraged hospital or triage attendance by some participants, due to uncertainty about the availability of health services. However, attendance rates did not appear to be lower during the period when there was industrial action. The trial activities were not affected. There was an intervention error in the control arm which involved residents of half the clusters receiving SMS reminders. When we performed stratified multivariate analysis, we observed that more participants in the 'contaminated group' attended the hospital appointment and came faster than those who received no SMS or those who did receive one in the intervention group. It seems to be an effect of the first two messages but subsequent ones have reduced effect. Studies on SMS-marketing have reported saturation effects which differed by gender.⁴⁶ This observation suggests that either patient's perception that they should have received the treatment they needed in the primary care setting, and so an onward referral leads to reduced trust in the health system or perhaps the novelty of the message wears off. Finally, multiple SMS may have introduced some intervention fatigue. A future study could explore single message vs multiple messages and bespoke counselling. Cost-effectiveness was not assessed, which is relevant for resource-constrained contexts. Future studies will include cost-effectiveness of this intervention, barriers to uptake of adherence of secondary care and new mHealth enabled hypothesis driven health system optimisation techniques that make it possible to determine the programmatic effect of interventions such as messaging frequency and content.

217

Recommendations

The model is scalable provided other key elements being present such as capacity of the primary health system to handle extra referrals, the skill set of PEC workers to make a diagnosis, the accuracy of a screening tool in the specific setting and the resources to do so. We recommend that care providers at primary health care facilities be trained and equipped to provide these services. A scaling approach could be to increase resources or stagger the rate of screening to match the existing resources. If it were to be scaled in areas with low primary level skill set, an adapted outreach model can be used where secondary level health workers are deployed periodically in outreach at the primary level whilst concurrently providing training to permanent staff to transition from secondary to primary outreach to a feeder model from primary to secondary.

Conclusion

This trial has provided strong evidence that integration of community, primary and secondary health services using the Peek Community Eye Health system both increased access to vital services to the population by ensuring individuals are seen at the appropriate level of the health system whilst also ensuring that service providers time is utilised effectively and efficiently.

REFERENCES

- Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Global health* 2017; 5(9): e888-e97.
- World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014-2019.
 Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.
- 3. Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. *The British journal of ophthalmology* 2011: bjophthalmol-2011-300539-.
- Gilbert CE, Shah SP, Jadoon MZ, et al. Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: results from the Pakistan national blindness and visual impairment survey. *Bmj* 2008;
 336(7634): 29-32.
- Mathenge W, Bastawrous A, Foster A, Kuper H. The Nakuru posterior segment eye disease study: methods and prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in Nakuru, Kenya. *Ophthalmology* 2012; **119**(10): 2033-9.
- Syed A, Polack S, Eusebio C, et al. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. *Disabil Rehabil* 2013; **35**(19): 1660-7.
- Palmer JJ, Chinanayi F, Gilbert A, et al. Mapping human resources for eye health in 21 countries of sub-Saharan Africa: current progress towards VISION 2020. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; **12**(1): 1-16.
- Eliah E, Lewallen S, Kalua K, Courtright P, Gichangi M, Bassett K. Task shifting for cataract surgery in eastern Africa: productivity and attrition of non-physician cataract surgeons in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; 12 Suppl 1: S4.
- Resnikoff S, Felch W, Gauthier TM, Spivey B. The number of ophthalmologists in practice and training worldwide: a growing gap despite more than 200,000 practitioners. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2012; **96**(6): 783-7.

- Rono MMed HK, Macleod D, Bastawrous A, Wanjala E, Gichangi M, Burton MJ. Utilization of Secondary Eye Care Services in Western Kenya. *International Journal* of Environmental Research and Public Health 2019; 16(18): 3371.
- World Health Organization. Visual impairment and blindness. Fact Sheet N°282.
 Updated August 2014 ed. Geneva: WHO; 2014.
- 12. Worl Health organization. Strategies for the Prevention of Blindness in National programmes: A Primary Health Care Approach. Geneva: WHO, 1997.
- Murthy G, Raman U. Perspectives on primary eye care. *Community Eye Health* 2009;
 22(69): 10-1.
- Misra V, Vashist P, Malhotra S, Gupta S. Models for Primary Eye Care Services in India. *Indian Journal of Community Medicine* 2015; **40**(2): 79-84.
- 15. Naidoo K, Ravilla D. Delivering refractive error services: primary eye care centres and outreach. *Community Eye Health* 2007; **20**(63): 42-4.
- Frenk J. Reinventing primary health care: the need for systems integration. *Lancet* 2009; **374**(9684): 170-3.
- Free C, Phillips G, Watson L, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS Med* 2013; **10**(1): e1001363.
- Bastawrous A, Rono HK, Livingstone IT, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone-based visual acuity test (peek acuity) for clinical practice and communitybased fieldwork. *JAMA Ophthalmology* 2015; **133**(8): 930-7.
- Levesque JF, Harris MF, Russell G. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. *Int J Equity Health* 2013; **12**: 18.
- Eliah E, Lewallen S, Kalua K, Courtright P, Gichangi M, Bassett K. Task shifting for cataract surgery in eastern Africa: productivity and attrition of non-physician cataract surgeons in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. *Human Resources for Health* 2014; **12**(1): S4.

- Labrique AB, Vasudevan L, Kochi E, Fabricant R, Mehl G. mHealth innovations as health system strengthening tools: 12 common applications and a visual framework. *Glob Health Sci Pract* 2013; 1(2): 160-71.
- 22. Namisango E, Ntege C, Luyirika EBK, Kiyange F, Allsop MJ. Strengthening pharmaceutical systems for palliative care services in resource limited settings: piloting a mHealth application across a rural and urban setting in Uganda. *BMC Palliative Care* 2016; **15**(1): 20.
- Rono HK, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, et al. Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018; 6(8): e924-e32.
- 24. Rono H, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, Wanjala E, Gichuhi S, Burton M. Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2019; **20**(1): 502.
- Campbell MK, Piaggio G, Elbourne DR, Altman DG. Consort 2010 statement: extension to cluster randomised trials. *BMJ : British Medical Journal* 2012; 345: e5661.
- 26. Department of Health. Trans Nzoia Service Availability and Readiness Assessment and Mapping Report (SARAM). Kitale: Ministry of Health, 2015.
- 27. Ministry of Health. Strategic Plan of Kenya Community Strategy Implementation Guidelines for Managers of the Kenya Essential Package for Health at the Community Level. Nairobi: Ministry of Health, 2007.
- Radner W. Near vision examination in presbyopia patients: Do we need good homologated near vision charts? *Eye and Vision* 2016; **3**(1): 29.
- 29. World Health Organisation. ICD-10 Version:2010. World Health Organisation 2010.
- Google (U.K). Google Maps : Directions for driving Trans-Nzoia County, Kenya. 2018. <u>https://www.google.com/maps/place/Trans-</u> Nzoia+County,+Kenya/@1.0002106,34.7969231,10.64z/data=!4m5!3m4!1s0x1781f

- 31. Eye department Kitale County and Referral Hospital. Kitale County and Referral Hospital Eye Unit: Annual activity report 2016 (OEU report). In: Personal communication from Head of Eye Unit, editor.
- Hayes RJ, Bennett S. Simple sample size calculation for cluster-randomized trials.
 International Journal of Epidemiology 1999; 28(2): 319-26.
- Bennett S, Parpia T, Hayes R, Cousens S. Methods for the analysis of incidence rates in cluster randomized trials. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002; **31**(4): 839-46.
- Cheung YB, Jeffries D, Thomson A, Milligan P. A simple approach to test for interaction between intervention and an individual-level variable in community randomized trials. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2008; **13**(2): 247-55.
- StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 15. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP;
 2017.
- 36. Resnikoff S, Lansingh VC, Washburn L, et al. Estimated number of ophthalmologists worldwide (International Council of Ophthalmology update): will we meet the needs? *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2019: bjophthalmol-2019-314336.
- Fletcher AE, Donoghue M, Devavaram J, et al. Low Uptake of Eye Services in Rural India: A Challenge for Programs of Blindness Prevention. *JAMA Ophthalmology* 1999; 117(10): 1393-9.
- Kimani K, Lindfield R, Senyonjo L, Mwaniki A, Schmidt E. Prevalence and Causes of Ocular Morbidity in Mbeere District, Kenya. Results of a Population-Based Survey. *PLOS ONE* 2013; 8(8): e70009.
- Lewallen S, Courtright P. Recognising and reducing barriers to cataract surgery.
 Community eye health 2000; **13**(34): 20-1.
- 40. Ntsoane M, Oduntan O. A review of factors influencing the utilization of eye care services. *African Vision and Eye Health* 2010; **69**(4): 182-92.

- Ngugi AK, Agoi F, Mahoney MR, et al. Utilization of health services in a resourcelimited rural area in Kenya: Prevalence and associated household-level factors. *PLOS ONE* 2017; **12**(2): e0172728.
- Geneau R, Lewallen S, Bronsard A, Paul I, Courtright P. The social and family dynamics behind the uptake of cataract surgery: findings from Kilimanjaro region, Tanzania. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2005; **89**(11): 1399-402.
- Olusanya BA, Ashaye AO, Owoaje ET, Baiyeroju AM, Ajayi BG. Determinants of Utilization of Eye Care Services in a Rural Adult Population of a Developing Country. *Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol* 2016; **23**(1): 96-103.
- Rotchford AP, Rotchford KM, Mthethwa LP, Johnson GJ. Reasons for poor cataract surgery uptake - a qualitative study in rural South Africa. *Tropical medicine & international health : TM & IH* 2002; 7(3): 288-92.
- 45. Amritanand A, Jasper S, Paul P, Kuriakose T. Facilitating factors in overcoming barriers to cataract surgical services among the bilaterally cataract blind in Southern India: A cross-sectional study. *Indian Journal of Ophthalmology* 2018; **66**(7): 963-8.
- Gauzente Claire RAGC. SMS-Marketing: A Study of Consumer Saturation Using an Extended TAM Approach. *International Journal of Electronic Business* 2008; 6(3): 282-97.

8. Discussion and Conclusion



Figure 8-1: Ophthalmic workers examining a patient

8. Discussion and conclusion

The findings from each research component of this thesis have been discussed in each of the respective papers in Chapters 2-7. This chapter (8) provides a summary of the key findings, the strengths, limitations and the implications of the findings for policy and practice and for suggested areas of future research.

The aim of this thesis was to develop, describe and evaluate a demonstration model of community volunteers (CVs) and teachers using Peek systems in communities and schools respectively to identify people with referable eye conditions, refer those with eye problems for treatment and evaluate a follow-up system so as to reduce avoidable visual impairment in Trans Nzoia, Kenya.

Overall, the primary eye care services were not well developed nor integrated with the community or secondary eye services. Secondary eye services were underutilized; but when utilized it was predominantly by people with eye conditions that could be managed in primary eye care. The findings in this thesis demonstrated that non eye care workers could use Peek systems to identify and refer people with eye problems and that these mHealth interventions integrated into the community, primary and secondary services, improving access to care, adherence to referrals and utilization of the appropriate level of services.

Principle findings

Findings from the literature review in Chapter 1 suggested a lack of proven mHealth interventions for eye care. We established that current eye care provision is currently insufficient to meet the minimum requirement for eye care services.¹ Many people remain unnecessarily visually impaired or at risk of becoming so due to treatable or preventable eye conditions.² A lack of access and awareness of services are key barriers,^{3,4} partly due to too few eye care providers in the health system for the unmet need.⁵ One of the strategies

to improve access to eye care involves redistribution of tasks among health workforce teams, to improve efficiency among available human resources.⁶ Effective task shifting through clear referral criteria and management plans has been delivered through clinical algorithms as was demonstrated in the integrated management of childhood illnesses (IMCI).⁷ Clinical algorithms have also been developed for use in eye care, however they have infrequently been validated or where they have, the accuracy has been variable.^{8,9} A recent systematic review showed that mobile health (mHealth) interventions that support communication between healthcare providers and patients through short messaging service (SMS) appointment reminders are effective and beneficial in the provision of health care.¹⁰ Although mHealth is gaining acceptance in the healthcare community,¹¹ the majority of mHealth interventions, especially in Africa, have been focused on managing HIV, tuberculosis and malaria,¹² and none in eye care. A need has been identified for developing such interventions for eye care.

The first objective of the thesis was to determine the current utilization of hospital eye care services in the catchment population. To achieve the objective, a retrospective review of hospitals records of new patients seen in Kitale Eye Unit between 2013 and 2015 to assess the utilization of eye services in the context of Trans Nzoia County was done (Chapter 2). In this period, 20,695 hospital visits from the catchment population were recorded in the three-year period. Of these, only 8.3% had either uncorrected refractive error, cataracts or glaucoma, the priority VISION 2020 diseases, and 61.0% had allergic or other forms of conjunctivitis (or they had normal eyes), which could potentially be managed at primary eye care. The overall average annual attendance rate increased from 609 to 792 per 100, 000 population, incidence rate ratio (IRR) 1.30 (95% confidence interval (CI) 1.26–1.35) over the three-year period. There was evidence that attendance rates increased more in females than males (34.7% vs. 25.1%, respectively), IRR 1.07 (1.04–1.10). Attendance rates also increased with increasing age, (highest among the elderly compared to the young). We found that in extreme age groups (>75 years and <15years) females were less likely to

attend than males and there was reduced utilization from those based furthest from the hospital.

Overall, specialist eye services are heavily utilized by people with conditions that could be managed at the primary health care level. Barriers to accessing eye services were distance and gender, especially among the most vulnerable groups (young and the elderly). This suggests that eye care services could be integrated into primary health care services to lower barriers to essential eye care services whilst lowering pressure on the limited specialist services based at the secondary level.

The second objective was to develop, validate and evaluate a smartphone based diagnostic algorithm for use in School eye health programmes (Peek School Eye Health). In developing and validating the intervention the results on the performance of both the Snellen Tumbling-E card and the Peek Acuity test when performed by teachers was compared to a reference standard backlit EDTRS LogMAR visual acuity test chart when performed by trained ophthalmic workers.

To evaluate the intervention further, a cluster randomised controlled trial to compare the Peek SEH (comprising of Peek Acuity test, sight simulation referral cards, and short message service [SMS] reminders) with standard school screening care (Snellen Tumbling-E card and written referral), delivered by school teachers was conducted. From the findings in Chapter 3, the sensitivity was similar for the Peek test and the standard test (77% [95% CI 64·8–86·5] vs 75% [63·1–85·2]). Specificity was however lower for the Peek test than the standard test (91% [95% CI 89·3–92·1] vs 97·4% [96·6-98·1]). From these results it was determined that teachers could therefore use the Peek School Eye Health system (Peek SEH) to identify and refer children with visual impairment. In the RCT, visual impairment was identified in 531 (5%) of 10,579 children in the Peek group and 366 (4%) of 10,284 children in the standard care group. The proportion of pupils identified as having visual impairment who attended their hospital referral was evidently higher in the Peek group (285

[54%] of 531) than in the standard group (82 [22%] of 366; odds ratio 7.35 [95% CI 3.49– 15.47]; p<0.0001). We concluded that the Peek SEH using Peek Acuity can be effectively conducted by school teachers thereby leaving eye care workers to focus on providing specialised treatment.

There was concern over lower specificity and positive predictive value for Peek SEH than the standard system, which could result in more children being referred who were not subsequently found to have visual impairment and could overburden the health system with unnecessary referrals. Many of those without VI were noted to have an ocular condition, most frequently allergic eye disease, which is particularly common in this population and benefited from hospital referral for treatment. The findings demonstrated the potential of the Peek school eye health system enabling task shifting of identifying visual impairment to teachers and in improving uptake of eye services by school children.

The results of the trial were used to set up a region wide school screening program to screen all children in public primary schools in Trans Nzoia County. The process of scaling up (translating the trial into practice) was the third objective of the thesis. As described in Chapter 4, there are multiple factors that interact and must be considered before the scaleup of projects from research. These include, the context (social cultural political and technological), the actors (role of different stakeholders) and the process in each of the phases. A strong governance system with strong local leadership and commitment is needed to deliver and sustain the scale-up, and local participants should be engaged to be champions of the process. Defining stakeholders' roles and engaging them throughout the project cycle was found to be critical for acceptance, support, integration and sustainability. Integration of school screening activities into the broader health system with available and functional referral pathways, treatment and follow-up mechanisms are a prerequisite to ensure a complete closed-loop (identification and treatment) for the patient. Regular engagement of parents as key stakeholders through school and parents' forums was essential for acceptance and taking children for treatment and should be considered for similar projects. Other important stakeholders were Ministries of Health and Education who provided oversight, teachers, eye care workers and non-governmental organizations who provided funding financial and in-kind support as well as on the ground human resources. Through the collaborative process the school project screened over 168,820 children of which 6,696 (4.0%) had visual impairment and through continuous improvements and stakeholder involvement achieved 93% treatment coverage, up from 54% in the intervention described in Chapter 3.

Using the same principles used in the school eye heath system, a "Peek Community Screening App (Peek CS)" was developed and validated. Peek CS is a smartphone-based decision support algorithm that allows referral decisions by community volunteers (CVs) to be made precisely and reliably and was developed and validated through an extensive and iterative process. In line with the fourth objective of developing and validating algorithms for door to door community screening to identify and refer people with eye problems. In the validation (Chapter 5), CVs referral decisions using Peek CS were compared to those by an experienced Ophthalmic Clinical officer (OCO), the reference standard. The Sensitivity was 91.0%, (95% CI 87.7% - 93.7%) and Specificity was 78.1%, (95% CI 71.6% - 83.6%). The positive predictive value was 88.9%, (95% CI 85.3%-91.8%) and the negative predictive value was 81.8%, (95% CI 75.5%-87.1%). This suggests that trained community volunteers can effectively use the app to identify and refer people with eye problems. As part of the iterative design, we found that subjective questions in the algorithm were likely to cause the greatest variation in responses and hence affect the performance of the algorithm.

This app met the minimum predetermined criteria and was subsequently integrated into an mHealth system, Peek Community Eye Health system (Peek CEH) for vision screening in communities linked to primary eye care facilities. The effectiveness of the system, which was the fifth objective of the thesis, was evaluated in a cluster randomised trial in which the methods are described in Chapters 6 and the results in Chapter 7. A single masked cluster

randomised controlled trial was used to compare the Peek CEH (comprising Peek Community Screening app, short message service [SMS] reminders and real-time programme data), delivered by Community volunteers against current care (periodic health centre-based outreach clinics with onward referral). The primary outcome was the number of people per 10,000 population with confirmed eye conditions attending triage at primary care facilities.

Overall, 9,387/ 68,348 (13.7%) participants from the intervention group and 3,070/ 60,243 (5.1%) in the control group attended triage. The study found that Peek CES improved adherence to both triage and hospital attendance among people with eye problems in the community compared with the standard system. The mean attendance to triage by participants with eye problems was 5.2% in the control arm compared to 14.3% in the intervention arm, risk difference 9.1% (95%CI: 6.9-11.3%); p <0.00001. This effect of the intervention was found to differ by gender with a higher attendance rate among females than in males. The majority (76.1%) of beneficiaries were treated at the primary level and of those requiring referral for specialist hospital services only 13% (previously 61%) were for primary eye conditions and 56% (previously 8%) were for cataract, glaucoma and refractive errors. This shows that, by establishing primary eye care services and integrating these in to community based activities and secondary care services, governments can shift the management of some eye conditions to primary care facilities thereby leaving the secondary facilities to deal with only major cases instead of overburdening them with unnecessary referrals which can be managed at the PEC level.

The Peek Community Eye Health system increased primary care or hospital attendance for people with eye problems compared with the standard approach in communities. This indicates the potential of this technology package to improve uptake of eye services, create gender equity and guide task shifting of case identification to help target resources. This trial is the first mHealth intervention to support uptake of eye services and it provides evidence that integration of Peek School and Community eye health systems could increase access to eye care services, increase adherence to referrals and support more appropriate utilisation of services.

Reflections on the findings

The effectiveness of these mHealth interventions in improving the attendance adds to previous evidence of improved adherences to hospital appointments following mHealth interventions that supported communication between health care providers and patients through short messaging services (SMS).^{13,14} The success of our interventions were multifactorial. First, the interventions themselves but also because there was good collaboration between the leadership of the County Government, the hospital and the trust of the community in the health systems where they access eye services. In our study, acceptance and adoption by both participants and policy makers may have been contributed to by the previous exposure and success of M-Pesa, the mobile phone money transfer platform in Kenya. The acceptance of mobile technology, especially finance has increased mobile money transfer penetration to 61.8%.¹⁵ The trust by the community and their leaders in health workers has been built over time due to previous interactions and could have also contributed towards the success. Therefore, implementing future programs that replicate the findings demonstrated here may require building relationships and trust ahead of time and investing in managing the expectations of the community.

The trial demonstrated that non eye-care workers (teachers and community volunteers) using smartphone decision supported algorithms can correctly identify and refer patients with eye problems. The screening and identifications of people in the community is dependent on the interactions between the teachers and pupils; and the CVs with the community. They establish rapport before screening, then use the technology to aid in screening. The calibre and manner of screeners used in the programs is important, they need to be carefully selected before training is done. Screeners who were respected but not previously exposed to smartphone use took longer to train than those who were

previously exposed because they could navigate the phone Apps easily. We observed the local knowledge of volunteers and their interactions was essential in selecting a team that were respected and willing to learn. It is essential to invest in a local management team to manage the recruitment based on the set criteria.

Despite multiple reminders, only 54% of the school going children in the trial in Chapter 3 attended the hospital and only about 25% in the community trial attended hospital (Chapter 7), suggesting major barriers to adherence still exist. During the scaling up of the school eye health project in Chapter 4, the approach was changed from children travelling to hospitals to offering treatment near schools enabling management of non-complex issues and further referring just those that needed attending to in a hospital setting (e.g. surgical needs), the uptake from referral increased to 93% using this model. Also, during the community trial, attendance was higher for females at primary eye care centres than at the hospital. This seem to suggest that establishing primary eye care centres or providing services closer to the community rather than asking the population to attend the hospital for all eye related issues might be the key to improving access. The mHealth technology is a tool to supports people navigate the process efficiently rather than being the standalone solution of utilization. SMS reminders are important in communication between health workers and patients; however, we still don't know how many reminders should be sent before patients reaches SMS fatigue or determine that no action will be forthcoming. The mHealth system made it possible to identify the specific individuals and assess risk factors at a population level for those who were not accessing services, thus driving programme design towards reducing these barriers in a data driven manner as demonstrated in the scale-up of the school programme as well as planned initiatives to translate the community trial in to practice.

Strengths and Limitations

Strengths

This work has several overall strengths. To my knowledge, this thesis describes the first trials of interventions delivered through smartphone technology to support eye care. It was conducted in a low- and middle-income country where there is huge need for eye serves and few eye care workers, therefore the results have potential to be applied for public health benefit.

The trials were embedded in the schools and health system and therefore making the path to adoptions and scale up clear. The measure of the primary outcome (attendance) was objective and hence reduced risk measurement bias.

The studies included in the thesis were conducted in the same area, Trans Nzoia County therefore results from the baseline assessment of utilizations of eye services could be compared with outcome after the interventions.

Similarly, the trials involved a large sample size hence providing narrow confidence intervals around the outcomes. The enumeration of the target populations enabled direct comparison of the denominator (total possible population) and characteristics of the population including determinants of coverage and adherence.

Limitations

The work has limitations that have been discussed in the individual Chapters 2 -7. An overall limitation is the generalisability of this study to other setting due to the wide variation in health systems and regulations. The study population was representative of participants

seeking eye care, the prevalence of eye conditions and populations dynamics might be different in other locations therefore the process might have to be adapted for the settings.

The definition of visual impairment in this study is also a limitation — we used only distant visual acuity and did not assess near vision in school screening. There is agreement on the importance of assessment of near vison in children particularly when they are struggling with reading, because it could affect reading and learning.¹⁶ A study from Norway showed 4% of the children aged 7-15 years had hyperopia compared to 17% with myopia,¹⁷ suggesting that children with reading difficulties are left out and the magnitude of VI could be underestimated as well as missed in screening programmes that utilise only distance vision tests as per current global guidelines. This omission in most programs could be the focus of programs being medical, preventing amblyopia rather than educational, preventing learning difficulties,¹⁸ and also the current inadequacy of the near-point visual acuity measurements using the reading cards or charts.¹⁶

Another limitation of this thesis is the lack of a cost-effectiveness analysis for the community trial. The cost of delivering the intervention includes use of the platform, costs for messages, screeners time, devices (smartphones and computers), human resources, treatment and patients' cost of travel.

A cost-effectiveness analysis of Peek school eye health was undertaken as part of a master's project at LSHTM. A cost-utility analysis was performed using a decision analytical model which synthesized data from the school RCT in chapter 3 to compare the costs and effects of screening with Peek versus screening with Tumbling E. The outcomes were disability adjusted life years (DALYs) averted and costs were estimated from both a health service and a societal perspective. The results from the un published data showed that Peek SEH was cost-effective at twice the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) per capita of Kenya. Analysis was based on the benefits derived from refractive error without considering the those for other referred eye conditions (unpublished data MSc thesis 2015). Similar analysis is planned for the Peek CEH, where a sensitivity analysis will consider patient and

provider perspectives and uncertainties with respect to effectiveness. Information on the cost-effectiveness of the intervention is likely to be useful for governments, service providers and funders when considering implementation of such interventions.

There was low screening coverage specifically for the community RCT (chapter 7) because many participants were not found at home during house to house screening and thus suggests mixed modes of community screening may be required to cater for those who are at work, for example, work-based screening and screening clusters at community meeting points (e.g. churches) as well as offering multiple dates for screening (as opposed to the single opportunity available in the trial presented here) and screening on weekends or evenings after work.

Implications to practice

Findings from this thesis have potential implications for service delivery and have been described in Chapters 3, 4 and 7.

Overall, the findings from this trial and scale up process suggest that the intervention comprising active case finding, referral with reminder messages to attend hospital appointments could be delivered as demonstrated in the trials. It has also shown that it is feasible to introduce mHealth interventions in LMICs. The process of setting up similar intervention in school been has been described in Chapter 4 however, further adaptations and understanding the context is recommended prior to implementing similar interventions in other settings.

The adoption process may be slow and hence this finding will be shared with implementors (eye health workers), NGO partners and the key leaders at the ministries of Health and the County Governments. Specifically, the summary findings will be shared with stakeholders

during the deliberations of the national strategic planning meetings with a view to adoption and use in other areas of Kenya.

Evidence from this trial showed improved adherence hospital referrals and increased access and more appropriate utilization of eye services. The Ministry of Health could consider such interventions as routine practice to improve referral services, and utilization of eye care services in schools and especially in hard to reach populations. This could be facilitated by the fast-growing coverage, high penetration of smart phones and improved capabilities of the phones.¹⁹

The model is scalable provided other key elements being present such as capacity of the primary health system to handle extra referrals, the skill set of primary eye care workers to make a diagnosis, the accuracy of a screening tool in the specific setting and the resources to do so. Health care providers at primary health care facilities should be trained and equipped to provide these services. As described in Chapter 4, one scaling approach could be to increase resources or stagger the rate of screening to match the existing resources. If it were to be scaled in areas with low primary level skill set, an adapted outreach model can be used where secondary level health workers are deployed periodically in outreach at the primary level whilst concurrently providing training to permanent staff to transition from a secondary to primary outreach model to a feeder model from primary to secondary.

Before deciding on the approach to use in scaling up such interventions, it is important to first understand the eye health services situation in the country or region where the intervention will be implemented. This entails understanding the need through needs analysis, environmental analysis to identify potential risks, threats and opportunities that might affect the interventions implementation, stakeholder mapping to identify all the key stakeholders who should be informed or engaged in the process and comprehensive eye health service analysis.²⁰

This process can be done using various tools such as the eye care service assessment tool (ECSAT) which allows planners and decision makers to collect data and information on the provision of eye care at the country and district level with a focus on the six areas of the WHO framework for strengthening health systems;²¹ and identify gaps in the eye care provision in order to strengthen access to comprehensive, high quality and integrated eye care services. This tool also helps in the implementation of evidence-based interventions through periodic data collection which is useful in assessing the impact of interventions and identifying trends and emerging needs. It might be essential to identify the tasks that can be delegated to others leaving more complex tasks to health workers.

Despites the interventions improving adherence to hospital appointments, there is a potential for causing poor services from increased patient numbers seeking eye services with low number of eyes-health workers and lack of funds to cater for consequential extra management and treatment cost. The governments and partners may have to find innovative ways to raise extra funds to meet the new demand. This includes promoting health insurance or exploring non-monetary incentives to stimulating quality improvement in general eye practices and out-of-hours services provision. Service providers would need to consider the cost-implications of implementing the intervention, balanced against potential benefits such as increased uptake of eye services and the gain to the economy from avoided blind years and increased productivity.²² Although cost analysis were not part of the thesis it is an important element to be considered before adopting a program.

Implications for policy

The World Health Assembly has adopted a key resolution on Universal Health Coverage (UHC).²³ Member states commit to provide access to necessary health services for the whole population, "leaving no one behind".²⁴ The trials provide strong evidence of increased access to eye care, particularly for women and vulnerable groups, whilst making more appropriate use of limited eye care resources. Therefore, a change in policy to adopt

mHealth integration in to the health system as part of routine practise could contribute to UHC in Kenya. Routine health information collected by eye health facilities or hospital reports within the national or regional health information system can provide a data source to monitor progress towards UHC.²⁵ The findings in Chapter 2 of this thesis on the use routine hospital data to assess the utilization of eye services demonstrates the potential of using such routine data in assessing equity, planning and monitoring eye health services delivery.

These findings have far reaching implications for policy regarding planning the establishment of primary and secondary health care facilities in different locations based on utilization level and the subsequent proper and efficient management of established facilities in order to encourage health seeking behaviour of the population. Although the findings in Chapters 3 and 7 have shown that Peek is a scalable intervention, there is a need to have it included in national plans and strategies in order to maximize its impact in strengthening health systems for eye care provision. An example is policies or plans on task shifting, which should specify the task to be delegated. Further, alignment of the project goals and objectives with government policies is important as it enhances acceptability of the project and makes integration into mainstream government structure easier. For instance, aligning the Kenya Peek School Screening project with universal health coverage agenda,²³ and the National school eye health policy ²⁶ which is currently a priority for the Kenyan government.

Lastly, scaling up of mHealth interventions should be done in a stepwise manner to minimize the potential risks to the health system. These risks include availability of medication, capacity and readiness of hospitals to handle referrals and availability of human resources throughout the health system. It is also important to consider regulations and the policy on the role of hospitals in patient data sharing and securing their privacy which is guaranteed in the Kenya constitution.²⁷

Recommendations for further research

The results of the following research endeavour will be useful to further strengthen eye care services using Peek:

Analysis of existing research data

1. <u>Assessment of the Cost effectiveness of the Peek Community eye health system</u> (Peek CEH)

Aim to utilise the findings of the Peek CEH RCT to conduct a cost-effectiveness analysis of screening and referral using the intervention compared to the current care.

Methods A cost-utility analysis to compare the costs and effects of screening with Peek CEH versus screening current standard. The outcomes will be expressed in disability adjusted life years (DALYs) averted and costs estimated from both a health service and a societal perspective.

A sensitivity analysis will be conducted and a cost-effectiveness plane and a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve will be produced.

2. Pattern of Visual impairment

Objective: To assess the magnitude and causes of visual impairment and blindness among patients attending primary eye care centres.

Methods – Descriptive analysis of data already available from the community trial.

3. Assessment of barriers to assessing secondary services.

Objective: To investigate why about 76% of those referred for secondary services did not attend, despite weekly reminders.

Methods – qualitative study to explore the barriers and potential solutions. Interviews with those who did not attend (have barriers) and those who attended hospital (overcame barriers).

New study projects

4. <u>Investigate the effect of single message and multiple SMS reminders with additional</u> counselling on attendance to hospital

As described in Chapter 7 following potential contamination, it was observed that the first two messages seemed to have effect but subsequent ones have reduced effect. It was hypothesized that multiple SMS may have introduced some intervention fatigue to some participants and discouraged their compliance. A study could explore the potential for a single message vs multiple messages and bespoke counselling. Industry A/B testing methods could be deployed to test various message content and frequencies

Objective: To explore the effects of messages (notification and a reminders) and SMS reminder frequency on adherence to hospital referrals with additional of counselling at primary eye care.

Method: A factorial randomised controlled trial

5. Development and validations of smartphone-based algorithms to aid screening

There are multiple factors that affect the performance and acceptance of a smartphone guided screening algorithm, as described in Chapter 4, these include the objectively assessed inputs such as acuity and subjective assessments such as self-perception of vision loss or eye problems. The subjective assessment creates variability in accuracy and limits it use in other areas. Expansion of the algorithm to include more objective signs such as shape, size and colour of eye is hypothesised to increase identification of those with eye health morbidity.

Objective: to explore further development and refinement of Peek community screening app to improve its accuracy based on more objective signs and less subjective symptoms.

Methods: Validation study

6. <u>Development and validation of smartphone-based algorithms to aid in primary</u> health care workers in management of eye conditions.

The World Health Organization (WHO) developed and published clinical algorithms for primary health care (PHC) workers in Africa to assess patients with eye conditions,²⁸ the algorithms need to be digitalised and validated for smartphones. Some of the work was initiated as part of PhD but incomplete and could potentially be continued.

7. Routine assessment of community needs and utilization of eye services.

Currently utilised rapid survey methods provides estimates of the visual impairment related need in the population but not the proportion of populations utilizing eye health resources. It is hypothesised that incorporation of such indicators would critical data for health service planning.

Objective: Explore the potential of standardising the reporting of utilization of eye care services and incorporating such methods during assessments of the community eye health needs.

Conclusion

This study utilized robust methods to develop and evaluate whether community volunteers and teachers can effectively use a novel mobile phone-based technology (Peek) in communities and schools respectively, to identify people with referable eye conditions, referring those with eye problems for treatment and to also monitor adherence to services so as to reduce avoidable visual impairment in the population. The results provide strong evidence that integration of Peek mHealth interventions in to the health system can increase access to eye care services, particularly for the most vulnerable groups, whilst making more appropriate use of limited eye care resources. These findings have important implications for policy, practice and research in LMICs, where there is currently low access to services and a growing burden of visual impairment.

References

- Bastawrous A, Hennig BD. The global inverse care law: a distorted map of blindness. Br J Ophthalmol 2012; 96(10): 1357-8.
- World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014-2019. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.
- Gilbert CE, Shah SP, Jadoon MZ, et al. Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: results from the Pakistan national blindness and visual impairment survey. *Bmj* 2008; **336**(7634): 29-32.
- Syed A, Polack S, Eusebio C, et al. Predictors of attendance and barriers to cataract surgery in Kenya, Bangladesh and the Philippines. *Disabil Rehabil* 2013; **35**(19): 1660-7.
- Resnikoff S, Felch W, Gauthier TM, Spivey B. The number of ophthalmologists in practice and training worldwide: a growing gap despite more than 200,000 practitioners. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2012; **96**(6): 783-7.
- World Health Organization. Treat, Train, Retain: Task Shifting Global Recomendations and Guidelines. Geneva: WHO, 2008.
- Steer AC, Tikoduadua LV, Manalac EM, Colquhoun S, Carapetis JR, Maclennan C. Validation of an Integrated Management of Childhood Illness algorithm for managing common skin conditions in Fiji. *Bull World Health Organ* 2009; 87(3): 173-9.
- Timlin H, Butler L, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh Red Eye Diagnostic Algorithm. *Eye (London, England)* 2015; **29**(5): 619-24.
- Goudie C, Khan A, Lowe C, Wright M. The accuracy of the Edinburgh visual loss diagnostic algorithm. *Eye* 2015; 29: 1483-8.
- Free C, Phillips G, Watson L, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS Med* 2013; **10**(1): e1001363.
- 11. World Health Organization. mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth.; 2011; Geneva; 2011.

- 12. Aranda-Jan CB, Mohutsiwa-Dibe N, Loukanova S. Systematic review on what works, what does not work and why of implementation of mobile health (mHealth) projects in Africa. *BMC Public Health* 2014; **14**(1): 188.
- Pop-Eleches C, Thirumurthy H, Habyarimana JP, et al. Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: a randomized controlled trial of text message reminders. *Aids* 2011; 25(6): 825-34.
- Lester RT, Ritvo P, Mills EJ, et al. Effects of a mobile phone short message service on antiretroviral treatment adherence in Kenya (WelTel Kenya1): a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2010; **376**(9755): 1838-45.
- Communications Authority of Kenya. Annual Report for the Financial Year 2016-2017, 2017.
- Metsing IT, Hansraj R, Jacobs W, Nel EW. Review of school vision screening guidelines. 2018 2018; 77(1).
- Falkenberg HK, Langaas T, Svarverud E. Vision status of children aged 7–15 years referred from school vision screening in Norway during 2003–2013: a retrospective study. *BMC Ophthalmology* 2019; **19**(1): 180.
- Williams WR, Latif AHA, Hannington L, Watkins DR. Hyperopia and educational attainment in a primary school cohort. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 2005; **90**(2): 150.
- Bastawrous A, Hennig B, Livingston I. mHealth Possibilities in a Changing World. Distribution of Global Cell Phone Subscriptions. *Journal of Mobile Technology in Medicine* 2013; 2: 22-5.
- Mendelow AL. Association for Information Systems AIS Electronic Library (AISeL) Environmental Scanning-The Impact of the Stakeholder Concept. ICIS 1981 Proceedings 20; 1981; 1981.
- 21. World Health O. WHO | Eye Care Service Assessment Tool (ECSAT). 2018. https://www.who.int/blindness/publications/ecsat/en/#.XZecIOlpEsI.mendeley.

- 22. Reddy PA, Congdon N, MacKenzie G, et al. Effect of providing near glasses on productivity among rural Indian tea workers with presbyopia (PROSPER): a randomised trial. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018; **6**(9): e1019-e27.
- 23. World Health Organization. Making fair choices on the path to universal health coverage. Final report of the WHO Consultative Group on Equity and Universal Health Coverage. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2014.
- 24. Etienne C, Asamoa-Baah A. WHO The world health report-health systems financing: the path to universal coverage: World Health Organization; 2010.
- Ramke J, Zwi AB, Silva JC, et al. Evidence for national universal eye health plans.
 Bulletin of the World Health Organization 2018; 96(10): 695-704.
- 26. Government of Kenya. National School Health Policy. Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation and Ministry of Education. Nairobi: Republic of Kenya, 2009.
- 27. Government of Kenya. The Constitution of Kenya. Kenya; 2010. p. 191.
- 28. World Health Organization. Primary eye care training manual A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region.; 2018; 2018.

Appendices

Appendices

Appendix 1: List of people contributed to the work presented in this thesis

Person	Position	Contribution
Abraham Bwambok	Ophthalmic Clinical Officer	Provision of triage
Andrew Bastawrous	Senior Lecturer, LSHTM	PhD supervisor, field project funding, study design, analysis, write-up and review of manuscripts
Benard Simiyu	Lead Community health volunteer	coordination of community health volunteers, mapping out clusters, facilitating community entry by the screening team
Benedictor Milimu	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Billy Otieno	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Bridgit Nambuchi	Hospital Receptionist	Receiving of patients from triage and directing them in the hospital recording their details into capture
Caroline Rombosia	Field Support	Management of patients flow and order during triage
Centrine Wanyonyi	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Chemtai Kirui	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Cheruiyot Langat	Ophthalmic Clinical Officer	Provision of triage
Christopher Biko	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Cosmas Bunywera	Research coordinator,	Recruited field workers, coordinated field work, overall planning
Daisy Muyesu	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
David Macleod	Statistician, LSHTM	Data analysis and review of manuscript
Dennis Likalia	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Dorcas Simatwa	Records officer	Organizing of all research related records at hospital
Edwin Nyabuto	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial

Emmanuel Wanjala	Hospital medical superintendent	Research coordination and review of manuscripts
Everlyne Chepkorir	Office manager/ Data entry	office administration and data entry
Gavine Juma	Data entry and Book keeping	Data entry payment of field workers
Grace Mwangi	Ophthalmic Nurse	Coordinating the treatment team, proving treatment
Gyreth Muyuka	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Hellen Nyongesa	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
lan Kiprop	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Jane	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
John Shery	Technology support and data entry	Ensure smartphones are charged, and the screening apps are updated and configured. Training and support to screeners
Ken Juma	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Kennedy Nyabwondo	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
Kevin Kingi	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Kibet Korir	Ophthalmic Clinical Officer	Provision of triage
Komen William	Ophthalmic Nurse	Provision of triage
Lennox Juma	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Levin Mwania	Assistant Research coordinator	Coordinated field work, overall planning
Lily Kimetto	Optometrist	Refraction of school children
Lorna Tuitei	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Lydia Agesa	Teacher coordinator and screener	Planning, coordination of schools, data collection during school Screening
Margaret Opaa	Ophthalmic Nurse	Provision of triage
Mariam Wafula	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
MaryJuliet Khachesanga	Teacher coordinator	Liaison with ministry of education, Consenting in schools and data collection
Matthew Burton	Professor, LSHTM	PhD supervisor, project funding, study design, analysis, write-up and review of manuscripts

Maureen Mutende	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Mercy Miliza	Technology support and data entry	Ensure smartphones are charged, and the screening apps are updated and configured. Training and support to screeners
Mercy Tanui	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Mercy Wanyonyi	Ophthalmic Nurse	Provision of triage
Monica Nyambura	Optometrist	Refraction of participants in the community trial
Moureen Etyany	Optometrist	Refraction of school children
Nicholas Mageto	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
	Public Health Officer,	Coordinating training of community volunteers and
Nobert Musundi	Trans Nzoia County	Community extension Health workers
Nolega Amani	Field Support	Management of patients flow and order during Triage
Nyongesa Kizito	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
Phanice Temko	Ophthalmic Clinical Officer	Provision of triage
Protas Nyongesa	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Rodah Kipyegon	Ophthalmic Nurse	Provision of triage
Rodgers Okumu	Data Entry	Data entry
Rodgers Sitati	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
Ronald Mamboleo	Ophthalmic clinical officer, Research data collection	Reference standard, conducted treatment of all participants
Ruth Sikolia	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
Samuel Kuria	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
Sandra Chepchirchir	Field coordinator	Coordination of community enumeration and consenting, coordinator of data collection
Shadrack Chebet	Ophthalmic Clinical Officer	Treatment of study patients in the Hospital
Sheilah Achieng	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Silas Lumbasi	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial
Silas Lumbasi Stephen Gichuhi	Screener Senior Lecturer, University of Nairobi	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial Study design and review of manuscripts
Silas Lumbasi Stephen Gichuhi Susan Anyolo	Screener Senior Lecturer, University of Nairobi Teacher coordinator and screener	Data collection as a screener in the community screening Trial Study design and review of manuscripts Planning, coordination of schools, data collection during school Screening

Vincent Serem	Field coordinator	Coordination of community enumeration and
		consenting, coordinator of data collection
Wilberforce Nyukuri	Teacher screener	Data collection by screening school children
William Kemei	Ophthalmic Clinical	Treatment of study patients in the Hospital
	Officer	
Willy Bett	Community strategy	Providing insights to Community screening, and
	coordinator	contact with community units
Zipporah Wambulwa	Screener	Data collection as a screener in the community
		screening Trial

Ethical approvals

Appendix 2: Permissions to include the article Utilization of Secondary Eye

Care Services in Western Kenya

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Kristin.Xie" <kristin.xie@mdpi.com>

Subject: Re: Permissions to include the article "Utilization of Secondary Eye Care Services in Western Kenya" in my PhD thesis

Date: 23 September 2019 at 03:58:29 BST

To: HILLARY RONO <hkrono75@gmail.com>

Dear Dr. Rono,

Apologies for the late reply. You can reference your articles without additional permissions. **So, it is OK for you to use it as in the thesis**.

Best Regards,

Ms. Kristin Xie

Assistant Editor

On 2019/9/21 22:37, HILLARY RONO wrote:

Dear Kristine

I am the author of the above ref https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16183371. I would like to use this article as one of the chapters in the PHD thesis. I was checking whether I will need either permissions or it is OK for me to use it as in the thesis.

Regards

Hillary Rono
Appendix 3: Permission from co -authors for Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial

From: David Macleod <david.macleod@lshtm.ac.uk>
Subject: RE: Inclusion of the publication in PhD thesis
Date: 23 September 2019 at 10:16:42 BST
To: Hillary Rono <rono@peekvision.org>

Of course, no problem

Cheers Dave

From: Gian Luca Di Tanna <glditanna@gmail.com>Subject: Re: Inclusion of the publication in PhD thesisDate: 22 September 2019 at 23:55:36 BST

Sure! Good luck and keep us updated on how it goes!

Thanks, Gian Luca

From: Helen Weiss <Helen.Weiss@lshtm.ac.uk>
Subject: RE: Inclusion of the publication in PhD thesis
Date: 21 September 2019 at 16:27:37 BST
To: Matthew Burton <Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk>, wanjala emmanuel
<eswanjalah@yahoo.com>
Cc: Hillary Rono <rono@peekvision.org>, Andrew Bastawrous
<andrew@peekvision.org>, Gian Luca Di Tanna <glditanna@gmail.com>, David Macleod
<david.macleod@lshtm.ac.uk>

Yes of course - best of luck with the thesis!

From: Matthew Burton <Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk> Subject: Re: Inclusion of the publication in PhD thesis Date: 21 September 2019 at 16:19:40 BST Of course

Prof. Matthew Burton

From: wanjala emmanuel <eswanjalah@yahoo.com>
Subject: Re: Inclusion of the publication in PhD thesis
Date: 21 September 2019 at 16:08:13 BST
To: Hillary Rono <rono@peekvision.org>, Andrew Bastawrous

I'm in agreement that you process it towards the same ,thesis success.

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPhone

-----Original Message-----From: Hillary Rono <rono@peekvision.org> Sent: 21 September 2019 16:04 To: Andrew Bastawrous <andrew@peekvision.org>; Matthew Burton <Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk>; Gian Luca Di Tanna <glditanna@gmail.com>; Helen Weiss <Helen.Weiss@lshtm.ac.uk>; eswanjalah@yahoo.com; David Macleod <david.macleod@lshtm.ac.uk> Subject: Inclusion of the publication in PhD thesis

Dear co-authors,

I'm writing to see if you would be happy for me to use the article "Smartphone-based screening for visual impairment in Kenyan school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial" published by the Lance global Health in 2018 as a chapter of my PhD thesis.

Regard

Hillary Rono

Appendix 4: Permission for Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial

From: "customercare@copyright.com" <customercare@copyright.com> Subject: Case #00885247 - Permission to use the article as part of phD thesis [ref:_00D30oeGz._5000c1tqcZh:ref] Date: 25 September 2019 at 21:56:56 BST To: "hkrono75@gmail.com" <hkrono75@gmail.com>

Dear Hillary Rono,

Thank you for contacting Copyright Clearance Center (CCC). I sincerely apologize for the delayed reply. Here at CCC, **we grant copyright permission on behalf of publishers and rightsholders** who list their titles with us.

I see the article *Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial is covered under a creative commons license. You can view the terms by click on this link <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/??????</u>. If you do not believe this fits your need, you will want to contact Springer directly at <u>Journalpermissions@springernature.com</u>.*

I hope this is helpful. If you have any further questions please don't hesitate to contact a Customer Account Specialist at 855-239-3415 Monday-Friday, 24 hours/day.

Kind regards, Jessica LaFata Customer Account Specialist Copyright Clearance Center 222 Rosewood Drive Danvers, MA 01923 www.copyright.com Toll Free US +1.855.239.3415 International +1.978-646-2600 Facebook - Twitter - LinkedIn ------ Original Message ------From: HILLARY RONO [hkrono75@gmail.com] Sent: 9/19/2019 7:04 PM To: customercare@copyright.com

Subject: Permission to use the article as part of phD thesis

Dear Sir / madam,

I am the author of the artcilecle published bu the Trials "Peek Community Eye Health - mHealth system to increase access and efficiency of eye health services in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: study protocol for a cluster randomised controlled trial" by Hillary Rono, et al in the Trials volume 20, Article number: 502 (2019) . <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-019-3615-x</u>.

I am doing PHD by publication and would like to use this article as one of the chapters in the PHD. i look toward to your permissions

Rono

This message (including attachments) is confidential, unless marked otherwise. It is intended for the addressee(s) only. If you are not an intended recipient, please delete it without further distribution and reply to the sender that you have received the message in error.

ref:_00D30oeGz._5000c1tqcZh:ref

Appendix 5: Evidence of completion of Good Clinical Practice course (A)

and web-based course on Protecting Human Research Participants (B)

(A)



(B)



Appendix 6: Evidence of ethical approval in Kenyan for the Retrospective

analysis of utilization of eye.

1	THE WEAT AND I			
2	the second of the			
-	SA			
1 Martin	and the second second	INSTITUTIONAL	RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE (IRE	C)
P.O.P	EACHING AND REFE IOX 3	RILAL HOSPITAL	80	HOOL OF MEDICINE
ELDO Tet 7	RET MPUDD		EL	OORET
Rele	menoe: IREC/2	016/40	12	April, 2016
	and the second second		DISTITUTIONAL	
Dr. H	tillary Rono & 1 a District Mose	leam,	ETHORS COMMONTER	
P.0.	Box 98-30200	1.13 g	1 2 APR 2016	
KITA	LE-KENYA.		APPROV	
			The second Digo and Diger	
Dear	Dr. Rono & Te	am,	and a second sec	
RF: I		PPROVAL		
		A.L.LOWARDS		
The Ir	nstitutional Res	search and Ethics	Committee has reviewed your proposal titled:	
"Curr	rent Utilization	n of Eye Service	in Transzola County, Kenya".	
The p to cor	roposal has b mmence your i	een granted an E rivestigations.	pedited Approval on 12th April, 2016 and you a	are therefore permitted
Note this r Secre	that this appro esearch beyo stariat two mon	val is for 1 year; i nd the expiry da ths prior to the ex	will thus expire on 11 th April, 2017. If it is nece e, a request for continuation should be may iry date.	essary to continue with de in writing to IREC
You a must relate a final	are required to notify the Corr d to the condu i report at the e	submit progress mittee of any pro ct of the study, o end of the study.	report(s) regularly as dictated by your propo osal change (s) or amendment (s), serious or study termination for any reason. The Commit	sal. Furthermore, you unexpected outcomes the expects to receive
Singa	anha			
ROF.	E. WERE			
HAIR	MAN			
ISTIT	UTIONAL RE	SEARCH AND E	HICS COMMITTEE	
	CEO -	MTRH		
	Principal-	CHS		
	Dean -	SOM		
	Dean -	SON		

Appendix 7: Evidence of ethical approval from LSHTM for the Retrospective

_

analysis of utilization of eye.

Reppel Street, L United Kingdom Switchboard: + www.lshtm.ac.	of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine ondon WC1E 7HT 44 (0120 7636 8636 uk		LONDON SCHOOL of HYGIENE &TROPICAL MEDICINE
	Observational / Interventions I	lesearch Ribber Council	lee .
Dr Anderse Bestevense			
10 June 2010			
Deg Auders			
Mudy Title: Errosperti	re analysis of Eye Hespital Data in Kitale, Kenya		
LSHEM Biblio Ref. 1950	0		
Thank you for inspending	to the Osservational Competition's request for further information on the	show reports and sub-	alling writed documentation.
The forther information is	an been mentileered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair.		
Confirmation of ethical	egizien 1917 - Martin Barris, et al realization de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la comp	andra da Arrea	
the behalf of the Committe as revised, subject to the	ee, I am pleused to coolium a flerourable ethical apicion for the above res- randitions specified below.	earth in the hails beaut	ed in the application form, protocol and supporting docume
Conditions of the forest	rable column		
Contraction of the second			
Approval to dependent or	land ethical approval turing been revelend, where relevant,		
Approval is dependent of Approved documents	land official approval having basis revelout, where relevant,		
Approval is dependent or Approved documents The final list of document	and other approval having been revelend, where relevant,		
Approval in Appendiant or Approved documents The final list of document	land other approval lawing been revelend, where relevant,		
Approval in Aspendant or Approved documents The final list of document Document Type	incut ethical approved having been received, where relevant, or reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:	Date	Version
Approval in Arpendent or Approved documents The final last of document Document Type Investigator CV	incal ethical approval having been received, where relevant, is reviewed and approved by the Consultine is as follows: File Name Mathew Barton - CV - CEA	Date 0311/2014	Version 1
Approval in Approximation Approved documents The final list of document Document Type Incontiguous CV Inconsignous CV	I and ethical approval having been received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine is as follows: File Name Mathew Barton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2016	Date 0111/2014 01/02/2016	Varian 1 1
Ingressed in Reportant or Approved documents Dischool for of document Document Type Incontiguous CV Inconsignous CV	I and ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine is as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderse Bactoneous, JULY2014	Date 0111/2014 01/02/2016 01/02/2018	Varian 1 1 1
Ingressed in Augustant or Augusteed documents Dischool list of document Document Type Incontiguous CV Incontiguous CV Incontiguous CV Protocol / Proposal	I and ethical appreced barries been received, where relevant, in errieved and appreced by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Barton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderse Bartonson, JCLY2014 16.2, 7 Current utilizations of eye services 16.2, 7, JER	Date 0311/2014 01/03/2018 01/02/2018 00/02/2018	Varaina 1 1 1 1
Ingressed in Augustant or Augusteed documents Dischool list of document Decements Type Incontiguous CV Inconsignous CV Inconsignous CV Protected / Proposal Local Apprecial	I and ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderse Bactoneous, JCLY2014 16.2, 7 Current utilization, of eye services 16.2, 7 J48 approved_reserve utilization, of eye services in transmiss	Date 03/11/2014 01/03/2016 01/02/2016 01/02/2016 12/04/2016	Varaina 1 1 1 1 1
Ingreend in Augustant on Augusteed documents Die Beal lief of document Dermanent Type Incontiguese CV Incontiguese CV Protected / Proposal Local Apprecial Covering Letter	I and ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderse Bactoneous, JULY2014 16.2.7 Correct utilization of eye services 16.2.7 JHR approved_reserved utilization of eye services in transition LSHTM serposees 27.2.36.	Date 0111/2014 0102/2016 0102/2016 0102/2016 12/04/2016 21/05/2016	Vardan 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reposalant on Approved documents The back list of document Incomputer CV Incomputer CV Incomputer CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Governing Letter Covering Letter	I and etited approved having been received, elseverelevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Matthew Burton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderse Burtonscon, JCLY2014 16.2.7 Current utilizations of eye services 16.2.7 JHR approved_reserved utilizations of eye services in transactors LSHTM responses 27.5.16. London etilies, response 5.6.16	Date 03112/2014 01/03/2016 01/03/2016 03/03/2016 13/04/2016 21/05/2016 08/06/2016	Version
Approval in Separated on Approved documents The backlist of documents Decomputer CV Incomputer CV Incomputer CV Protected / Program Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter	I and ethical approved having been received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderew Bactons of eye services 16.2, 7, BR approved, recent utilizations of eye services 16.2, 7, BR approved, recent utilizations of eye services in taxonom LSHTM responses 27.3.16. London reliers response 8.6.16	Date 01/11/2014 01/02/2016 01/02/2016 12/04/2016 21/05/2016 08/26/2016	Vorsian 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reposalant on Approved documents The back last of documents Decomparison CV Incomparison CV Protocol / Program Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter	I and ethical approved having team revenent, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Committee to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, SEB _2006 CV_Andrew Bactone action, JULY2014 16.2, 7 Convent utilizations of eye services 16.2, 7, HR approved, reserve athibastion of eye services in tanonoma LSETIM responses 27.5.16. London ethics response 8.6.16	Date 01/11/2014 01/03/2016 01/03/2016 13/04/2016 21/05/2016 08/06/2016	Vorsian 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reposalant on Approved documents The back last of documents Decomparise CV Incomparise CV Incomparise CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter	I and efficiel approved having team revenent, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Committee to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, SEB _2006 CV _Anderse Bactoneson, J.CLY2014 16.2.7 Correct athlications of eye services 16.2.7 JHR approved_reserved talkantions of eye services in tanazation LSETIM empowers 27.5.16. London efficies response 8.6.16	Date 03/11/2014 01/03/2016 03/03/2016 12/04/2016 21/05/2016 08/06/2016	Version 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reposalant on Approved documents The back last of documents Discussion CV Incomputer CV Incomputer CV Protected / Program Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Obs/Timestigator (D uning on Automational for Disc Disc Discussion (D)	I and etitical approved having team revenent, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultion is as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2006 CV_Anderew Bactons of eye services 16.2, 7, JOR approved, reserve utilizations of eye services 16.2, 7, JOR (see delegate in response 16.16) (see delegate in response 16.16)	Date 03115/2014 03/05/2016 03/02/2016 12/04/2016 21/05/2016 21/05/2016 08/06/2016	Version 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reposalant on Approved documents The back last of documents Decomparise CV Incomparise CV Incomparise CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Online Approval Covering Letter The Online Approval Covering Letter Disc Online Approval Covering Letter The Online Approval Covering Letter The Online Approval Covering Letter The Online Approval Covering Letter	A social efficient approved having team revenient, where relevant, as reviewed and approved by the Committies is as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, SEB _2006 CV_Anderse Bactonesco, JULY2014 16.2.7 Correct athlications of eye services 16.2.7 JHR approved_reserved talkantions of eye services 16.2.7 JHR approved_reserved talkantions of eye services in tanazation LSETIM sequences 27.5.16. London efficies response 8.6.16 y or delegate is response 16.6.16	Date C3110/2014 C103/2016 C102/2016 C302/2016 C302/2016 C306/2016 C306/2016 C806/2016	Version 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reportation on Approved documents The back list of documents The back list of documents Decomposed CV Inconsignator CV Inconsignator CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Coversing Letter Coversing Letter The Oble Investigator (O milling on Americanous the The Oble Allowed Series	Take a set of the set	Date 0311/2014 0103/2016 03/02/2016 03/02/2016 12/04/2016 21/05/2016 08/06/2016 08/06/2016	Variant 1 </td
Approval in Reportation on Approved documents The back list of documents Decomposition CV Inconsignator CV Inconsignator CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Oblical review The Oblical review The Oblical review The Oblical sectors for The Clair dologate (s also by estimating a forward for the end of the study do all documentation form	I and ethical approval having team revenient, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2008 CV_Anders: Bactonson, JULY2014 16.2, 7 Correct influences, JULY2014 17.3, 6 Correct influences, JULY2014 18.2, 7 Correct influences, JULY2014 19.2, 7 Co	Date 0311/2014 0103/2016 03/02/2016 12/04/2016 27/05/2016 08/06/2016 08/06/2016	Version 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Approval in Reportation on Approved domainests The back list of documents Decemingnose CV Inconsignose CV Inconsignose CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Oxid (Inconsignose Co Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter The Oxid (Inconsignose Co Protocol / Inconsignose Co Protocol / Inconsignose Co Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering and Letter Covering Covering Cover Covering Covering Cover Covering Cover Cover Covering Cover Cover Covering Cover C	I and ethical approval having team revenient, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _2008 CV_Anders: Bactonecos, JULY2014 16.2, 7 Correct utilizations of eye services 16.2, 7 JHR approved_reserved utilizations of eye services in transactors LSRTM emposers 27.5.16. London ethics response 8.6.16 Ye delegate in response 8.6.16 Services density the ethics momittee of any potential relations and/or dense thread terms. ethics delegate music with the infinite of any potential relations and/or dense delegate music with the consultance of any potential relations and/or dense dense from threa.	Date 0311/2014 0103/2018 0302/2018 12/04/2018 23/05/2018 08/06/2018 08/06/2018	Varian 1 1 1
Approval in Reportant on Approved domanents The back list of domanents Decements Type Inconteptor CV Inconteptor CV Inconteptor CV Inconteptor CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Oxford Investigator (1) and the exit of the study of All doceneous of the Mill doceneous form Mill doceneous form	I and ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Methow Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _ 2016 CV_Anders: Bactonecos, JCLY2014 18.2, 7 Correct utilizations of eye services in teasactors LSETM emposers 27.5.16. London relieve response 8.6.16 Association of the service of any parameter devices allowed by response to the initiated tablese complete of writes theorement associates and the service of any parameter initiates and/or device thread tables. are available on the other collar applications without and can only be a available at several lattice, acady/whites	Date 0311/2014 0103/2018 0102/2018 12/04/2018 21/05/2018 08/06/2018	Variant 1 </td
Approval in Reportant on Approved domanents The back list of domanents Inconseptor CV Inconseptor CV Inconseptor CV Inconseptor CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Oxid Investigator (O Into Oxid Investigator (O Into Oxid Investigator (O Into Oxid Investigator (O Into oxid Approval In the oxid of the study of It is even of the study of It is even of the study of It is even of the study of It is a consectioned form Middlend urbreaction in Togen shoemity.	I and ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Methow Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _ 2016 CV_Anders: Bactonecos, JULY2014 18.2, 7 Correct utilizations of eye services in transactors LSETM emposers 27.5.16. London relieve response 8.6.16 Yes delegate in response 8.6.16 Associations of services and vertices descended respired to notify the ethics momittee of any particular interactions and/or deres: The delegate music with the initiated tables: energy of writes there and/or deres: The delegate music with the consultive of any particular interactions and/or deres: The delegate music write the initiated tables: energy of writes there and/or deres: The delegate music write the consultive of any particular interactions and/or deres: The initiated tables: a single section of the initiate interactions are available on the ethics colleas applications without and case only the available at several lation, acady/whites	Date 0311/2014 0103/2018 0102/2018 12/04/2018 21/05/2018 08/06/2018	Varian 1 1 1
Ingressed in Reportant on Approved domainersts Dischool list of documents Dischool list of documents Dischool list of documents Inconsignator CV Inconsignator CV Inconsignator CV Protocol / Proposal Local Apparent Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter Dischool Inconstitutes (CC Dischool Inconstitutes (CC Dischool Inconstitutes (CC Dischool of the study of All documents of form Middlened sufferenties (CC Dischool of the study of All documents of form Middlened sufferenties (CC Dischool of the study of All documents).	I and ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Methow Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _ 2016 CV_Anderse Bactonecos, JCLY2014 18.2, 7 Correct utilizations of eye services 16.2, 7 JFR approved_ reserved utilizations of eye services in transactors LSETIM emposers 27.5.16. London relievs response 8.6.16 Yes delegate in response 8.6.16 Associations of serve conject of vertices descended respired to notify the ethics momentates of any particulations and/or derre reliability on the thick consultance of any particulations and/or derre flows there.	Date 0311/2014 0103/2018 0102/2018 12/04/2018 21/05/2018 08/06/2018	Version 1 </td
Approval in Reportant on Approved domanents The heal last of domanents Inconseptor CV Inconseptor CV Inconseptor CV Inconseptor CV Protocol / Proposal Local Approval Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter Covering Letter The Oblical restingence (O using on Associations from the end of the study of All doceneotioned form Mill doceneotioned form Mill doceneotioned form Mill doceneotioned form Mill doceneotioned form	need ethical approval having team received, where relevant, in reviewed and approved by the Consultine to as follows: File Name Mathew Bacton - CV - CEA CV RONO, FEB _ 2016 CV_Anders: Bactonecos, //CLY2014 18.2.7 Current utilizations of eye services 16.2.7 JBR approved_ reserved utilizations of eye services in transactors LSETIM emposers 27.5.16. London relievs response 8.6.16 Association relievs response 8.6.16 Association of the statice consultance of any potential relations and/or derry design must write the initiated before reseip of vertices theorem the statices from these. are available on the other collar applications writedue and case only tens available at www.initia.acad.jwitten	Date 03112/2014 0103/2016 0102/2016 12/04/2016 21/05/2016 08/06/2016	Varian 1

Appendix 8: Evidence of ethical approval by LSHTM for the School Eye

Health study

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (0)20 7636 8636

www.lshtm.ac.ak



Observational / Interventions Research Obser Committee

Dr. Andrew Basterrens Classed Research Pellow Department of Classic Research (CRD) LINTM

7 January 2011

Deer Automa

Budy Titles Incertphone vision testing of school children in Transmite musty Kespec & randomized Convolled Trial

LINETH DATE AND DELL

Thank you for responding to the Internetional Committee's request for Kerber takemation on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been respiritered on behalf of the Committee by the Chain

The documents centerical score

Document Type	File Name	Date	Terries
Investigator (V	or prospirate, which, his traversite does	08/01/2014	10
investigator-31	en tamplata, ethics, Killana, does	38/18/3914	
investigator (N	Nathers Burton Drives CV-loce	38/18/2014	
lposser Later	Sponsor Letter (just Lpdf	0.012/2014	1.
Protocol / Proposal	Peak SICTERED A. PROTOCOL. does	84/63/3814	1.1
Information Theret	Peek, Kenya, School2, Jafe and concentations	01/12/2014	3.4
Covering Settion	Cover Lance Office Ref BITS	23/12/2014	1.
Protocol / Properal	President Engels, PEOTOCOL, VI.0	23/13/2014	2.0

Provincial estimates

The Chair would be context to give a ferometable whold opened of the research, subject to receiving a complete response to the request for further information set out below.

Further information or clarification required

There appears to be an information about local approval - please could pro provide this.

When submitting your response to the Committee, places submit a vertical ways of the application lowesthrough the others enland applications website <u>lowest Persistences</u>

Pieces for the charges and requested charifestom is a covering letter to the Connection. Piece used any reveal documentation, where appropriate <u>undefinition or otherwise highlighten</u> the charges to the application form. For further instructions, in the help section on the website, place refer to the section on Verritorial Approach - scheduling responses to guester caused by the connection".

Trans coverely.



Professor John Dil Porter Gastr

erleise (Fishen, an an Innet Convertiging, an and Sections)

Improving health worldwide

Appendix 9: Evidence of ethical approval in Kenya for the School Eye Health

study



INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE (IREC)

NOI TEACHING AND REFERENT HOSPITAL P.O. BOX 3 ELDORET Tek SIMTING Reference: IREC/2015/08 Approval Number: 0001359

Dr. Hillary Rono, Kitale District Hospital, P.O. Box 98-30200, KITALE-KENYA.



MOLÚNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE P.O. BOX 4665 ELDORET 23rd February, 2015

ſ	NS	ETT E	T	U H	TH IC	26 5 (ил 20	L F M	RE MI	58 T1	A	ILC E	н	8
1			1	2	3	F	Ð	B	2	01	5			
R	á	A Be	F	» 4	P	ji t	64 26		1 00		5. LD		k g	Ţ

Dear Dr. Rono,

RE: FORMAL APPROVAL

The Institutional Research and Ethics Committee has reviewed your research proposal titled:-

"Smartphone Vision Testing of School Children in Transzola County, Kenya: Randomized Controlled Trial."

Your proposal has been granted a Formal Approval Number: FAN: IREC 1359 on 23rd February, 2015. You are therefore permitted to begin your investigations.

Note that this approval is for 1 year; it will thus expire on 22nd February, 2016. If it is necessary to continue with this research beyond the expiry date, a request for continuation should be made in writing to IREC Secretariat two months prior to the expiry date.

You are required to submit progress report(s) regularly as dictated by your proposal. Furthermore, you must notify the Committee of any proposal change (s) or amendment (s), serious or unexpected outcomes related to the conduct of the study, or study termination for any reason. The Committee expects to receive a final report at the end of the study.

Sincerely,

PROF. E. WERE

INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

00	Director		MTRH	Dean	-	SOP	Dean		SOM
	Principal	-	CHS	Dean	-	SON	Dean	-	SOD

Appendix 10: Evidence for extension Kenya ethical approval for the School

Eye Health study



FACULTY OF HEALTHSCIENCES P.O. BOX 4696

ELDORET Tel: 33471/2/3 13th November, 2015

INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE (IREC) NORMANNESITY

MOTTEACHING AND REPERRAL HOSPITAL P.O. BOX 3 ELDORET Tel: 33471/20

Reference: IREC/2014/188 Approval Number: 0001258

Dr. Hillary Rono, Consultant and Eye Surgeon Kitale, School of Medicine, P.O. Box 98-30200, KITALE-KENYA.



RE: RATIFICATION OF THE DECISION TO GRANT CONTINUING APPROVAL

Please note that in the IREC meeting of 28th October, 2015 the full Committee did not ratify your continuing approval for study titled; "Smartphone Vision Testing of School Children in Kenya: Validity and Usability of Peek as Screening Tool in Transzola County, Kenya" However, after addressing the concerns raised by the Committee your continuing approval is now ratified. You may continue with your study.

Sincerely,

Dear Dr. Rono,

MS. CATHERINE OKWIRI HUMAN SUBJECT'S ADMINISTRATOR INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

Appendix 11: Evidence of communication with on the need for ethical

approval for the research paper on scaling up school screening using

smartphones

From: Ethics <ethics@lshtm.ac.uk> Subject: RE: ethical review for data Date: 14 June 2019 at 15:55:44 BST To: HILLARY RONO <hkrono75@gmail.com> Cc: "andrew.bastawrous@gmail.com" <andrew.bastawrous@gmail.com>, Matthew Burton <Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk>

Hi,

If the process is now outside of research conditions, and so is standard of care, **you won't need to submit for ethical approval** as the ethics committee currently only review research projects.

Just as a reminder, if the study has finished, and was originally reviewed by LSHTM, please submit your end of study form if you haven't done so already.

Best wishes, Rebecca

Ethics Admin | London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Room LG36, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, United Kingdom | E-mail: ethics@lshtm.ac.uk | Tel: +44 (0)20 7927 2221

LEO: LSHTM Ethics Online: http://leo.lshtm.ac.uk

-----Original Message-----From: HILLARY RONO <hkrono75@gmail.com> Sent: 12 June 2019 16:49 To: Ethics <ethics@lshtm.ac.uk> Cc: andrew.bastawrous@gmail.com; Matthew Burton <Matthew.Burton@lshtm.ac.uk> Subject: ethical review for data

Dear Rebecca,

We have been conducting a study on the use of smart phones to identify children / and other community members with eye problems and refer appropriately to health services. Following the completion of one of the studies, the ministry of health decided to scale up the intervention outside research conditions. I have been involved in the process and would like to report on the the process of this calling up. Would this require ethical review before we write and publish information on the process? Rono

Appendix 12: Evidence of ethical approval in Kenya for development and

validations of community algorithms



"Validation of Smart-Phone (Peek) Guided Primary Eye Care Algorithms in Transzola County, Kenya.

Your proposal has been granted a Formal Approval Number: FAN: IREC 1644 on 2rd June, 2016. You are therefore permitted to begin your investigations.

Note that this approval is for 1 year; it will thus expire on 1st June, 2017. If it is necessary to continue with this research beyond the expiry date, a request for continuation should be made in writing to IREC Secretariat two months prior to the expiry date.

You are required to submit progress report(s) regularly as dictated by your proposal. Furthermore, you must notify the Committee of any proposal change (s) or amendment (s), serious or unexpected outcomes related to the conduct of the study, or study termination for any reason. The Committee expects to receive a final report at the end of the study.

Sincerely

PROF. E. WERE CHAIRMAN INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

00	CEO Principal	-	MTRH CHS	Dean Dean	-	SOP SON	Dean Dean	SOM SOD
	Principal	-	CHS	Dean		SON	Celan	ouu

Appendix 13: Evidence of Extension of Kenyan approvals for the

development and validations of community algorithms



Dear Dr. Rono,

RE: CONTINUING APPROVAL

The Institutional Research and Ethics Committee has reviewed your request for continuing approval to your study titled:-

"Validation of Smart-Phone (Peek) Guided Primary Eye Care Algorithms in Trans Nzola County, Kenya ".

Your proposal has been granted a Continuing Approval with effect from 2nd June, 2017. You are therefore permitted to continue with your study.

Note that this approval is for 1 year; it will thus expire on 1st June, 2018. If it is necessary to continue with this research beyond the expiry date, a request for continuation should be made in writing to IREC Secretariat two months prior to the expiry date.

You are required to submit progress report(s) regularly as dictated by your proposal. Furthermore, you must notify the Committee of any proposal change (s) or amendment (s), serious or unexpected outcomes related to the conduct of the study, or study termination for any reason. The Committee expects to receive a final report at the end of the study.



Appendix 14: Evidence of ethical approvals by LSHTM for the development

and validations of community algorithms

London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Vepper Street, London WCSE 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (2020 7636 8636 LONDON SCHOOL HYGIENE ATROPICAL MEDICINE

www.lshim.ac.uk

Observational / Interventions Research Ethics Committee

Dr Anderse Bastaversei Literre

31 March 2016

Dear Andrew:

Study Title: Validation of must phone (Peek) guided primary eye care algorithms in Train Novis County. Keeys

LOTTH others perh 10008

Thank you for your application for the above research, which has now been considered by the Observational Committee.

Conferention of ethand spinore

On behalf of the Generative. I am pleased to confirm a feroarchie efficial opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation, subject to the conditions specified below.

Conditions of the favourable opinion

Approval to dependent on local ethical approval having been received, where relevant.

Approved documents

The final list of donaments reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version.
Investigator CV	Matthew Burton Ethics CV - Peek	25/03/2016	1
lavestigator CV	cv_template_ethics_ andrew	25/02/2016	1
lavestigator CV	cv_template_effairs_plase1 project_RONO	25/02/2016	1
Protocol / Proposal	26.2.16 Validation of peek community algorythms_HR	26/02/2016	1
Information Sheet	Information Sheet and Consent Form version 1.	26/02/2016	1
Protocol / Proposal	Validation of PerkSurrening & PerkTriage - Protocol v1 - 28FEB3016	2602/2016	1

After othical review

The third investigator [2] or delegate is responsible for informing the effort committee of any telescont changes to the application. These must be minutted to the Committee for review using an Amendment form. Amendments must not be minuted before receipt of written formandate optimin from the committee.

The G or delegate is dro required to notify the others committee of any protocol violations and/or tangented Damperted Decision Adverse Reactions (DDARs) which some during the project by relamiting a Serious Adverse Down form.

At the end of the study: the CI or delegate must notify the committee using an End of Study form.

All adversary to one or available on the ethors online applications whole and can only be minuted to the committee via the website at http://iec.inites.ac.ak

Additional information in available at www.lishtm.ac.uk/ethics

Your storrely.



Appendix 15: Evidence ethical approval in Kenya for the Community Eye

Health study

201 <u>0</u>	
(Fine)	
(TAT REAL)	(@))
Come of the second seco	
MU/MTRH-INSTITUTIONAL RESEARCH AN	ID ETHICS COMMITTEE (IREC)
P.O. BOX 1	COLLEGE OF HEALTH SCIENCES
ELCORET Tel 2367500	P.C. BOX 4606 ELDORET
Reference: IREC/2018/68	31#May, 2018
Approval Number: 0003025	NUTRINI C
	TTHESE COMPACT AND
Dr. Hillary Rono & Team	A de la de la de la dela de la dela de la dela de
P.O. Box 98-30200.	3 1 MAY 2013
ELDORET-KENYA.	APPROV
	O Box 4666 101 do BETWINSTOR
Dear Dr. Rono,	
RE: FORMAL APPROVAL	

The MU/MTRH- Institutional Research and Ethics Committee has reviewed your research proposal titled: -

"Community Screening and Referral for Eye Problems Using Smartphone Based Algorithms in Trans- Nzola County, Kenya: A Cluster Randomised Controlled Trial".

Your proposal has been granted a Formal Approval Number: FAN: IREC 3025 on 31# May, 2018. You are therefore permitted to begin your investigations.

Note that this approval is for 1 year; hence will expire on 30th May, 2019. If it is necessary to continue with this research beyond the expiry date, a request for continuation should be made in writing to IREC Secretariat two months prior to the expiry date. You will be required to submit progress report(s) on application for continuation, at the end of the study and any other times as may be recommended by the Committee.

Furthermore, you must notify the Committee of any proposal change (s) or amendment (s), serious or unexpected outcomes related to the conduct of the study, or study termination for any reason. You will also be required to seek further clearance from any other regulatory body/authority that may be appropriate and applicable to the conduct of this study.

Sincerely,				
9				
DR. S.NY	ABERA	_		
DEPUTY-	CHAIRMAN			
INSTITUT	ONAL RESEAR	ICH AND ETH	ICS COMMITTE	BE .

65	CEO	÷4.	MTRH	Dean		SOP	Dean	S. 1	SOM
	Principal	Ξ.	CHS	Dean	1.1	SON	Dean	-	SOD

Appendix 16: Evidence for ethical approval by LSHTM for the Community

Eye Health study

London School of Hygiane & Tropical Medicine Reppel Street, Loncon WCEE 3HT United Wagness Surfactioned: +44 (0):20 7630 (8036) www.holdon.ac.uk



(Processional / Interventions Research Place Committee

Di Hidlery Reso Linttei

9 May 2018

new Hilley,

Study Title: Community conversing and referral for eye problems using insurgious based algorithms in Trans Nation Genery: Xenyu. a clienter readomized read-

UNDS classed 1600

Thank you for your application for the above research, which has now been considered by the interventions Gonzartee.

Conferencies of etheral openess

On behalf of the Generatives 1 are pleased to resulters a farewarder educal opprane for the store research on the basis described in the applications lives, protocol and supporting documentation, subject to the conditions specified below.

Combines of the Levenschie opinion

Approval is dependent as local otheral approval having been received, where relevant,

Approved documents

The final left of doministic reviewed and approved by the Constitutes is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Others	ETHICS Centilicate of Completion	20/06/2054	version 1
Investigator CV	CV_Andrew Bastawross_September 2017	01:09/2017	1.1
08a	OCP_OCP Centform_rome	93/12/2017	1.1
Investigator CV	Matthew Burton - Short CV - 2018	28/02/2008	1.
inorigity CV	CV RONO_FEB_2018	06/03/2008	1.
Sadety Indocustion	peek acuity technical minimary	07/03/2018	1.1
Salety Information	User Requirement Specification	07/05/2018	1
Spointer Letter	2018 KEP-081_Sponsor conferention_16-03.18	16/05/2018	¥
Protocol Proposal	1. Protocol - v1 - 205LAS2008	20/05/2008	1
Protocol Proposal	3 Data collection form - v1 - 20MAR2018	20103/2014	10
Information Short	2. Participant Information and Consent Form - v1 - 20MAR2018	20/03/2008	1

After otheral review

The (their investigator (O)) or delegate to responsible for informing the effect constitute of any subsequent charges to the application. These must be estimated before receipt of written forwards/e options from the committee.

The CF or delegate is also required to astily the effect committee of any protocol volations and/or Suspected Serious Adverse Sections (SSARe) which over during the project by submitting a Section Adverse Section Section Adverse Section 2019

An annual report should be subsuited to the committee using an Annual Report form on the assertenary of the approval of the study during the lifetime of the study.

At the end of the study, the CL or delegate must notify the committee using as find of thuly form.

All advectored forms are available to the effort online applications solution and one only is calculated to the committee via the website all http://biolithim.acuk

Additional information is available at www.hitten.ac.uk/when

trees more la

Page 1 of 2

Appendix 17: Evidence for the registration of the school eye health trial in

the Pan African Clinical Trial Registry



Appendix 18: Evidence for the registration of the Community eye health trial

in the Pan African Clinical Trial Registry





23 July 2018

To Whom It May Concern:

RE: Community screening and referral for eye problems using smartphone based algorithms in Trans Nzoia County, Kenya: a cluster randomised controlled trial.

As project manager for the Pan African Clinical Trial Registry (<u>www.pactr.org</u>) database, it is my pleasure to inform you that your application to our registry has been accepted. Your unique identification number for the registry is **PACTR201807329096632**.

Please be advised that you are responsible for updating your trial, or for informing us of changes to your trial.

Additionally, please provide us with copies of your ethical clearance letters as we must have these on file (via email or post or by uploading online) at your earliest convenience if you have not already done so.

Please do not hesitate to contact us at +27 21 938 0835 or email epienaar@mrc.ac.za should you have any questions.

Yours faithfully,

Elizabeth D Pienaar <u>www.pactr.org</u> Project Manager +27 021 938 0835